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The title of the annual report describes how the Group executed its
strategy in 2021 in all dimensions:
In order to align with the strategy of “achieving success in premiumization”
for the second three-year period, the Group relied on its unique advantages, actively
embraced the new era of beer industry upgrade and category diversification,

S0 as to converge various industry trends and own advantages which
empowers the Group for further development. Meanwhile, the Group also strived to
strengthen itself by establishing a more robust brand portfolio with
both Chinese and international brands, successfully creating a premium key
customers platform and further enhancing its cost-effectiveness. The Group is well-
prepared to “convergence to strengthen” and “win at premium segment” during
the third three-year period to become the leader of the new world of beer industry.
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COMPANY PROFILE AND GROUP STRUCTURE
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CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY
LIMITED

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code:
00291.HK), is a beer listed subsidiary company of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH"). The Group focuses on the
manufacturing, sales and distribution of beer products. China
Resources Snow Breweries Limited (“CRSB”) is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. In 2019, the Group has completed
the transaction and commenced the strategic partnership with the
Heineken Group, the world’s second-largest brewer.

As a member of CRH, we are dedicated to leading the business
progress and building a better life together with our consumers,
shareholders, staff and business partners, and make the Group a
trusted and beloved beer enterprise.
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MAJOR EVENTS
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On 22 January, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, entered into the Joint Venture Agreement,
the Relocation Compensation Agreement and the Construction Agreement with the wholly-owned subsidiaries of
China Resources Land Limited (HKEX stock code: 01109.HK) to develop the land owned by China Resources Snow
Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. (At ESZEEE (h E) B R 7)) (“CR Snow”) in Baoan District, Shenzhen. The relevant
agreements were approved by a majority of shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting held on 29 March.
The construction of the CR Snow headquarters and CR Snow beer town was officially launched in August.

T8H26H » NARMERREEELIZRARA
A(DELERDSUARRZABERAR(TLURR
ZHBEDRUFERZE RN BRAFTITZIHIN -
FT10A278 ER BB L ERALFRZAE
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On 26 August, China Resources Wine Holdings Co.,
Ltd (4 EE L IZRRABR AR ("WH"), a subsidiary
of the Company, entered into an agreement with
Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu Co., Ltd. (LFES=ZHHBA
FR 22 R]) (“Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu”) and Shandong
Jingzhi Liquor Co., Ltd. (ILE=ZE K AR
2A]). The Group formally acquired a 40% equity
interest in Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu through WH by
injecting RMB1.3 billion on 27 October.

T11A198  BAEREHBARABEM - ARERK
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On 19 November, Hang Seng Indexes Company
Limited announced that the Company has been
selected as one of the constituent stocks in the
Hang Seng Index with effect from 6 December.
The re-introduction of the Company as a blue-chip
stock reflects the high recognition of the Group’s
business and the confidence in the Group's future
development prospects by the capital market.
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ﬁ-'n The Group pioneered the “Snow Road”, a §
unique characteristic of CRSB, to kick off g
the upgrade of the Group’s beer production *‘ff
B AEERKY [HEAEERATRRE | REBEHRE management and move towards the leader of
BIFF AR R REAL - B BB 88 Tl 7S K i Sy weie [ [Bes (proelieon, z
- HET SR R EEGERZW A [ EE :;;
BIREIFT S - |
The Group established the “CRSB Technology Research -
Institute” to focus on beer research, innovation
and transformation of technological achievements, -
integrates upstream and downstream enterprises on
the beer industrial chain and jointly develop a world-
class and international influential “Chinese Beer” 'z
technology innovation platform. ]ﬂ\:ﬂ}g
HirER EXTHED s
NEW PRODUCTS AND MAJOR MARKETING ACTIVITIES g
B AEFAT2021FHFEEHZTmBEERIE  2ABETRBMERIE [S®&/N2)R] AR Bemm [
ME KRG = [ BINREE |(#485HIRLT) » S| EPr @I [ 48 B  HF T 1085 ERrmE [ &t ] -
The Group continued to build and promote its
diversified brand portfolio in 2021. In February, the
carbonated beverage “Snow Xiao Pi Qi” with zero gg)g
alcohol was launched. In April, a super-premium ;fm;

new product, “Li”, and the first fruity beer product
“Lowen Fruit Beer” (#485 Rosé) were launched. The
international brand, “Amstel”, was introduced. In
October, the international brand “Edelweiss” was
introduced.
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The Group launched a number of marketing activities in 2021. In April, the second phrase of “Snow Hard Core Beer
Park” opened, continuing to build a distinctive landmark in Xi'an. In July, the “Snow Wan Mei Life Festival” was
launched in Hefei, Anhui, igniting a trendy destination in the city; the “Chengdu Snow Beer Carnival” was opened,
creating a well-known night-time economic event brand in Sichuan with over 100 million exposures. In September,
“The Second Snow Shenzhen International Beer Festival” was launched, creating a unique “Naughty Beer Carnival”.

68 " [EheRp - tREM] RN REKRRE 2 E AR
KZE 128 [EHCEBREF 20215 —FETFZRTLES -
EFESm LR T —RKY THES FZ RS Bh
PEBESRELLRE -

In June, the UEFA Euro 2020 brand experience campaign
“HEINEKEN® X UEFA Champions League” was launched
nationwide. In December, the first electronic music industry
summit 2021 “Heineken® Soundscape” was held, joining hands
with stakeholders in the electronic music industry chain to
establish the China Electronic Music Co-creation Alliance, helping
to develop high-quality beer business in China.

[EBE X EsuperX |« [EEDRETE ] [BIAM HEESHAK
FAC[BEXEsuperX | BHAXMEHEEL)  #Ha£3 [BHS
PRk JERA : BB [ RT3 [ARmE @ REEH 322
S MENMEERER - [SEBBEIXERE LT - UHEHEDS
IR E AT K o

The new endorsers for “Brave the World superX”, “SNOW
MARRSGREEN BEER” and “Léwen White Beer” were announced
successively. “Brave the World superX” has been title sponsored
the “Street Dance of China S4”, which conveys the gene of
“cool and challenge” continuously. The co-branding of “Brave
the World superX”and “JUEWEI" also conveyed the concept
of “flexible customization for you” and catered to individual
consumer needs. The new packaging of “Snow Brave the World”
was launched, embracing the new era of beer with a new
attitude.

HSEBE (IA%) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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In April, the Group was honored with “Outstanding
Contribution Award in Science and Technology Advancement
of China Alcoholic Drinks” by China Alcoholic Drinks

AZ5C | MAJOR EVENTS

Association at its forum of Special Award for Science and

Technology Advancement. In December, the project “Research and Application of Key Technologies for Beer Bottle
Design and Quality Assurance under Consumption Upgrade” passed the scientific and technological achievement
appraisal and was recognised as “International Advanced Level” by the China Alcoholic Drinks Association.

[EERUXHRBEIRFFERET [HEMME
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The “Snow Corporate Culture Construction” won
the “Responsible Brand Award”, the “Corporate
Social Responsibility Industry Model Award” and
the “2021 KNX X Awards — Best Practice in Talent
Development and Best Employer Award”, and
the “Outstanding Enterprise in Human Resources
Development and Quality Assurance Award” by the
China Human Resource Development Association as
well as the “Outstanding Corporate Culture of the
Year” by the China Corporate Citizenship Forum.
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The “Snow Breweries Learning and Innovation
Centre” was awarded the honorary certification,
“China Exemplary Enterprise University”, the “2020-
2021 China Talent Development Elite Award —
Benchmark Unit” and “Best Learning Project” by
Training Magazine, the “Best Practice of Learning and
Development (HRBP) in Greater China 2021 by HRoot,
and the “6th China Learning Design Competition Gold
Award” by Chinese Society for Talent Development
(CSTD).
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3 The Group was awarded the “Chinese

" Brand Annual Award — No.1 in Beer
£y ke Industry 2021" by World Brand Lab,

and ranked 28th in the “BrandZ™ Top
100 Most Valuable Chinese Brands
2021" by Kantar.
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MAJOR CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS
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In 2021, a total of four relocation, new construction
or upgrading projects were officially launched by
the Group, including the relocation and construction
of the Bengbu plant in Anhui and Liangshan plant
in Sichuan with an annual production capacity of
800,000 kilolitres and 400,000 kilolitres respectively,
upgrading of the Hangzhou Heineken plant with
an annual production capacity of 200,000 kilolitres
and the Qiannan plant in Guizhou for canned beer
production line with an annual production capacity of
200,000 kilolitres.

Htt XEH
OTHER MAJOR EVENTS
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In 2021, a total of three new projects were
officially signed, including the first-phase
construction of Jinan plant in Shandong with an
annual production capacity of 700,000 kilolitres,
the production line project in Hunan plant with
production capacity of 60,000 cans per hour and
the construction of the Xiamen plant in Fujian
Province with an annual production capacity of
400,000 kilolitres.

HOTEE T 105 FH 44 @I E AN T
BN O TR S E ER B EE -

The projects in Zhejiang were officially put in
operation, including the 100,000 kilolitres capacity
expansion project at the Jiashan plant and the
90,000 cans per hour production line project at the
Wenzhou plant.

B ERAES - TR - EEFH R - SRR

On 28 July, the Group held a kick-off
meeting for the “Meet at the Top”
premium key customers platform and
established a three-tier key customers
platform. This was a milestone event
in the Group’s channel strategy under
the guidance of the “premiumization
strategy” to meet the future needs of
premiumization development.

REAEFZ M [REFRH ARG E R E LR -

In October, the Group held an experience sharing session on
the implementation of the strategy of “Quality Development
for Success in Premium Segment”, which provided an in-depth
analysis of “the big change in the world, big era in China, big
trend in the State, big transformation in the industry, the new
world of beer industry, and Snow’s big strategy”, and put
forward the Group’s strategic goal of “becoming the leader of

the new world of beer industry”.

g (I %) B R 2 7 | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



In December, the Group held its first “Snow Day” event to
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On 7 December, the Group held the Snow Channel Partners
Convention 2021 named “Become a Trend to Achieve
Success in Premiumization”. The Group sent out again the
strongest message that it would continue to deeply empower
its channel partners and develop key customers with the
characteristics of CRSB, showing the infinite possibilities
of the Group’s future development in various dimensions.
In December, the Group also held its first suppliers’
conference to formally establish a star-rated suppliers’
system, empowering its suppliers and partners to assist in
premiumization development.

LA EE

s1apjoyaleys Ing o]

celebrate CRSB’s 28th birthday, helping to promote the cultural
recognition of employees and the achievement of its corporate
vision. In the same month, the CRSB Shared Operation Centre
was officially inaugurated, playing an important role in the
implementation of organizational restructure.

2R BFEBELh2AE  £BS
FENEH A B R B ITE B AE ™
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In December, an industrial conference
on the domestic barley for beer was
initiated by China Alcoholic Drinks
Association and convened by CRSB,
bringing together both upstream and
downstream enterprises, beer experts,
research institutes, universities and
senior media representatives to explore
the current status of the industry about
domestic barley for beer and the ways
to revitalize the industry.

N T IG5 AN K B S o R OE b 55 4B R R M FTHE S v B Wb 55
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In order to strengthen the Group’s organizational capability
and build up talents for the premium beer business, the Group
organized multi-level training programmes with fruitful results,
including the “Three Level Leaders”, the “Two Drive Wheels”,
the “Channel Magic Weapon” and the “Fire Pistol” projects.
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AWARDS AND RECOGNITION

3A | MARCH

MerComm, Inc.

MERCURY Excellence Awards
2020/2021

2019F F4R-FEMR KL ¢
R AL F R
Annual Report 2019 —
Overall Presentation:
Beverages -

Honors Winner

MERCURY

58 | MAY
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Corporate Governance Asia
2021FEELTMFE HSRERAXR
Asian ESG Awards 2021

Ml E RS
Asia’s Icon on

Loppoateliemani
»

x
x
Corporate Governance ASIANESGM:RD
N PN ¥
T e RER x¥
— 221~

B m Al
ESG Influencer
TN EERHAR

Asian Corporate Director Recognition Awards

(EHE) RE
Forbes

232000582 0k
Global 2000

%5 25186502
Ranked 1865th

6A | JUNE

(BB EF)RE
Institutional Investor
221FETHE AR EREANRE

2021 All-Asia Executive Team survey

KRR (KR EZMITI)

Most Honored Company

(Consumer Staples Sector)
REERIITE (BB HEEMITLE—SR)
Best CEO (First Place in

Consumer Staples Sector)
REERVWSE (BB HEMTLE—SR)
Best CFO (First Place in

Consumer Staples Sector)
RERTERREAR
(BBEBRITLE=R)

Best Investor Relations Professional
(Second Place in

Consumer Staples Sector)

HOFERE(ER)BR A A

4R | APRIL

SHENHE
National Business Daily
2021FRE Bk & 32
Golden Goblet Awards ‘ ‘
of China Liquor
Industry 2021 NBD
A
SAEREER ETA R
Listed Company with
the Best Return on Investment
HEFm-—SE4E
Star Product — Snow Draft Beer

BRAFHE  BHEREZFER
FHRPERLWHFRHP S

National Business Daily and
Tsinghua SEM China Business
Research Center
2021 EHAE

o b A E 85

2021 List of Chinese ‘ ‘

Listed Companies !‘I{B’E
by Brand Value i

BIETOP100
Top 100

S
Snowball

2021 & b Ak 15
2021 Gold Enterprise Ranking

RAEMETOPES
TOP Investment Value Ranking

nal
or
2021 ASlA
EXECUTIVE TEAM

BERAERRAA (LT HERITULE=S)
Best Investor Relations Professional

(Third Place in Consumer Staples Sector)
RERAEXRZBN (LB EERTLE—R)
Best Investor Relations Team

(First Place in Consumer Staples Sector)
RERAERRIEWTEERITLE—S)
Best Investor Relations Program

(First Place in Consumer Staples Sector)
RERR - £ RER

(BB HTRMITLE—S)

Best ESG (First Place in

Consumer Staples Sector)

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited

7R | JuLy

(BEHRE)RE
Fortune China

FE 50058 £ Ak
Fortune China 500

%515 3301L
Ranked 330th

8RA | AUGUST

MerComm, Inc.
EFRARCER KR
International Annual
Report Competition
(ARC) Awards

INTERNATIONAL
XXXV

MR —EE  AEE B -8R
Interior Design — Beer/Wine/Spirits — Gold
R 5 {F — & K 5 46 — R

Printing & Production — Manufacturing and
Distributing — Silver

MR I — & K% 5 55 — R

Interior Design — Manufacturing and
Distributing — Bronze
BERRA(ESEER) -8 maEn,/
RUBAR—EFEK

Overall Presentation (Traditional Format) —
Beer/Wine/Spirits — Honors

BRI (EFHER) —FlERsH—
L%

Overall Presentation (Traditional Format) —
Manufacturing and Distributing — Honors
HEE R &It - fhEks#H - HER
Cover Photo/Design — Manufacturing and
Distributing — Honors

XEEHETLEBSR

League of American Communications
Professionals LLC (LACP)
20205F iR H IR

2020 Vision Awards

Annual Report Competition

D LACP

HBER—RG IR REAR  AeR
Consumer Consumables — Food/Beverage/
Tobacco Category: Platinum Award

£ IRF R 10058 — 5011

Ranked 50th in Top 100 Worldwide Rank
A X S 47805% — 23z

Ranked 23rd in Regional Top 80 Rank (Asia-
Pacific Region)

X FIR5058

Top 50 Chinese Reports

HEMSRE —RE(LAKX)

Best Report Financials — Silver Award (Asia-
Pacific Region)



9R | SEPTEMBER

FERBEXRDS

Hong Kong Investor Relations Association

ELtREBRBEEXRAR
HKIRA 7th
Investor Relations Awards

BARRERTERRARAR — KBAR
Overall Best IR Company Awards

— Large Cap

ESGEMAR — RE R

Grand ESG Award - Large Cap
RIERRERRAR - KRR

Best IR Company — Large Cap
RERREXRR(BEHRTE) - KRER
Best IR by CEO — Large Cap
RERRERR(BEREVSE) - KRERK
Best IR by CFO - Large Cap

RIER R & FA — RELR

Best IR Team — Large Cap
RIERREXRE A —ALR

Best IRO (Investor Relations Officer)

— Large Cap

10A | OCTOBER

MerComm, Inc.
ElkxGalaxy2R IR [ A T
International Inx'#
Galaxy Awards gG :
FIRBE IR — 757 RAR R R
Design — Covers: Annual Reports

— Places/Products — Bronze

FIREDFI— R/ BERAFEFR
Annual Reports — Print: Food/
Packaged Good — Honors

128 | DECEMBER

CIEiM b B R &

Corporate Governance Asia

2021 EIEMH
HElRMERIHRR

LopporatebiE TN

. ¥y
Asian Excellence  zqANENCELLENCE
AWARD ¥ "y
e

Recognition
Awards 2021

TNREEFERTEREERR)
Asia’s Best CEO (Investor Relations)
TNEEERMSE(REEXRR)
Asia’s Best CFO (Investor Relations)
SERTERREW

Best Investor Relations Company
RENERER

Best Environmental Responsibility
RERRERRAR

Best Investor Relations Professional

[ira

IR Awards

REIIE - 12 RER(R) — RER
Best ESG (E) — Large Cap

RERR  t2 RER (L) - RER
Best ESG (S) — Large Cap

RERR - L2 RER(ER) — RER
Best ESG (G) — Large Cap
RERRESW - KRER

Best Investor Meeting — Large Cap
RIER A ERFHEN MR — KRELRR
Best Investor Presentation Material

— Large Cap

RIEFR—RERR

Best Annual Report — Large Cap
RIERFERRSFR — KRER

5 years IR Awards Winning Company
— Large Cap

118 | NOVEMBER

Cam730)CTE i 2% 3% ) /LB R 3 A% )
am730, PR Asia and IFENG

HK STOCKS
ARHEHAR
X322021

Listed Company
Excellence
Awards 2021

A ETRAAR

Listed Company Excellence Awards

IR Magazine

IR Magazine#2Ifi —202 15 KR4 X
IR Magazine Awards
- Greater China 2021

S varmer
Dreamet Crwia 0

—
REBMRAZERRFAR (KRB M)

Best Overall Investor Relations
(Large Cap)

RERAERFARAR(RE R

Best Investor Relations Officer (Large Cap)

RERRERRZAR | HREM
Best in Sector: Consumer Staples

4

B5% | AWARDS AND RECOGNITION

CIMEE )

Asiamoney

2021F T il |\ £ F H A BTk
Asia’s Outstanding
Companies Poll 2021

EEREHFMITIL ETRA]
Most Outstanding Company in Hong
Kong — Consumer Staples Sector

(BF—RARE

Economic Digest
2021FEEERHET A
Hong Kong Outstanding Listed
Enterprises 2021

W L E# 202

708 HE A ol
Outstanding Beer Enterprise Award

(sRIR)

The Mirror
BAERHEMHSHRER
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

BEZZT-—F+-HA=+—HIFE | For the year ended 31 December 2021
ElE BEEXERTF
Turnover Basic earnings per share
(ARM A 7t RMB million) (ARMIT RMB)

‘20 2020
\q

gﬂw

-’—-r

P KZU_ZD 2019
"'-- lp-'in— ——

_

31,448 33,190 0.65 0.40

—E_—F —FFF —E-hF

2021 2020 2019

ARTPEAT ART BT ART BT

RMB million RMB million RMB million

AR Turnover 31,448 33,190
NN BB 5R N 5 s Profit attributable to
shareholders of the

Company 2,094 1,312

FRERZF Basic earnings per share RMBO0.65 RMB0.40

BRRE Dividend per share

— 1 Hf — interim RMBO0.128 RMBO0.120

— R H8 — final RMBO.131 RMBO0.045

RMBO0.259 RMBO.165

HOFERE(ER)BR A A

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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BHEZT-—F+-H=+—HILFE | For the year ended 31 December 2021
ARTFRERN SR
Equity attributable to shareholders ESiRE~SE: KEE
of the Company Net assets per share: book value

(ARME B 7t RMB million)

o)

&, _i_, ‘ r'

2020

(221
p

2019

—

- = '~

(AR T RMB)

. 2020 2019 |

e T s T R ﬁ-qirﬁger- - '-qﬁtﬁfiar .

24,432 21,217 19,670 7.53 6.54
FoE=2—_—% FTZFE=FTF FTZF-NF
+=A=+-B +=A=+-8 +=A=+—~
As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December
2021 2020 2019
ARBEATR ARMBATT ARMBATT
RMB million RMB million RMB million
AR ARG IR B A e Equity attributable to
shareholders of the
Company 21,217 19,670
JEFE HI AR RN ZR Non-controlling interests 57 57
B E Total equity 21,274 19,727
SAEU L BE Consolidated net cash' 4,614 1,897
(71 bk 22 Gearing ratio? %Y 4 Net Cash %Il & Net Cash
ot & Current ratio 0.68 0.49
BRYA T 2E - Net assets per share:
—KEE(ARTIT)? — book value (RMB)? 6.54 6.06
BE - Notes:
1. FEUE BTIBELEE ﬁ MELENYREHR 1. Consolidated net cash represents consolidated total of cash and cash
HIRITEE %/WLA,T & BB ° equivalents and pledged bank deposits minus consolidated total loans.
2. AL RIBREERPI S BN F] - 2. Gearing ratio represents the ratio of consolidated net borrowings to total
equity.
3 BRAF2E-KEEDAERRFREIN SN 3. Net assets per share — book value is calculated by dividing equity attributable
=BRAFRN B ZITRODBBITE - to shareholders of the Company by the number of issued shares at the end of

the year.
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BVHRRTHESRBDIAEF DR
ANALYSIS OF TURNOVER AND EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXATION

BHEZT=-—F+=-FA=1+—HILFE | For the year ended 31 December 2021

E9BMZRITFIBRMAIRF S
FoWMzELTSLE Earnings before interest and
Turnover proportion by segment taxation proportion by segment

M ZX[X Eastern region M F[X Central region M EX Southern region

!-.-l._

! ""*‘

'BHEKT FH#L‘! MKH'A'EAT BEER I ~

e Bl LR e i u| B | W8N e dmaa b e

ALOE R (2% ) AR A 8 | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

—E-—% —TE=TF #ENORD)
2021 2020 Increased/
ARBERART ARMBAT (Decreased)
EoMzE LG Turnover by segment RMB million RMB million %
RX Eastern region 16,369 5.2%
A X Central region 7,887 6.6%
X Southern region 8,352 8.5%
32,608 6.4%

MDA 2R Z Elimination of inter-segment
transactions (1,160) 12.3%
B Total 31,448 6.2%
—E_—5 ZEZFF B 0RD)
2021 2020 Increased/
Wz ERITRE Earnings before interest ARBBERART ARTBEAT (Decreased)
BT and taxation by segment RMB million RMB million %
RX Eastern region 1,134 199.4%
X Central region 757 56.8%
BX Southern region 1,312 11.8%
3,203 88.9%
UNGIPER=IE 32 D= Net corporate expenses (124) (53.2%)
B& Total 3,079 94.6%

| g :
L B T
L 1-.’ _d_u_l -I._.b_
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Ak 55 [B] B
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™ 33,387,000,0007C * L FEK6.2% °
AERAF-E-_—FMARRKREN G
GFEBMERTAERBIA&ZF - 12
FHR EF1191% K 94.6% = AR M
4,587,000,0007T & A R15,991,000,000
-

R —F BEREEMZAENRIKE
EZEF-NFRERKTE - A BIBEX
EREEmYENER S _SFER
55 BEAMZEINMRERS - RERAD
MZAEZRIAKEH H X F 45l 6 [A)
NIOAZEEBERENE W » ANEH—
T FEABEEHER-_F_TFTF
0.4%Z#911,056,000 F F ' IHFE KX
T mEREBRARITHNZE—NFHH
LE o MISTL A2 R RE -

FRMFER @ Zam T AEFFEHERR
6 15 i B RS SR Hb - SEE RS = im i B B R
HHEHRRBEFFEEIR - EBRUNRFIRR
BRE - Fhmbs (XHEHFL)M
X-partyE LR EMME MEBEHED
GEEEESH SEamE  —F = —
FREE R SR E 41,866,000 T
T R-E-TFHEK27.8%  TmEN
TER o HEFh - [BBXEsuperX] »
[Ehe] [ERAE N [SEIREE
NEE | 1% Y AL B8 K o B ER 7~ @
EMWRAN  AEHATF_FE=-—F T #
FRLENHE D~ @mHONBETTEE R
B EBAEHHENBRZZEZZF L
6.6% ' AHUBRM B KB EWRMN#E £k
Mk EHHERRN AN R F2F
T FBEEMNRR-_E-_FF LFH0S8
NEPRE392% ° B T - —FXK
HREFNR-_ZE-_ZFTFLHA83I%EARM
13,074,000,0007T © &FIgE B FTIRt ©

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The Group’'s consolidated turnover in 2021 was
RMB33,387,000,000, which increased by 6.2% year-on-year.
The Group’s consolidated profit attributable to the Company’s
shareholders and earnings before interest and taxation in
2021 increased by 119.1% and 94.6% year-on-year to
RMB4,587,000,000 and RMB5,991,000,000 respectively.

In 2021, the overall beer market capacity has not yet resumed to
the pre-pandemic level in 2019. Nonetheless, the impact of the
pandemic on China’s beer market has been easing as compared
with that in 2020. The beer market is in a state of recovery. The
Group's overall beer sales volume was generally flat year-on-
year in 2021, decreased by 0.4% to approximately 11,056,000
kilolitres as compared with 2020, due to shrinking market
capacity of mainstream segments, as well as the recurrence of
the pandemic in some regions in certain period of time. The
percentage change in the sales volume of the Group in 2021, as
compared with 2019 before pandemic, was in line with that of
overall industry situation.

During the year under review, the Group benefited from the
continuous promotion of its premiumization strategy, improving
and enriching the sales team for premium segment and promoting
the establishment of key customers platform, and the launch of
various thematic promotion and channel marketing activities such
as the UEFA Euro 2020, the UEFA Champions League, product
tastings, “Street Dance of China S4” and brand campaign event
“X-party” which cultivated and promoted various signature
brands continuously. As a result, the sales volume of the sub-
premium beer segment and above reached approximately
1,866,000 kilolitres in 2021, representing an increase of 27.8%
compared with 2020 with a significant improvement in the
product mix. Among the brands, “Brave the World SuperX”,
“Heineken®”, “Snow Draft Beer” and “SNOW MARRSGREEN
BEER” all recorded a double-digit growth year-on-year. Due to
the above-mentioned product mix upgrade coupled with the
moderate price adjustment of certain products of the Group
in the second half of 2021, the overall average selling price
increased by 6.6% as compared with 2020, which offset the
impact of the increase in average costs of sales due to the price
rose of raw materials and packaging materials. Overall gross profit
margin increased by 0.8 percentage points to 39.2% in 2021 as
compared with 2020. Meanwhile, the overall gross profit in 2021
increased by 8.3% to RMB13,074,000,000 compared with 2020,
resulting in an improvement in profitability.

48 (2% ) B 2 7 | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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Pursuant to the Relocation Compensation Agreement dated 22
January 2021 entered into between Shenzhen Runtou Consulting
Co., Ltd. CR I T EH & & 18 B BR 22 &), China Resources Snow
Breweries (Chma) Investment Co., Ltd. (&£ @ ZSEEE(H EH)
& & B PR A &) and China Resources Snow Breweries (China)
Co., Ltd. (L HEEEE(FRE)BRA an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, the mitial compensation
gain on transfer of the land owned by the Group amounted
to approximately RMB1,755,000,000 (corresponding after-
tax income of approximately RMB1,316,000,000), which
led other income and gains in 2021 increased by 110.0% to
RMB3,543,000,000 as compared with 2020.

During the year under review, the selling and distribution
expenses of the Group in 2021 increased by 10.1% as compared
with 2020, mainly due to the increase in marketing expenses
and labour costs. In addition, the Group’s impairment loss on
fixed asset and one-off employee compensation and settlement
expenses in relation to plant closure in 2021 recorded a decrease
in 48.3% to approximately RMB387,000,000 as compared with
2020. Administrative and other expenses in 2021 decreased by
18.1% compared with 2020.

The Group continued to build and promote its diversified brand
portfolio by launching a number of new brands in 2021, including
the super-premium product “Li”, the premium product “Léwen
Fruit Beer” (#485 Rosé), the carbonated beverage “Snow Xiao
Pi Qi” as well as the introduction of the international brands
“Amstel” and “Edelweiss”, to further enrich the Group’s product
portfolio and support its premiumization development.

The Group has continued with its deployment of production
capacity optimization and ceased operation of 5 breweries during
the year under review. At the end of 2021, the Group operated 65
breweries in 24 provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions
in Mainland China, with an aggregate annual production capacity
of approximately 18,200,000 kilolitres.

In respect of expanding its non-beer business, the Group, through
its wholly-owned subsidiary, acquired a 40% equity interest in
Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu Co., Ltd. (UFARSZHEBEHBRLF]) by
injecting RMB1,300,000,000 on 27 October 2021.

Looking ahead, despite the uncertainty associated with the
ongoing pandemic, the Group will be well-prepared to actively
respond to the pandemic recurrence at certain regions. In
response to the rising prices of raw materials and packaging
materials, the Group will continue to closely monitor the market

—EF - —4&F 3R | Annual Report 2021
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dynamics of domestic and foreign raw materials and packaging
materials, and replenish stocks reasonably at appropriate times
and implement staggered peak procurement to mitigate the
pressure of rising prices. The Group will adhere to its strategic
management philosophy of “Quality Development for Success in
Premium Segment”, planning to launch various new products in
2022, including “Snow Draft Pure Malt Beer” and “Heineken®
0.0", to enrich product diversity and address different consumer
needs. In addition, in response to the business development of
competitors in bars and bistros, the Group will actively explore
the expansion of its bistro business and develop new marketing
channels for beer products. At the same time, the Group will
continue to effectively strengthen the promotion and channel
marketing of its domestic and international brands, promote the
implementation of business initiatives such as the four standards
of talent selection, manufacturing excellence, upgrading
informatization, operational reforms and marketing digitization
to enhance the Group’s competitive position. The Group will also
continue to pay attention to the development opportunities for
appropriate non-beer alcoholic beverages in the pursuit of well-
defined diversified development to explore potential synergies
and further expand its business.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
CAPITAL AND FUNDING

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s consolidated net cash
amounted to RMB5,396,000,000. The Group had no borrowings
as at 31 December 2021.

The Group was in a net cash position as at 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020.

The Group's principal assets, liabilities, revenue and payments
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and US dollars.
As at 31 December 2021, 0.5% of the Group’s cash and bank
deposit balance was held in Hong Kong dollars, 97.5% in
Renminbi and 2.0% in US dollars.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s current liabilities and
current ratio were RMB21,170,000,000 and 0.75, respectively.
The current liabilities included receipts in advance on sales and
accruals on promotion and marketing expenses, majority of these
amounts would be offset by trade receivables or be realised
through sale discounts in the future, with no significant net
cash outflow in short run. Taking into account the gearing ratio,
historical and expected future cash flows from operations and
unutilised available banking facilities of the Group, management
expected the Group has adequate resources to meet its liabilities
and commitment as and when they fall due and to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

48 (2% ) B 2 7 | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, assets with a carrying value of
RMB20,000,000 were pledged for construction in progress and
notes payable (31 December 2020: RMB76,000,000 were pledged
for notes payable).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2021.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES
AND ANY RELATED HEDGES

The Group collects substantially all of its revenue in RMB and most
of the Group’s expenditures, including expenditure incurred in its
operations as well as capital expenditure, are also denominated in
RMB.

The Group’s business transactions were mainly carried out in HKD
and RMB. The Group's exposure to currency risk was attributable
to the bank balances and debts which were denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the Company
to which these bank balances and debts were related. The
management regularly monitors the relevant foreign currency
exposure and will consider taking appropriate measures to control
the risk arising from significant exchange fluctuations.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE YEAR

There are no significant subsequent events occurred that
materially affect the Group’s financial condition or operation after
31 December 2021 and up to the date of this Annual Report.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a staff size of around
25,000, amongst which more than 99% were employed in the
Mainland China, whilst the rest were mainly in Hong Kong.
The staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) of the Group
was approximately RMB5,692,000,000 for the year ended
31 December 2021. Remuneration packages are assessed in
accordance with the nature of job duties, individual performance
and market trends with built-in merit components, paid in the
form of cash bonuses.

By order of the Board
HOU XIAOHAI
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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RAEA EMEX 2 ®
GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION OF BREWERIES

ania L o E e e R e BN AT R B deanith e 2021

FFERe '
ANNUAL PRODUCTION T

CAPACITY

. ey -
%. 'a'f:'ih i

[ -
» 1 d 1 s : ceased operation‘and

:F}I. KL 4 determined by managerﬁen

to be closed

I'B¥HE rB#¥H
FS Provinces/ No. of Fs Provinces/ No. of
No. # ™ Cities breweries No. # Cities breweries
1. EBxIT Heilongjiang 3 13, #7L Zhejiang 5
2. EHM Jilin 1 14. % Guangdong /A
3. I7F Liaoning 8 15. Hunan 2
4. RE Tianjin 1 16. =M Guizhou 3
5. JAdb Hebei 2 17. @)l Sichuan 8
6. P Shanxi 1 18.  FaiE Tibet 1
7. W% Shandong 3 19. HiE Gansu 1
8. I Jiangsu 4 200 WERH Inner Mongolia 2
9. L& Shanghai 1 21, TFE Ningxia 1
10. ZH& Anhui 5 22.  PBxF Shaanxi 1
1. A Henan 3 23. I/ Guangxi 1
12, S#dt Hubei 3 24.  BE Hainan 1

BEEWE BEH
TOTAL NUMBER
OF BREWERIES IN
OPERATION

69

AN SE (A% ) AR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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RAEXR
INVESTOR RELATIONS

In 2021, the Group was included as a constituent stock in
the Hang Seng Index by Hang Seng Indexes Company Limited
with effect from 6 December 2021. The re-introduction of the
Company as a blue-chip stock demonstrates the confidence in the
Group’s business and future development plans by capital market.

During the year under review, the continuing COVID-19 outbreak has
increased uncertainties to the global economic environment. Investors
paid more attention to the timeliness and the extent of corporate
information disclosure, hoping to quickly recognise the impact of the
pandemic on corporate business in order to better understand the
corresponding corporate’s initiatives. Adhering to the principle of
sincere and transparent investor relations management, the Group has
actively engaged and communicated with shareholders and investors
via a diverse range of channels. The Group strived to uphold high-
quality corporate governance and a high level of transparency to
ensure the capital markets stay informed about its latest developments
and future development plans. The Group has welcomed the valuable
views of shareholders and investors to further enhance its operating
performance, create more business development opportunities and
bring a better return for shareholders.

In 2021, in response to the changing pandemic situation, the
Group held over 150 meetings with more than 3,000 fund
managers and analysts mainly through teleconferences and
online meetings, and arranged teleconferences and live streamed
financial results presentations so as to maintain high-level
and high-quality communication with investors which further
strengthened their confidence levels in the Group’s prospects.

During the year under review, the Company continued to earn
recognition from capital market for its work on corporate
governance and investor relations management with various
authoritative awards from reputable institutions. These included
“Most Honored Company”, “Best CEO (first place)”, "Best
Investor Relations Team (first place)”, “Best Investor Relations
Program (first place)”, “Best ESG (first place)” in the consumer
staples sectors in Asia with eight awards in total as part of the All-
Asia Executive Team survey by Institutional Investor. The Company
also received the “Best Overall Investor Relations (Large Cap)”,
“Best in Sector: Consumer Staples” and “Best Investor Relations
Officer (Large Cap)” in the Greater China IR Magazine Awards
from IR Magazine. The Hong Kong Investor Relations Association
has awarded the Company with a total of 14 accolades such
as “Overall Best IR Company Awards”, “Grand ESG Award”,
“Best IR by CEQO”, “Best IR Company”, “Best IR Team” in the
category of large capitalization company. Meanwhile, Corporate

—EF - —4&F 3R | Annual Report 2021
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Governance Asia recognised the Company as “Asia’s lcon on
Corporate Governance”, “ESG Influencer” and “Asian Corporate
Director Recognition Awards”. Furthermore, the Company was
again commended with multiple international awards for its high-
quality annual report. The Company was awarded with 1 Gold, 1
Silver, 1 Bronze and 3 Honors awards in the “International Annual
Report Competition (ARC) Awards” by MerComm, Inc. Looking to
the future, the Group will maintain its momentum and enhance
shareholders’ value in the long run to promote the healthy
development of the Group.

SHARE PERFORMANCE

In 2021, a variety of external factors dealt a heavy blow to the
Hong Kong stock market. The Group paid close attention to
the pandemic developments and the policy directions while
continuing to review and adjust operational strategies to minimize
the impact on the business performance. On 8 January 2021, the
Company's stock price reached a record high of HK$75.40 with
total market capitalization climbing up to around HK$250.00
billion. Amid volatile market conditions, the Company’s share
price has maintained a relatively stable performance. The share
price of the Company on 31 December 2021 at the day’s close
was HK$63.85, outperforming the Hang Seng Index. Total market
capitalization was HK$207.14 billion as of 31 December 2021.

DIVIDEND PAYOUT RATIO

The Group is committed to enhancing the long-term value of
the Group as well as achieving sustainable business growth
and improving its profitability in recognition of the unwavering
support by shareholders. According to the dividend policy of the
Company, the annual dividend to be distributed by the Company
to shareholders shall be no less than 20% of the Group's profit
attributable to shareholders in any financial year under normal
circumstances. In proposing any dividend payout, the board of
directors shall also take into account the Group’s actual and
expected financial performance, shareholders’ interest, general
business conditions and strategies, the Group’s expected working
capital requirements and future expansion plans, possible effects
on the Group’s creditworthiness, general economic conditions,
business cycle of the Group’s businesses and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business or
financial performance and position of the Company as well as
other factors that the board of directors deems appropriate.

The total dividend of the Company reached RMB0.566 per share,
representing an increase of 118.5% year-on-year, implying a
dividend payout ratio of 40% in 2021. Moving forward, the
Company will make every effort to maintain a respectable
dividend payout level while preserving its healthy financial
position to provide shareholders with reasonable long-term
investment returns.

48 (2% ) B 2 7 | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

MITES
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

=ZF%%E | Mr. Hou Xiaohai

NER+T=% Aged 53
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has been appointed as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company in April 2016. He also acts as directors of a number of subsidiaries of
the Company. He was appointed as a director of CRH (Beer) Limited in May 2019,
which is a controlling shareholder of the Company. He was appointed as general
manager of China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. in March 2016 and
was the director of its sales and marketing departments from December 2001 to
December 2007. He was appointed as a director of China Resources Enterprise,
Limited from May 2018 to September 2021, which is a controlling shareholder
of the Company, and also as a director and a member of strategy committee of
Shanxi Xinghuacun Fen Wine Factory Co., Ltd. (whose shares are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange) from September 2018 to October 2021, respectively.
He was appointed as general manager and assistant general manager (also a
general manager of its distribution headquarter) of the branch of China Resources
Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. in Guizhou Province and a general manager
of its branch in Sichuan Province from January 2009 to February 2016. Mr. Hou
has a Bachelor of Statistics Degree from the Renmin University of China. He has
previously worked in Shougang Corporation, Gallup Poll and Pepsico. Mr. Hou
joined China Resources Group in 2001.

HSERE (FA%) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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FASR ST | Mr. Wei Qiang

WNERATS Aged 52
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has been appointed as Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company in November 2021. He also acts as director of a number of subsidiaries
of the Company. He has worked for China Resources Snow Breweries (China)
Co., Ltd. for more than 20 years and was the finance director of China Resources
Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. from May 2021 to December 2021. He has
served as the assistant general manager, general manager and deputy general
manager of the finance department, and deputy general manager of development
department of China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. from January
2002 to April 2021, respectively. Mr. Wei boasts extensive experience in beer and

fast-moving consumer goods business management. Mr. Wei also has extensive
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experience in financial management, investment, and merger and acquisition with

comprehensive knowledge of accounting standards in China and overseas. Mr. Wei

holds a Bachelor’s degree in Accounting and Economics from Shenyang University
of Finance and Economics. Mr. Wei holds the qualification certificates of a certified
public accountant of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a
registered tax agent of the Chinese Institute of Certified Tax Agents, and a certified

management accountant of the Institute of Management Accountants of the

SEEh

United States. He is also a senior non-practising member of the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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ERITESE
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

BL iS4 | Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank

IERTF Aged 60
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has been re-designated from an Executive Director to a Non-executive Director
of the Company since June 2016. He was an Executive Director and the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company between June 2009 and May 2016, and the
Company Secretary between August 2009 and May 2016. Mr. Lai was previously
the Executive Director, Non-executive Director, Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of China Resources Microelectronics Limited. Prior to that, he
served as the Chief Financial Officer of Eagle Brand Holdings Ltd. (now known
as Nam Cheong Limited), which is a company listed on the Singapore Exchange
and before then, he served as the Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
of Logic International Holdings Ltd. (now known as China Resources Gas Group
Limited). He was appointed as Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive
Officer of Dah Chong Hong Holdings Limited, which is a member of CITIC Limited,
in June 2016 and became its Chief Executive Officer in March 2017. Mr. Lai
obtained a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Western Australia
and a Graduate Diploma in Business and Administration from the Curtin University
of Technology of Western Australia. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of CPA Australia.

48 (%) AR 2 7 | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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Richard Raymond Weissend %t 4 |
Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend

IERT% Aged 60
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has been appointed as a Non-executive Director of the Company since 26 June 2020.
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Mr. Weissend is the Managing Director and Chairman of the board of directors of
Heineken Management (Shanghai) Co. Ltd (“Heineken Management China"), which

provides support to the Company and its subsidiaries in premium brand building,
marketing communication and activation, trade marketing and production. Mr.
Weissend is also a Director on the boards of CRH (Beer) Limited, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, and China Resources Snow Breweries Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. Heineken Management China is a subsidiary of
Heineken N.V., which holds an indirect 40% interest in CRH (Beer) Limited.

SEEh

Mr. Weissend has been appointed as Managing Director of Heineken Management
China since July 2019. He joined Heineken Spain as Vice-President in 2007 and
took over as Chief Executive Officer of Heineken Spain from July 2008 to June
2019. He was also the President of the Spanish Brewers Association from March
2014 to March 2019. From 2001 to 2006, he was Managing Director of Brasseries
Heineken (now Heineken Enterprise), a subsidiary of Heineken France and

Sjuawajelg jeroueuly

distributor of the International and National Group brands. He was sales director of
Heineken France in 1998 and was promoted to commercial director and member of
the management team of Heineken France in 2000.

Mr. Weissend graduated in Marketing and Commercial Strategy from the
Strasbourg Business School.
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5k FFF L+t | Ms. Zhang Kaiyu
NERAT=% Aged 53
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has been appointed as Non-executive Director in November 2021. She joined
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in March 2011, serving as the deputy
general manager of its strategic management department, mainly in charge of
strategic management for technological industry, and comprehensive healthcare
business. Since 2016, she has been serving as a director and concurrently a
member of the China Committee of Genesis Care Pty Limited, a member of the
Investment Committee of China Resources Verlinvest Health Investment Limited,
and a director of Nativus Company Limited. Prior to March 2011, Ms. Zhang
worked as a director of global strategy and financial director of the Asia Pacific
of Valspar Corporation, the United States, and the chief financial officer and an
executive director of its wholly-owned subsidiary. She also worked as a commercial
director of Indochina Peninsula and an executive director of the Thailand
headquarter of Reckitt Benckiser Group, a senior financial planning manager
of PepsiCo International Limited in Asia Pacific Region (China) and financial
controller of PepsiCo in Guangzhou. Ms. Zhang has nearly 30 years of experience
in management, leading research on corporate global strategy, national strategy
for emerging markets, formulation of regional operational strategy, business
development and resources allocation over regions, planning and establishing
globalized management consultation platform, localized corporate governance
and proposal, and design of corporate structure, etc. Ms. Zhang holds a MBA
degree jointly awarded by Sasin Graduate Institute of Business Administration
of Chulalongkorn University in Thailand and Kellogg School of Management of
Northwestern University in the United States, and a Bachelor of Science degree
from Sun Yat-sen University in China.

4 E R (A% ) BB A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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BEFI7E 54 | Mr. Tang Liging

HERTY Aged 60
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has been appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company in November
2021. He joined China Resources C'estbon Beverage (China) Company Limited
("CR C'estbon Beverage”) in October 1996 until October 2021. During the same
period, he served as the deputy general manager and the human resources director

s1apjoyaleys Ing o]

of CR C’estbon Beverage, the finance director of China Resources Beverage
(Holdings) Company Limited, and the finance director of C'estbon Food & Beverage
(Shenzhen) Company Limited. Mr. Tang is familiar with fast-moving consumer
goods business and has over 25 years of experience in finance, accounting
and human resources. Mr. Tang holds an Executive MBA degree from Dongbei
University of Finance and Economics.

WUFRITTES
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
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HATHAE | Mr. Houang Tai Ninh

PERTN\E Aged 68
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SEEh

has been a Director of the Company since 1988. He was a Director and Chairman
of Sino Resources and Energy Holdings Limited, Sino Petrochem Development
Limited, Sino Mining Investments Limited and a Director of China & Overseas
Resources Limited. Mr. Houang obtained his Bachelor of Business Studies degree
from the Polytechnic of North Staffordshire, United Kingdom.

Sjuawajelg jeroueuly
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Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric FHKICPA, GBS, OBE, JP

WNERFTNS Aged 68
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has been a Director of the Company since March 2003. He is Honorary Chairman of
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited and member of the Thirteenth National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. Dr. Li was the Senior
Partner of Li, Tang, Chen & Co., Certified Public Accountants (Practising) and
former member of the Legislative Council of the Hong Kong SAR. He holds
directorships in a number of listed companies including Sun Hung Kai Properties
Limited, SmarTone Telecommunications Holdings Limited, Transport International
Holdings Limited and Wong's International Holdings Limited. Dr. Li was a Director
of Bison Finance Group Limited (formerly known as RoadShow Holdings Limited)
and Hang Seng Bank Limited.

MEEBLTASHHE SENES  KFEEEHE  ATLHL
Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses GBM, GBS, OBE, JP
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has been a Director of the Company since November 2005. Dr. Cheng is a
practicing solicitor and a consultant of Messrs. P.C. Woo & Co. after serving as
its senior partner from 1994 to 2015. Dr. Cheng was a member of the Legislative
Council of Hong Kong. He is the founder chairman of the Hong Kong Institute
of Directors of which he is now the Honorary President and Chairman Emeritus.
Dr. Cheng currently holds directorships in K. Wah International Holdings Limited,
China Mobile Limited, Towngas Smart Energy Company Limited (formerly known
as Towngas China Company Limited), Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited,
Guangdong Investment Limited, Tian An China Investments Company Limited and
The Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited, all being listed companies in
Hong Kong. He was a non-executive director of Kader Holdings Company Limited
and the chairman of the Insurance Authority.

48 (%) AR 2 7 | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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BRERBLEARLHHE  SLHEE AFHL |
Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan GBmMm, GBS, JP

NER++E2 Aged 57
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has been a Director of the Company since November 2006. He is the Executive
Director and President of Asia Financial Holdings Limited (being a listed company in
Hong Kong) and the Executive Director and Chairman of Asia Insurance Company
Limited. He acts as an Advisor of Bangkok Bank (China) Company Limited. Apart from
the roles in the business community, Mr. Chan serves as a Hong Kong Deputy to The
National People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of China and the Convenor of the
Non-official Members of the Executive Council of the Hong Kong SAR. He is a former
member of the Legislative Council of the Hong Kong SAR. Mr. Chan is the Chairman
of Hong Kong Palace Museum Limited, the Hong Kong-Thailand Business Council and
Tai Kwun Culture & Arts Company Limited. He also serves as the Chairperson of The
Hong Kong Council of Social Service. In addition, Mr. Chan holds directorship in Chen
Hsong Holdings Limited, Yau Lee Holdings Limited and Cathay Pacific Airways Limited
(all being listed companies in Hong Kong) and Bumrungrad Hospital Public Company
Limited (being a listed company in Thailand).
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RO ESEHEE  AFHL |
Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon GBS, JP

PEE+77% Aged 76
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has been a Director of the Company since November 2006. He had been a career
civil servant for over 36 years before retiring from the civil service in 2002. Mr. Siu

rose to the rank of Secretary, Government Secretariat in 1993 and served a number
of high ranking government positions, namely the Secretary for Economic Services,
Secretary for Transport, Head of Central Policy Unit and eventually retired from
his last posting as Secretary for Planning, Environment & Lands. Mr. Siu was an
Independent Non-executive Director of Television Broadcasts Limited and Transport
International Holdings Limited.
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ZFZ 4 | Mr. Li i
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has been a Vice-President of the Company since December 202 1. He also acts as a
deputy general manager of China Resources Wine Holdings Co., Ltd.*, a subsidiary
of the Company. He joined the Group in 1993 as technician and manager of
technical department of Shenyang brewery, and served high ranking positions in
various subsidiaries of the Company, including but not limited to the Vice general
manager of China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd., general manager
of its production center, assistant general manager of China Resources Snow
Breweries (China) Investment Co., Ltd., general manager of its production center,
assistant general manager of China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Investment
Co., Ltd. and general manager of its production center, general manager of its
production center security management department, and general manager of
its production center environment protection management department, etc.. He
has extensive experience in beer brewery. Mr. Li holds a Bachelor of Microbiology
Degree from Liaoning University.
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has been a Vice-President of the Company since December 202 1. He also acts as a

general manager of China Resources Snow Breweries (Liaoning District) Company,

and deputy general manager of China Resources Wine Holdings Co., Ltd.*, both
are subsidiaries of the Company. He joined the Group in 2002 as manager of
finance department of China Resources Snow Breweries (Changchun) Co., Ltd.*,
and served high ranking positions in various subsidiaries of the Company, including
but not limited to deputy general manager and assistant general manager of China
Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd., general manager of China Resources
Snow Breweries (Tianjin District) Company, etc.. He has extensive experience in
marketing and financial management. Mr. Liu holds a Bachelor of Accounting
Degree from Jilin College of Finance and Trade.

L %4 | Mr. Zeng Shenping
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has been a Vice-President of the Company since December 2021. He also acts as
deputy general manager of China Resources Wine Holdings Co., Ltd.*, a subsidiary

of the Company. He joined the Group in 2000 as manager of the brand center
of China Resources Snow Breweries (Anhui District) Company, and served high
ranking positions in various subsidiaries of the Company, including but not limited
to deputy general manager of China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd.,
assistant general manager of China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd.
and general manager of its marketing center, etc.. He has extensive experience in
marketing and investment & acquisition. Mr. Zeng holds an Executive Master of
Business Administration Degree from Renmin University of China.

* For identification purposes only
* RE$GRAZ BB
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MANAGEMENT PHILOSOPHY

The Board is committed to achieving excellence in corporate
governance and believes that good corporate governance leads to
the long-term success of the Group’s business. The Group values
its Code of Conduct, corporate policies and regulations, which
serves as the basis for its corporate governance. Compliance with
the national policies as well as the laws and regulations should
be the focus and goal in the business operation of the Group to
protect the Company’s interests. The Group will continuously
review its governance practices and keep on improving in
accordance with the latest regulatory requirements.

The Board believes that risk management is an integral part
of corporate governance. Effective and efficient corporate risk
management will facilitate the Group’s business development and
operation by setting the appropriate risk appetite, maintaining
acceptable risk level and more importantly, proactively responding
to risks. It therefore helps to protect shareholder value and
safeguard the Group's reputation. Through putting in place
proper risk management process over the Group’s business and
carrying out regular reviews and updates, the Group strives
to reduce the likelihood and the impact of risks before they
occur, and deal with problems effectively when they arise.
While the Group’s risk management is the responsibility of every
management team member and is embedded in the business
planning and daily operation of the Group’s business, the Group's
risk management process is based on a decentralized model
with a centralized monitoring system. The Group's strategy is
to maintain a streamlined risk management process to identify,
analyze and mitigate various risks in an efficient and effective
manner.

RISK STRATEGY AND APPETITE

The Group adheres to a robust and prudent operation strategy.
The Group believes that achieving strategic and business
objectives comes with moderate risks. The risks involved must
be consistent with the Group’s strategies and capabilities, be
fully identified and effectively managed, and will not violate
the Group’s core values and social responsibilities. The Group
must also avoid incidents such as serious violations of national
regulations, major quality or safety accidents, create adverse
social impacts, any damage to the Group and brand reputation,
and major financial losses or business interruptions. In this regard,
the Group will continue to pursue a balanced development of
efficiency, quality and scale, emphasizing conformity between
business development and risk-taking.

HSERE (FA%) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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Based on our risk tolerances and identified significant risks,
the Group’s management has adopted different strategies to
manage risks including risk reduction, transfer and avoidance.
In accordance with the strategies adopted, the effective risk
management measures will be formulated to analyze the key
causes of risk, establish appropriate risk monitoring indicators if
necessary, conduct continuous monitoring, and ensure the timely
detection of major risk events and adoption of effective risk
mitigation measures.

RISK GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group's risk management structure is based on the
“three lines of defense” model, which clarifies the roles and
responsibilities of management, business units and functional
departments on risk management. The first line of defense
consists of business units and functional departments at all levels,
responsible for daily risk management, including participation
in risk assessment of the Group, development of risk mitigation
measures and monitoring procedures; the second line of
defense consists of risk management function, responsible for
organizing, promoting and coordinating the risk management,
and monitoring the Group’s major and potential risks; the third
line of defense consists of the Group’s internal audit function,
responsible for risk management supervision and inspection,
internal assurance activities, assessment of internal risk
management and monitoring.

=AM EES
ULTIMATE Board of Directors

RESPONSIBILITY

~

NEMEITRERFRER S

F=E% ; :
THE 3rd LINE ] Internal Audit Function
OF DEFENSE f and Audit Committee
it | R BRI
THE 2nd LINE Risk Management Function
OF DEFENSE
% B Rl S5 H A FNEREE SR

Business Units and Functional
Departments at All Levels

THE 1st LINE |
OF DEFENSE

—EF - —4%&F 3R | Annual Report 2021

HEwL£¥

dnolg ay| 1noqy

LA EE

s1apjoyaleys Ing o]

>
=
U
of
|
o
o
=
=
=]
=
)
=3
@
D
=)
<
@
=
=
o
=
o
@

SEEh

Sjuawajelg jeroueuly



42

U REEEEX

22

REBE  FEEERRERRABERE
R4 HELIFRERLGLERT RS
RO BRI -

EHRRAMERES  AEHEERFHA
XA ABEEERAREEEENIR
T ORERITMEF EEX K SHEx XK
G EF2BIAMEIRER S
RERCHEBEERMKREES - MAX
s EFE HE A AR o

b %5 & qy

F—% HBXE
AEFHMXRITHSFESE L FAE
T LRI EIRF T o BIA xR
Fr o REFRKK SRR ED RS S
7 AR BE &R 1T HETT XUBR 1R 4G - MBLEE - &
B Wi mE A ANE4RE - iR
RIRATEAERA RSB EEARE -
HEXKEEBMUALZHUNA - TEFEF
R AEAVSBEMBSERITL - B2
FBAEE % « A INEBEREE A0 § 0 9 4T
ZL BRI E LS REENE# TR
BEERNRR - HEZHETREELS -
o R ERR AT R - fEE
P AT S AR T e - A FLIRAT
IANE RS - F 8RR KB B 1 T R R
BEIERREE o BRERITEN » RERAWS
BAEAEECIR S - DB (EIFE 1T
RB&IRBIFN KBS IR o

DM TR RO E XS
ERARIEE - EENNRTEAFTAR
DM REREEFOATREME R BEER W
RENBRSEHERETEEMEERNHN
fo - BIRLFALIE - MBeTRIEARERFIRIT
BARRREEOAERERN - FNTHEXT -
ERITTEI7 RE - 2 B8 ZERHITK
A MEHRITIREF  AEFBRENRS
MEOTE  BRULZSKERENKE

F-8

CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Risk monitoring: The Board of Directors continuously monitors
risk management and internal control systems and reviews the
effectiveness of internal control systems on a semi-annual basis
via the Audit Committee.

Reporting on regular and ad hoc basis: The management of
the Group reviews audit reports, internal controls and risk
management issues, and continuously assesses and updates major
risks faced by the Group and respective risk mitigation measures.
The Board of Directors oversees the management’s monitoring
activities via internal audit function and the Audit Committee, and
the effectiveness of the implemented monitoring measures.

BUSINESS UNIT
Step 1: Risk Identification

The Group’s risk assessment is conducted annually through a
top-down and bottom-up risk assessment process. By engaging
the relevant procedures, the Group’s risk management function
initiates the risk assessments at all levels of business units and
functional departments, identifies and estimates risks both at the
Group and business unit levels by evaluating corporate strategies,
sales, marketing, operations, productions and human resources,
incorporate risk management into our business planning. At
the end of each year, the Group’s business unit undertakes
a review of potential risks which falls within its business and
operation area by the means of expert interviews, management
team questionnaires, and analysis on the impact of changes
of the operating environment, with a view to performing risk
positioning, analysis and evaluation of their probability and
impact of risks. Identified risks are reported together with
the explanation of its nature and proposed risk management
strategies to the Group during the business plan review session
at the beginning of each year. In addition to the annual exercise,
our regular reporting system of the Group’s business unit also
facilitates ongoing risk identification and the reporting of risks.

Step 2: Risk Analysis, Evaluation and Mitigation

After identifying the risk, the designated risk owner is responsible
for analyzing the likelihood and potential impact of the risk event.
Risks of higher likelihood and potential impact will be given
priority. The risk owner then designs and implements appropriate
procedures and controls to mitigate the risk. In the design of
the action plan, the implementation cost will be considered at
the same time, and in the implementation process, the Group
emphasizes the balance between risk and benefit to ensure the
long-term stable development of the business.

HSERE (FA%) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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Step 3: Risk Monitoring and Performance Evaluation

After risk identification, analysis, evaluation and mitigation,
risk owners will establish risk monitoring indicators, where
appropriate, based on quantifiable and practicable principles,
to regularly monitor and give warnings of potential risks, and
take effective mitigation measures in a timely manner. At the
same time, evaluation reports are submitted to the Group by
the business units through the regular reporting mechanism.
To prevent recurrence of the same risks, preventive actions
and procedures to improve operational efficiency are also
incorporated into the risk management and internal control
systems. In addition, our internal audit function undertakes
independent reviews on risk management and internal control
systems, and our management is responsible for ensuring
appropriate actions which are taken to rectify any control
deficiencies highlighted in the audit reports within a reasonable
period of time.

PRINCIPAL RISKS

The Group constantly faces a number of principal risks and
uncertainties in a highly competitive business environment
that need to be managed properly in order to avoid significant
impact on the Group’s business. Thorough risk assessment and
mitigation measures help ensure these risks are well managed and
governed effectively. In 2021, the Group continued to implement
premiumization initiatives and promoted the product structure
mix upgrades and construction of sales channels. Despite the
continued impacts of COVID-19, tight supply of production
materials and rising costs, the overall beer market sales volume
in 2021 remained stable as compared with 2020, the Group
achieved an increase in sales volume in sub-premium beer
segment and above with an increase in overall operating profit.

During the business planning process in 2021, the Group focused
on addressing the following principal risks:

SELLING EXPENSES CONTROL RISK

The Group formulates corresponding sales and marketing
strategies according to the market conditions. Poor execution of
sales and marketing activities may reduce the effectiveness of
sales and marketing campaigns, which may have unfavourable
impact on the product sales volume and income of the Group.
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Nevertheless, the Group has strictly controlled the risks of sales
and marketing activities, continued to enhance the management
and control of selling expense, carried out lean sales and
marketing and continuously improved the effectiveness of sales
and marketing campaigns based on the principles of regulations
and cost-effectiveness. The Group has regularly carried out
trainings to strengthen the compliance awareness of staff and
ensure the operation stays in compliance with existing laws and
regulations.

PRODUCTION MATERIALS SUPPLY RISK

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic prevention and control measures,
the international geopolitical crisis, national environmental
protection governance, exchange rate fluctuations, abnormal
climate change and other risk factors, the supply of major
production materials becomes tight or the prices have increased,
which affects production and operation activities or increases
production costs.

The Group closely monitors the market dynamics of foreign
and domestic raw materials and packaging materials, analyzes
and forecasts changes and future trends, replenishes stocks
reasonably at appropriate times and implements staggered peak
procurement, striving to control the increase in procurement
costs. Meanwhile, the Group actively expands its sources of
production, develops new channels, and strengthens co-operation
and management with suppliers.

INFORMATION SECURITY RISK

The risk of failure of some information system functions,
malfunction and loss of data due to cyberattacks, computer virus
spread and system vulnerabilities, may affect the normal conduct
of production and operation.

The Group actively carries out top-level design of information
technology, strictly implements all work in accordance with
the plan, strengthens the management of key information
projects to ensure the quality of the projects, at the same time
implements the security management system, ensures the safety
of information security, strengthens the security management
of information systems, and gradually advances the building of
disaster recovery system.

HSERE (FA%) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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PUBLIC HEALTH INCIDENT RISKS

Facing with the continuous mutation of the virus, the increasing
challenges of prevention and control in foreign countries, as well
as the recurrence of the COVID-19 pandemic in the country, the
situation of prevention and control of the pandemic is still critical.
In the event of a public health emergency, both physical and
mental health and life safety of employees may be threatened, as
well as the normal production and operation of the corporate may
be affected.

While the Group is fully co-operating with the government
in the normalized control of the pandemic, the Group will
strengthen its internal emergency management, formulate and
implement emergency plans, strengthen the construction of
emergency management organizations and emergency rescue
teams, properly facilitate pandemic prevention and control with
production and operation activities, conduct regular training
on pandemic protection and enhance employees’ awareness of
prevention and control.

SAFETY PRODUCTION RISK

Natural disasters and emergency events could induce production
safety issues, which may cause personal injury and property
damage to the corporate.

The Group attaches great importance to production safety. To
minimize health and safety risks, the Group has undertaken
various measures including identification of the main relevant
responsible parties on production safety, strictly implementing
government pandemic prevention and control requirements,
carrying out staff training and cultural promotion, strengthening
organization and system construction, organizing emergency
drills, and initiating safety checks at facilities.
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In addition to the commitment to driving business growth and
improving operational performance, the Group also actively fulfils
its corporate social responsibilities and upholds the philosophy
of “Brewing a Better Life” to bring more and better changes
to the public. Riding on its business strengths and extensive
business network, the Group is committed to contributing to
community care, environmental protection, energy conservation
and emission reduction, human resources, product and service
quality upgrade as well as supply chain management and others,
aiming to become a trusted and beloved beer enterprise. The
Group has published its independent “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” to inform the public of its performance
and various aspects in relevant areas, and voluntarily disclosed
additional information, for instance the impact of climate
change, the relevant targets of certain waste reduction, emission
reduction, occupational safety and health and waste recycling,
including to strive for maintaining downward trends on carbon
emission, consolidated energy consumption per unit, chemical
oxygen demand (discharged into natural water bodies) in medium
term, improving the utilization rate on recycle of biogas etc., the
management of water use in areas with scarce water resources as
well as the reuse of certain packaging materials to demonstrate
the Group's constant commitment to sustainability development.

COMMUNITY CARE

The Group has always been committed to promoting community
care and social welfare activities, with a key focus on the
community in the aspects of disaster relief, poverty alleviation,
education advancement and environmental protection etc.
In 2021, the Group took the initiative to compile an action
guide on social responsibility and encouraged all centres and
departments of its headquarters, regional companies, sales and
marketing centres and factories to organize social responsibility
projects and integrate into their business. The projects aim to
provide customers with consumption experience that exceeds
expectations, empower employees’ growth, enhance value
to partners, and promote the green and harmonious co-
development of the society and the environment. During the year
under review, the Group continued tracking more than 380 social
responsibility key indicators, of which more than 20 indicators
were related to community care, encouraging all units of the
Group to carry out community care activities in accordance with
the indicators.

HSERE (FA%) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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During the year under review, the Group carried out charitable
and public welfare activities in various places, such as making
donations for disaster relief, offering education sponsorship,
encouraging customers to make donations together with
encouraging employees to participate in charity events. In 2021,
the Group’s external donation exceeded RMB800,000, including
Zhejiang Regional Company’s donation to alleviate poverty in
specific regions, Guizhou Regional Company held the charity
event “Caring for Left-behind Children”. In response to the
recurring COVID-19 pandemic outbreak in late 2021, Jinshan
(Shaanxi and Shanxi) Regional Company immediately deployed
manpower and resources to support local governments and
communities in their efforts to combat the pandemic, and
donated beer, beverages, water, instant food and tents to anti-
pandemic workers from various regions, represented a total value
of more than RMB200,000.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to protecting the environment with a
focus on sustainable development. With a sound organizational
structure, the Group implements the responsibilities of
environmental protection as well as energy conservation and
emission reduction. The Group has attached great importance to
the management and control of environment, health and safety
("EHS"), taking a top-down approach to implement and assess
the business policies and guidelines on the environment. The
Group continuously enhanced the standards of environmental
protection and management for energy conservation and
emission reduction. In 2021, the Group proactively responded to
the government’s policies on carbon emission peak and carbon
neutrality by integrating green and low-carbon concepts into its
corporate development strategy officially.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, ENERGY
CONSERVATION AND EMISSION REDUCTION

The Group has been strictly adhered to the national or local
pollutant discharge standards and implemented internal control
benchmarks that are stricter than the national or local pollutant
discharge standards in order to steadily meet the emission target
and proactively reduce pollutant emission. During the year under
review, upholding the principle of “achieving high-level standards,
objectives and positions with detailed planning”, the Group
continued to benchmark itself against world-class enterprises, and
released the “14th Five-Year Plan” for EHS management, which
sets out the main objectives, missions and tasks during the “14th
Five-Year Plan” period.

The Group has established a sound management organization
and responsibility system for energy conservation and protection
of the surrounding ecological environment at three tiers: at the
headquarters, regional companies and local breweries. During
the year under review, the Group organized the signing of the
EHS Responsibility Letter at each level. The headquarters issued
and distributed the energy conservation and eco-environmental
protection targets to regional companies, factories and even
production units, ensuring all the persons in charge signed the
letter of accountability on EHS. Currently, 100% of the Group’s
employees on duty have signed the EHS Responsibility Letter.
During the year under review, the Group did not have any major
incident on environmental protection.
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During the year under review, the Group formulated and
issued the “CRSB Waste Management System” to align with
the newly revised national law, the “Law on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste”, to
regulate solid waste management at source, collection, storage,
treatment and disposal. The Group also included the indicator
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of carbon emissions per unit product into its “14th Five-Year
Plan”, formulated and issued the “Carbon Emission Accounting
Measures” and carbon emission accounting template to set the
scope and standard of carbon emission accounting. The Group
implemented carbon emission accounting and auditing at each
unit and included the results in the annual EHS performance
assessment of each region. In 2021, the Group organized 18 sets
of professional trainings for more than 3,400 participants on the
topics of the “Law on Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste”, typical cases of Central Inspection of
Ecological and Environmental Protection, solid waste management
system, ecological and environmental protection inspection
standards, publicity and implementation of carbon emission peak
and carbon neutrality, CDP carbon emission, etc.

During the year under review, the Group has formulated its 2021
environmental protection budget plan based on the major risks
incurred by energy conservation and emission reduction supervision
in 2020 and the policy direction of government supervision. By
the end of 2021, the Group has implemented 26 environmental
protection projects with investment costs close to RMB30 million,
mainly for upgrading the standard of the sewage treatment system,
the sewage biogas recovery and utilization project and the sludge
membrane filter press project. In terms of air pollutant emissions,
the Group achieved a year-on-year decrease of over 35% in sulphur
dioxide (5O,) emissions and a year-on-year decrease of over 20%
in nitrogen oxide (NO,) emissions, mainly by phasing out coal-fired
boilers to zero coal consumption and reducing consumption of
fossil fuels such as natural gas.

During the year under review, the Group voluntarily disclosed
more carbon emission related information by including emissions
from the loss of purchased CO, as raw material during the beer
production process as well as the methane emission generated
during the anaerobic treatment process of brewery wastewater
to the original statistical scope of greenhouse gas emissions. The
expansion of date collection reflected that the Group has attached
great importance to the climate impact of its business activities.
With a prudent attitude in assessing the impact, the Group strives
to achieve sustainable development by implementing appropriate
measures.

During the year under review, the Group implemented numerous
measures to address and reduce the production of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste. These included five levels of EHS
monitoring and inspection at headquarters, regional companies,
factories, production units and working teams to strictly evaluate
the implementation of the EHS system. In 2021, a total of more
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than 47,500 EHS problems were identified among all units and
99.9% of which has been rectified. In order to effectively control
the safety and environmental risks in the process of production
capacity optimization, the Group carried out the EHS compliance
inspection on capacity-optimized plants, evaluating the treatment
and disposal of solid waste, hazardous waste and liquid ammonia
with 59 types of various risks identified.

USE OF RESOURCES

During the year under review, the Group encouraged its factories to
conduct green factory evaluation and comprehensive benchmarking
in seven aspects: basic requirements of the production process,
infrastructure, management system, energy and resource input,
products, environmental emissions and performance. The Group
also promoted the concept of water-saving enterprises in its
factories and conducted self-assessment against national standards,
fostering water saving in its factories through three dimensions:
setting up basic requirements, management assessment indicators
and technical assessment indicators.

The Group continuously invested resources to develop innovative
energy saving technologies to improve the utilization efficiency
of water resources, including water-saving transformation
of packaging bottle washer, heat balance transformation of
packaging sterilization machine and team condensate water
recycling and comprehensive utilization of the whole plant,
etc. Besides, we also launched various measures for water
recycling, such as recycling of self-produced steam condensate
water, cooling recycled water from filling machine vacuum
pump, recycling of saccharified wort cooling water, recycling
of water from Clean in Place (CIP), recycling of reverse osmosis
(RO) concentrated water, reuse of serial water, etc. In addition,
the Group actively recovered biogas generated from anaerobic
digestion of sewage treatment and generated steam from
biogas boilers for production use, which acts as a renewable
energy source to reduce environmental pollution and energy
consumption.

HSERE (FA%) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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Besides, the Group has been focusing on the management of
the surrounding environment, in a view to reduce the impact
of the beer production process on the surrounding ecological
environment or environmentally sensitive areas. During the year
under review, the number of the Group’s plants discharging
effluent into natural water bodies has further decreased from 5 in
2020 to 2, with both chemical oxygen demand (COD) (discharged
into natural water bodies) emissions and ammonia nitrogen
emissions (discharged into natural water bodies) decreasing by
more than 30% year-on-year.

During the year under review, 3 of the Group's production plants
were awarded the “Hong Kong Green Awards” by the Hong Kong
Green Council. The Heilongjiang plant in Heiji (Heilongjiang and
Jilin) region won the “Environmental, Health and Safety Award
— Gold”. The Guangdong plant in Guangdong Region and the
Suining plant in Sichuan Region won “Green Management Award
- Silver” respectively. In addition, the Group actively organized
promotional events on the themes of “Environment Day”,
“National Energy Conservation Awareness Week” and “National
Low Carbon Day” to promote the concept of energy conservation
and environmental protection.

FONG [ONG GRETR MmADYS 1071

| S w—

China Resources Snow Breweries {5 Chuand
Co_ Ltd. Suining Branch

R e st
W —

The Group has almost completed the reform of company-owned
vehicles and further expanded the scope of vehicle services on
third-party platforms during the year under review. By cancelling
the provision of vehicles for senior executives in production
plants, cancelling all the provision of vehicles in some regional
factories, and implementing the outsourcing vehicle provision
services, the Group saw a substantial decrease in company
vehicle usage. In addition, the Group actively promoted the
outsourcing of logistics forklift business in the production areas
while cancelling oil forklifts, advocated electric forklifts across
factory outsourcing units, and optimized planning of in-plant
logistics, thereby reducing diesel consumption by eliminating
unnecessary transportation. In 2021, the Group’s cumulative
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consumption of gasoline and diesel fuel decreased by more
than 50% and 30% year-on-year respectively. In terms of waste
recycling, the Group’s waste generated during beer production
process such as distiller’s grains and waste yeast, were fully
recycled. During the year under review, the recycle rate of dry
distiller’s grains and dry waste yeast remained 100%.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group's corporate vision is to become a trusted and beloved
beer enterprise. We have been adhering to the management
and operation principle of “people-oriented” over the years.
We regard our staff not only as an important asset for business
development, but also as a key stakeholder group to deliver
corporate vision. We not only safeguard the rights and interests
of staff in all aspects but also endeavour to offer them a safe,
healthy and comfortable working environment in order to
understand and fulfil their needs in work and life.

EMPLOYMENT POLICY, REMUNERATION AND BENEFIT

The Group strictly implements the national and local regulations
and policies concerning compensation and benefits, pays
various social insurance and housing provident funds for staff
in accordance with laws and regulations; provides labour
remuneration and overtime remuneration in full and on time, and
strictly abides by the minimum wage requirement.

The Group completed the optimization of the remuneration and
welfare system in 2020. On this basis, the Group established
a scientific and reasonable long-term mechanism for salary
increment in 2021 by considering the operating performance of
each unit, and also the key factors such as the value of employees’
positions, performance evaluation and professional ranks, and
implementing salaries adjustment after annual performance
review for employees in line with the corresponding adjustment
ratio in the market.

In addition to statutory benefits, the Group also provides employees
with meal benefits, transportation benefits and plateau work
allowances, etc., taking into account the business conditions and
situation of local offices, and continuously provides employees with
corporate pensions, annual medical check-ups and supplementary
commercial insurance (including accident, critical illness and life
insurance, etc.) to ensure the basic level of welfare protection
while enhancing the competitiveness of the welfare package and
employees’ satisfaction in remuneration and benefits.

The Group strictly implements national and local regulations and
policies on labour employment, wages and benefits, establishes
and improves the Group’s labour employment (recruitment and

HSERE (FA%) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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allocation, attendance and leave, labour contract management),
compensation and benefits, career development, staff training and
culture practice system, and ensures employees with regulated
work environment, welfare policies, career development and
training programmes to promote continuous growth of employees,
create a simple corporate culture with integrity, and promote
continuous development of the organization.

The Group has consistently adopted policies to prevent child labour
or forced labour and abided by relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group. Meanwhile, the Group
has established a unified recruitment system, defined talent
standards, and strictly compliance with the national “Labour Law”
and the national “Labour Contract Law”, and clearly prohibits
the recruitment or employment of persons under the age of 18.
To ensure effective compliance with the above-mentioned
regulatory requirements and company regulations, the Group
conducts three-level employment inspection management at
the headquarters, regional and business units every year. In
addition, the Group strictly implements the policy “Standardized
Management System for Labour and Employment”, promptly
reports the occurrence of labour and employment disputes, and
follows up on improvement measures.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Staff growth is pivotal to the development of the Group’s business,
thus the Group has always adopted the development strategy of
“building a strong enterprise through talent” and has constantly
put an effort in providing employees with diverse training and
development opportunities. The Group’s strategy focuses on
the following key elements: “strategy undertaking, leaders
nurturing, resource building, platform operation and technology
empowerment” to carry out talent development work, while
continuing to broaden the career development path of employees
so that they can work and grow together with the Group.

During the year under review, the Group’s training coverage
rate for full-time employees continued to remain at 100%. The
Group continued to carry out online and offline employee training
programs, including “Three-Level Leaders” talent development
project that catered to general managers of regional companies,
sales and marketing centres, as well as regional sales; the “Two
Drive Wheels” talent nurturing program aiming at enhancing
the capabilities of middle management in premium catering and
nightlife channels; and the “Channel Magic Weapon” program
tailored for key channel marketing positions to ensure smooth
implementation and execution of premiumization strategies. The
Group's strategic business development workshop in central cities
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organized the general managers of 31 central city sales regions in
China in 2021 to output the business development solutions and
achievements of central cities around the pain points of central
city business development, improve the premium capability of
central city regions and help the central cities to win in premium
segment. At the end of 2021, the Groups’ average training hour
on the online platform per employee reached 29.8 hours, with a
total of around 27,000 employees logging onto the platform.
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OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH

The Group’s safety production management is deeply rooted
in its management philosophy that espouses a people-oriented
and safe development approach. It places employees’ health
and safety as the foremost duty of safety management, and
doggedly pursues “zero injury and zero accident”. The Group
has strictly observed the national laws and administrative
regulations on production safety and occupational health, and
has rigorously carried out its responsibility on safety production
and occupational health by building a comprehensive safety
production and occupational health management system
that possesses the characteristics of CRH and CRSB, and has
continuously modified, advanced and promoted the Group's
safety management standard. During the year under review, all
factories of the Group have passed the National Safe Production
Standard certification, with 13 factories and 1 factory having
obtained 1SO45001 certification and OHSAS18001 certification,
respectively. There was no production safety accident that caused
deaths of employees in the Group during the year under review.

HSERE (FA%) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



AEHR RS %2 TERLERENIE
SARZEEFKFRNEN  ABYHR
2R ANLR2TH  BROLZEFK
- FAMEENRN - HRIFFRIR D 62
REZL4E~TF  AAZITERERAB
RER BRULEESZ2BMRER &
EERINEIRMAL - BIMAL KRS
RE2BE APRISSRILRESR
LEY  REFRLASENERIR &
FRERHBMITALLARED » EEE
Fizdl - AB M ARZ21TH + AAR
2EFHERI BENLARNZEE
R ARG QL eRERTRN - B
TR YVTRE BBENMEEREST
A HEMBRLZ2RE - HEHRLER
SR ZUNTIEES - FEMFRIL
RESZ2EEGEEARNTE (LA
BT TRIRLAEFIRA - AR
B ITME - A ERALEERNIRE &
SREF A HTRIIR o

REFZFTERIEESZ2HEHIILT
fEe TEBMEER @ AEEHSRATLS N
ZEHBHEVRITBI35 7 1R - X #
NEARDBE AERFEMEXT ARRME
HBEZEIN19.57 RN + N2 EAHEII600
R 13,000 A8 - TERKREX
WREE °

FREEEBSRR

AN S B IR 5 LA S 32 2 S D+ T B LT
ERBNRAEES  #T-RRESER
B FREERGERHERES R

EEMRE —E-—FAEHARET
B ENI100% @ ER KM 150#HK -

W EIEEI100% : FHFERMNBEFES -
TRRELTMIECK  RALUERE - TH
PEER “mEASEERETLZOZ
PO+ (40ppb) AT » Ab FAT b 45T F ©

fAv3t £ = E | CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group's occupational safety production management always
follows the principle of improving the level of essential safety
production, regulating the safety condition of objects, human
safety behaviour and environmental safety conditions, constantly
improving them, and organizing occupational health and safety
work: organizing the signing of target responsibility letters at
each level, implementing occupational health and safety target
indicators and responsibilities to each position and employee,
and realizing full coverage of safety responsibilities. The
Group also organizes occupational health and safety activities,
continues to carry out activities of hazard sources and hazard
factor identification and behavioural safety observation with the
participation of all employees, focuses on process control, and
regulates the safety behaviour of employees; organizes safety
education and trainings to strengthen the safety awareness,
knowledge and skills of employees. The Group also innovates
safety inspection methods to investigate and rectify safety
hazards and promote the implementation of occupational
health and safety production through the implementation of
unexpected inspection and review of video monitoring. The Group
continuously improves, optimizes and modifies the occupational
health and safety management system. The Group carries out
occupational hazard identification, assessment and control,
to continuously improve occupational hazard protection and
facilitate modification of the workplace environment.

The Group values occupational health and safety education and
training. During the year under review, the employees at all levels
participated in safety education and training for more than 350,000
hours, and provided 195,000 hours of education and training to
relevant parties such as suppliers, sub-contractors and contractors;
more than 600 times of emergency drills with over 13,000
participants. The results are well recognised by the industry.

PRODUCT SAFETY AND SERVICE QUALITY

The Group puts high emphasis on its consumers and strives to
continuously exceed customers’ expectations on quality. The Group
has unremittingly enhanced its product quality and carries out
multi-level control on product quality: strictly control the product
factory according to national standards to guarantee basic quality.
In 2021, the Group achieved 100% pass rate in the ex-factory
quality test, while the National Safety Supervision and Inspection
implemented spot tests from 150 batches and the Group achieved
a pass rate of 100%. The Group continued to strengthen program
control, carry out special quality research, and promote linear
quality. During the year under review, total oxygen content of
the products was controlled below 40 parts per billion (40 ppb),
achieving the leading level in the industry.
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In addition, the Group continued to build and promote its
brand portfolio in 2021 by launching a number of new products
including “Li”, “Loéwen Fruit Beer” (#485 Rosé), the carbonated
beverage “Snow Xiao Pi Qi”, continuously implementing
technological innovation while developing unique products to
meet diversified and individualized consumer needs in order to
enhance satisfaction on customer experience.

In pursuit of manufacturing excellence, the Group established a
quality and food safety management system (“SnowMS-QFS”)
with characteristics of CRSB. The system is based on the Group’s
past 20 years’ experience of quality management, and is in line
with international system requirements such as FSSC22000, I1SO
and HACCP, completing full scale implementation of the system
to all factories. The system revised 98 documents covering raw
material standards, production processes and product standards,
of which 23 documents were newly developed and 75 documents
were revised, organized more than 10 training sessions for system
standards and internal auditors, and a total of 105 people were
qualified as internal auditors. Moreover, the Group passed a total of
95 international system certifications such as FSSC22000, I1SO and
HACCP.

To further promote high-quality development, the Group adheres
to quality control of the entire supply chain and continues to
build a supplier quality extension management work circle at the
material supply side to firmly establish the management objective
of "ensuring quality stability on incoming raw material” and
achieve safety and stability of incoming materials by conducting
random inspections and onsite quality check for food safety,
and implementing special measures for quality issues. In 2021,
the Group conducted food safety inspections on more than
230 batches of incoming materials such as malt and beer cans,
and all indicators were in compliance with national standards.
Furthermore, the Group performed on-site quality audits and
rectifications on more than 280 suppliers during the year under
review and conducted special research on beer bottle quality, which
effectively improved the safety and stability of material quality
and provided guarantees for product quality from the source. In

HSERE (FA%) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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order to improve process quality management level, the Group
organized a “Refined Brewing Process Training” for over 80 factory
quality managers in 2021, inviting external experts to improve the
theoretical and practical knowledge of quality managers in water
treatment, cleaning and disinfection, microbiological control, etc.

The Group adjusted the process quality evaluation indicators in
2021, focusing on process control consistency and compliance,
and completed process quality evaluation in nearly 40 factories
in the year, with over 1,500 improvements. The Group also
shared the highlights of management and control internally with
more than 60 items during the year under review. In order to
maintain quality monitor and control, the Group launched the
construction of “Snow Star” Good Laboratory Practice (SSGLP)
and Laboratory Information Management System (LIMS) during
the year under review, standardized laboratory management in
accordance with 1ISO17025 standard requirements, improved
laboratory management, and continued to conduct internal and
external testing capability verification activities, covering the
verification of beer, malt, hops etc. An accumulated total of 68
subordinate laboratories and 21 supplier laboratories were verified
for improvement of inspection and testing capabilities. Currently,
the Group has a first-class team of beer tasters in China with a
total of 36 national-level judges, 5 of which are lifetime honorary
judges. In addition, the Group has established a three-tier team of
beer tasters at headquarters, regional and factory levels to achieve
sensory quality control of the entire production process of raw and
auxiliary materials, semi-finished products and finished products to
ensure that the sensory quality of products meets the standards.
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In addition, the Group organized a food safety emergency drill across
the Group with a 100% implementation rate in each factory. The
emergency drill covered a wide range of areas. It fully mobilized the
coordination of organizations and personnel in each factory, improved
the emergency response capability, strengthened the staff’s awareness
of food safety, and laid a solid foundation for the drill objectives of
strengthening the team and organizing the mechanism.
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In order to let consumers recognise the Group’s high-quality
development philosophy and collect real experience information
directly from consumers as a basis for the Group’s long-term
quality improvement, the Group organized 10 consumer tasting
events in 2021, inviting consumer representatives of different
ages, occupations and regions to participate. Aiming at achieving
strict monitoring of product quality, the Group performed
thorough monthly quality assessments by pulling out in total
1,407 batches of products from 136 sales cities and regions and
all subsidiary factories for quality evaluation during the year under
review. The holistic quality assessment and consumer appraisal
results underpin the Group’s product quality improvement and
new product research and development.

During the year under review, the Group was recognised by
a number of industry awards. Among them, the Group was
awarded “Outstanding Contribution Award in Science and
Technology Advancement of China Alcoholic Drinks” by China
Alcoholic Drinks Association at its forum of Special Award
for Science and Technology Advancement. Also, the Group’s
project of “Premium Diversified Product Innovation to Lead the
High-quality Development of the Beer Industry” was awarded the
“China Enterprise Brand Innovation Achievement Award 2021"
by the China Quality Association, and the project of “Research
and Application of Key Technologies for Beer Bottle Design and
Quality Assurance under Consumption Upgrade” was appraised
as “International Advanced Level” by the China Alcoholic Drinks
Association. In terms of technical research and development, a
number of improvement achievements such as “Improving the
TPO (Total Packaging Oxygen) qualification rate of fresh beer”
were awarded “Six Sigma Green Belt” and “Professional Level”
and “Improvement Level” of the QC Achievement Presentation
Competition by the China Quality Association. The Group’s Longli
plant in Guizhou Province was awarded the highest star rating of
“Five Star Site” by the China Quality Association, the first one in
the beer industry. In addition, the Group’s Ningbo plant in Zhejiang
Province was awarded the Ningbo Fenghua District Quality Award
and the Xiangxi plant in Hunan Province was awarded the Xiangxi
Autonomous Prefecture Governor’s Quality Award.
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In response to the impact that COVID-19 brought on the product
quality, the Group resolutely carried out regular prevention
and control of the pandemic and implemented inspection and
quarantine verification of imported materials and cold chain
transport products. At the same time, the Group conducted
effective daily monitoring of all key control points of food safety
and quality, and comprehensively investigates violations of laws
and regulations in each production and operation process from
the source to the end, focusing on adulteration and recycling and
reprocessing and other illegal acts to eliminate the hidden danger
of non-compliance.

In an effort to improve product quality, the Group continued
to promote the “Project of elimination of impure beer” and
implemented the “Factory General Manager Responsibility
System”, in which the factory general manager leads a team to
visit the factories to the front line, and controls the bottle source
quality, bottle cleaning quality, process control and equipment
working conditions, etc. At the same time, the Group continues
to improve customer satisfaction by eliminating the production
of impurity beer through measures such as stabilizing the quality
of bottle wash, synergizing the three major systems, eliminating
the use of hemp bags for recycle bottles, improving the quality
of bottle sources, and providing good product protection. In
addition, the Group clarified the responsible departments,
positions and authorities for handling consumer complaints,
properly handled reasonable consumer demands, continuously
optimized complaint channels, and strengthened the convenience
of complaint channels together with process perfection. The
Group followed up on various complaints and reasonable
demands, established a two-way feedback mechanism to enhance
consumer satisfaction and effectively improved quality work.
The Group has been sincerely communicating with consumers
to ensure that all complaints are always reasonably, promptly
and effectively handled, and to strengthen the supervision and
inspection of the results of complaint handling, and to review and
rectify the deficiencies during the process.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

In view of the tremendous changes in the domestic and foreign
market environments and the continued impact of the pandemic,
the prices of bulk raw materials increased significantly during the
year under review, resulting in an increase in uncontrollable cost
factors for suppliers. The Group promptly proposed and formulated
a production safety procurement plan for packaging materials such
as cans, bottle caps and new glass bottles for the procurement
of production materials. On the basis of improving supplier
management and its service standards, the Group strictly followed

—EF - —4%&F 3R | Annual Report 2021

b9

HEwL£¥

dnolg ay| 1noqy

LA EE

s1apjoyaleys Ing o]

>
=
i
i
[
[xd
o
=
=]
o
=
D
=
-]
D
o
<
D
=
=
D
=
(=]
-]

SEEh

Sjuawajelg jeroueuly



60

RIERWYRTAERERE  FHFEYRE
B RS R EXBASAKHEL
RAHERRE - A MBRENENE
Al B R S 1 o

B —F AEHAENBAEEERRE
FHERR - 14Tk - E2RINE - B
B A1EERX  ZAITFN C HREE -
AR E NN OIRT - L S
B - R Bl ER o TRIMFE
W AEHAXRTHEASEZISER - #
R 494,800 : H£#FE1T10X R iF N
$ERINE © ¥1)RIAUE263K © — X IAIE
23R ZRINETR  BFINE24K - &
RENFRMHENIEHRENIE661
ME - TZEZ—F - ARHAKFETAN
HEBHITEESREZZ  BEXHNEEFH
ARE R R - FHE . EEX R
R BANITH - R R E LIRSS
iz WMRENEAREY - HNENE
HITFEEERZ -

BERESR

BRSTE  BLTE  ANELERAKH
MERBHRN - NREARUNTERA
AEFLETEE - BR - BUFROARE T EA
EREA - BRPEARKMEC(EZE)
CEFEXMERINE) FERREN - B
RMHIT(RE ARKMERERENR
PESHZSR)TERALIBE - R - &K
EMERERDEA R TR - e - AKH
EHEZEEEY FRITHLEEE(P
EEBERAREIIHEMEBALRETE
B A (RIT) XL AR R E 1 B MRE
FE TR X R EIREEARBK
EHEXEBERART L ENLBE T
AMEXHELEERAR [AEEMERT
TEHESIXE BT ) FHEHRE - A&EH
BRI PITERREAS BRI - TR
WITHE RS EEE(ERAEERE L (U

the new version of “CRSB Management Measures on Suppliers of
Productive Materials” to further mitigate food safety risks, ensuring
that purchased materials are in line with quality standards, as well
as to establish supply channels that are stable, controllable, safe
and able to support the long-term development of the Group, while
enhancing the strategic co-operation of whole industrial chain with
quality as a major focus.

In 2021, the Group implemented a supplier management system
featuring institutionalization, standardization and specialization,
based on eight core areas covering expansion resources,
preliminary screening, inspection and certification, catalogue
management, joint assessment, comprehensive evaluation,
hierarchical management as well as optimization and elimination.
During the year under review, the Group implemented dynamic
management of supplier catalogues with a total of approximately
4,800 suppliers. A total of 10 supplier site inspections and
certifications were conducted, with 26 suppliers for their first
certifications, 23 suppliers for their second certifications, 1
supplier for its third certification and 24 suppliers for on-site
certifications, and the number of improvement suggestions for
each supplier was about 4 to 66. In 2021, the Group continued
to conduct annual assessments on the co-operation process of
suppliers to ensure effective performance of the suppliers in terms
of seven indicators: quality, timeliness, accuracy, declined orders,
returned goods, violations and flawed products.

GOVERNANCE OF INTEGRITY

Honesty and trustworthiness, compliance with laws and
regulations and legal operations are the core principles
that the Group has always adhered to. The Group has been
unrelenting in executing the national laws and regulations
against bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including
the “Constitution”, the “Supervision Law”, and the “Criminal
Procedure Law” of the People’s Republic of China. The Group
has also implemented the regulations and provisions pertaining
to commercial bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
under the “Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic
of China” and “Anti-Unfair Competition Law”. Meanwhile,
the Group observes stringent implementation of the pertinent
regulations of CRH in its daily operation and management, such
as the “Centralized Management Measures for Letters and Visits
and Question Clues of China Resources Company Limited (Trial)”,
“Guidance for the Handling of Complaint Letters and Visits and
Discipline Execution and Examination of CRH"”, “Integrity Talk

48 (%) AR 2 7 | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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System for CRH’s New Managers”, “CRH Provisional Regulations
for Staff Violation of Disciplines and Regulations”, “China
Resources Company Limited Guidelines for Supervision and
Work” and “Ten Directives of China Resources”. In addition to
strictly implementing the various systems and procedures of CRH,
the Group also resolutely implemented the related regulations
of CRSB, such as the “Implementation Rules for Monitoring
Work as well as Handling Letters and Visits to Disciplinary
Inspection (Supervision) Institutions of CRSB”, “Measures for
the Centralized Management of Letters and Visits (Trial)”,
“Measures for Employee Violation of Regulations and Discipline”,
“Implementation Rules for Conversations and Inquiries to
Managers of CRSB”. During the year under review, the Group
did not have any litigation cases or major breach related to
corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering.

The discipline inspection department of the Group continues to
maintain the high pressure momentum of resolutely punishing
corruption without wavering, handling letters and cases in strict
accordance with rules, discipline and law, always insisting that
power must go with responsibility, responsibility must be taken,
discipline must be pursued, and failure must be accountable.
At the same time, the Group extensively carries out integrity
education, works on preventive control, announces the rules
and regulations of the Group, and informs about typical cases
of disciplinary violations investigated and handled by the Central
Commission for Discipline Inspection, the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission, CRH and other
higher-level institutions, so as to take cases as a warning and
sound the alarm continuously.

Disciplinary commissions of the Group at all levels and the
inspection agencies continue to perform special inspections,
daily supervisions, general supervisions, patrol and monitoring.
Combining the effort of various functional departments of
the Group, financial inspections, special audits, and business
inspections were carried out to establish a healthy ecology that
prohibits and prevent corruption while strictly investigating and
punishing corruption. The joint forces persistently implement the
spirit of the “Eight Point Regulations” of the Central Government
and eliminate the “Four Malfeasances” with an aim to curb
corruption in a high pressure manner. In terms of selecting and
appointing talent, the Group has established stringent standards
to perform daily stewardship to prevent corruption from the
origins and remind through education.

In order to improve employees’ awareness of business ethics and
related laws and regulations, the Group launched business ethics,
anti-corruption and integrity-related trainings during the year
under review. A total of over 19,600 enrolments participated in a
total number of over 27,500 hours of training.
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Non-executive Directors and
Independent Non-executive Directors
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MAIJOR HIGHLIGHTS OF THE COMPANY'S
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE:

1. A balanced portfolio of Board members by age and length of
Board services. Besides, the directors draw a vast experience
and diversified knowledge across different disciplines,
including the areas of trading and commerce, accounting
and finance, legal, banking and civil services.

FHRITEEMHZIERNTES EECHRESEY

Length of Board services

105 LA

Less than 10 years O O O W
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10 years or above R R R W e
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rCE

2. Board committees are a vital part of the Board effectiveness.
To facilitate more professional advices of various areas in
the committees, the members of Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee are mainly
constituted by independent non-executive directors and
each committee is chaired by a different independent non-
executive director.

3. In 2021, due to COVID-19, the Group, in the presence of
management, arranged two online meetings on topics of
CRSB procurement management and CRSB key customers
platform for the Independent Non-executive Directors,
several Non-executive Directors, together with the Executive
Director and Chief Financial Officer.

HSERE (FA%) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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It is the firm belief of the Company that a good and solid
corporate governance framework is essential to the successful
growth of the Company and the enhancement of shareholder
value. The Company is committed to attaining and maintaining
high standards of corporate governance and adopts principles of
corporate governance emphasising a quality Board, accountability
to all stakeholders, open communication and fair disclosure.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

On 8 April 2005, the Company adopted the Corporate
Governance Practice Manual (“CG Manual”). The CG Manual,
which was revised on 31 March 2009, 18 November 2010, 21
March 2012, 7 December 2015, 18 March 2016, 21 November
2018, 5 November 2021 and 1 January 2022, incorporates
almost all the Code Provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
("CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (”Stock Exchange”) (“Listing Rules”) and includes the
implementation details for the Code Provisions and, where
appropriate, the Recommended Best Practices. The CG Manual
can be downloaded from the Company’s website and copies are
available on request to the Company Secretary.

The Company has complied with the Code Provisions for the time
being in force as set out in the CG Code throughout the year
ended 31 December 2021, save and except the following:

In respect of Code Provisions A.2.1 to A.2.9 of the CG Code, since
the resignation of Mr. Chen Lang as the Chairman with effect
from 11 July 2019, the position of the Chairman has been vacant
and has not been filled up as at the date of this report. The Board
of the Company as a whole and its members have discharged the
duties under the aforementioned Code Provisions of the CG code
as appropriate. The Board and the Nomination Committee of the
Company will continuously review and discuss the adjustment to
the composition of the Board.
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In respect of Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all the Non-
executive Directors of the Company are not appointed for a
fixed term. The Board does not believe in any arbitrary term of
office. The current arrangement will give the Company sufficient
flexibility to organize the composition of the Board to serve
the needs of the Group. Further, the Articles of Association of
the Company requires that one third of the directors (including
executive and non-executive directors) shall retire each year and
every director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. The directors to retire each year shall be
those appointed by the Board during the year and those who have
been longest in office since their election or re-election. A retiring
director is eligible for re-election.

In respect of Code Provision C.1.2 of the CG Code, the Company
has not provided all members of the Board with monthly updates
to enable the Board as a whole and each director to discharge
their duties. However, the Company has based on business
situation, provided to the Board from time to time, updated
business information to enable the Board as a whole and each
director to discharge their duties. The Company considers that
such business information arising out of the ordinary business
provided to the Board from time to time instead of monthly
updates are sufficient for the Board to discharge its duties. In
the event there are any significant updates to be provided, the
Company will update all the Directors as early as practicable for
discussion and resolution.

In respect of Code Provision D.1.4 of the CG Code, the Company
did not have formal letters of appointment for directors. However,
all directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years in accordance with the Articles of Association
of the Company. In addition, all directors are required to refer
to the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties”
issued by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors”,
and, if applicable, “Guide for Independent Non-executive
Directors” published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in
performing their duties and responsibilities as directors of the
Company. Besides, the directors are required to comply with
the requirements under the Listing Rules, the responsibilities
under statute and common law, legal and other regulatory
requirements.
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In respect of Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the position of
the Chairman has been vacant at each of the general meeting of
the Company held on 29 March 2021 (the “GM") and the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 18 May 2021 (the
“AGM") and has not been filled up as at the date of this report.
Mr. Lai Po Sing, the former Executive Director of the Company
who took the chair of each of the GM and the AGM, together
with other members of the Board who attended the GM and the
AGM, were of sufficient calibre for answering questions at each of
the GM and the AGM.

In addition to meet the requirements of the Listing Rules, the
inclusion of the Corporate Governance Report in this Annual
Report is intended to keep our shareholders abreast of the
corporate governance practices of the Company and their
development throughout the reporting year and to invite our
shareholders’ views thereon.

THE BOARD

The Board represents shareholders in managing the Company'’s
affairs. The directors recognise their responsibilities to enhance
shareholder value and to conduct themselves in accordance with
their duty of care and integrity.

The major issues which are brought before the Board for their
decisions include:

1. direction of the operational strategies of the Group;

N

setting the policies relating to key business and financial
objectives of the Company;

3. monitoring the performance of the management;
4.  approval of material acquisitions, investments, divestments,
disposal of assets or any significant capital expenditure of

the Group;

5. ensuring a prudent and effective risk management and
internal control systems;

6. review of the financial performance and results of the
Company; and

7. recommendation on final dividend and the declaration

of any interim or special dividends to shareholders of the
Company.

—EF - —4%&F 3R | Annual Report 2021

65

HEwL£¥

dnolg ay| 1noqy

LA EE

s1apjoyaleys Ing o]

>
=
i
i
[
[xd
o
=
=]
o
=
D
=
-]
D
o
<
D
=
=
D
=
(=]
-]

SEEh

Sjuawajelg jeroueuly



66

%mmlﬁéﬂ
FBR TR R B FE ¢

1. HlEMRITARBERIERFEA
BEMESE  HEAEESRHEIN

2. RUNMKEEREETMSZEEARMNE
WS AR

3. RITFYERARNREESTEEHE N
HE SRR E 5 R BEE TSRS

4. HIT RIWTMURERFTARAR
RANZEF M T N AE <F F A (a0
g): &

5. RITARXRARZEEEST Em Nk
TP KR ERIRE RNl &
JAST RN 52 E ok o

EECTAFEFNT U TRLERED :

o HMAEARRTWPLERRS K

. ENK%HN@%E&W%WE%%
BRZABEZ TN

EENTEZVEBBARAMSIRENRES - 1t
LMK IRKR M E RN F i R ARERE T
ZHB®LSK - LS RINERE © IRE
RS IRENRFHSZ2 X - NB
B X 7N £ B A9 JF BRCIR O VB O B 3 17 9 1
i o BRAKH 2 W EARRSB =& €2
EEREAPTEZEASTFN ' LIEEES
FEERERBRZ THARLQ RS EIN
EH S - EEH T ANEBEEANTHBES
HRIBAFIESTELMARNRIFEALE
8¢ W%ﬂmﬁ%wﬂﬁ%$ﬁ < fE
KB B2REI114TEFE 120 AR
&HWW%O

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in paragraph D.3.1 of the CG Code, and in this
regard the duties of the Board shall include:

1.  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and the senior
management;

3.  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4.  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors of the Company; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report in
accordance with Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Board considered the following
corporate governance matters:

o approval of the Corporate Governance Report of the
Company; and

o review of the results of the internal audit work on the
Group's risk management and internal control systems.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flows for that period. The financial statements for the
reporting period are prepared and presented to enable a clear
and balanced assessment of the financial position of the Group.
Regular management reports on the financial position and
prospects of the Group are reviewed by the Executive Committee
to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the
performance of the Company. The Directors are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern. For the statement of the auditor about its
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements, please refer
to the section headed Independent Auditor’s Report from pages
114 to 120.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2021, and up to the
date of this report, there were the following changes to the
membership of the Board:

With effect from 5 November 2021:

Mr. Jian Yi has tendered his resignation as an Executive Director
and the Authorised Representative, Chairman of Finance
Committee, a member of the Executive Committee and the Share
Option General Committee of the Company in order to devote
more time to other business commitments.

Mr. Lai Po Sing has tendered his resignation as an Executive
Director, Chief Financial Officer, the Company Secretary, the
Authorized Representative and a member of the Executive
Committee, Nomination Committee, the Finance Committee, and
the Share Option General Committee of the Company in order to
devote more time to other business commitments.

Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu has tendered his resignation as a Non-
executive Director of the Company in order to devote more time
to other business commitments.

Mr. Wei Qiang has been appointed as an Executive Director, Chief
Financial Officer, Authorized Representative, and a member of the
Executive Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Finance
Committee, and the Share Option General Committee of the
Company.

Ms. Zhang Kaiyu has been appointed as a Non-executive Director
and a member of the Nomination Committee of the Company.

Mr. Tang Liging has been appointed as a Non-executive Director
and a member of the Finance Committee of the Company.

Mr. Hou Xiaohai, an Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer, has been appointed as Chairman of the Finance
Committee and a member of the Share Option General
Committee of the Company.

Mr. Leung Wai Keung has been appointed as the Company
Secretary and the Authorized Representative of the Company.
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As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 11 directors,
including two Executive Directors, four Non-executive Directors
and five Independent Non-executive Directors. The biographical
details of the directors are set out on pages 30 to 37 of this
report and can also be found on the Company’s website. The
relationships (including financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships) if any, among members of the
Board are disclosed.

Pursuant to the requirements of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
the Company has received written confirmation from each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors confirming his
independence from the Company, and considers all of the
Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent.

The experience and views of our Independent Non-executive
Directors are held in high regard and contribute to the effective
direction of the Group. Throughout the year of 2021, the
Company complied with the requirements under the Listing Rules
by maintaining the proportion of its independent non-executive
directors to at least one third of the total members of the Board.

The Company has put in place a tailored induction programme
for its newly appointed directors. Continuing development and
information are provided to the directors to keep them abreast
of the latest developments involving the Group’s business and
operations.

The structure, size and composition of the Board are reviewed
from time to time to ensure that the Board has a balanced
composition of skills and expertise appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. Appointments
are first considered by the Nomination Committee. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee are then put to
the full Board for decision.

All Directors (including executive and non-executive directors) are
not appointed for a fixed term. The Board would like to retain
sufficient flexibility to organise the composition of the Board
to serve the needs of the Group. Therefore, the Board is of the
view that it is not appropriate to specify the term of office of the
Directors. All directors are subject to re-election by shareholders
of the Company at the annual general meeting following their
appointment and at least once every three years on a rotation
basis. The Articles of Association of the Company require that
one-third of the directors (including executive and non-executive
directors) shall retire each year. The directors who are required
to retire each year shall be those appointed by the Board during
the year and those who have been longest in office since their
election or re-election. A retiring director is eligible for re-election.
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During the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021, the
position of the Chairman has been vacant and has not been filled
up as at the date of this report. Mr. Hou Xiaohai held the position
of Chief Executive Officer for the aforesaid period. The respective
responsibilities of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
are fully set out in the CG Manual.

The Board of the Company as a whole and its members have
discharged the duties of the Chairman under the Code Provisions
of the CG code as appropriate. The Board and the Nomination
Committee of the Company will continuously review and discuss
the adjustment to the composition of the Board.

The position of the Chairman has been vacant at each of the
GM and the AGM and has not been filled up as at the date of
this report. Mr. Lai Po Sing, the former Executive Director of the
Company who took the chair of each of the GM and the AGM,
together with other members of the Board who attended each
of the GM and the AGM, were of sufficient calibre for answering
questions at each of the GM and the AGM.

The Chief Executive Officer and either the chairman or at least
one member of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee
and Nomination Committee attended the annual general meeting
to ensure effective communication with the shareholders of
the Company. Separate resolution was proposed at the annual
general meeting on each substantially separate issue, including
re-election of each retiring director and was put to vote at the
meeting by way of poll. Detailed procedures for conducting a poll
were explained at the meeting.

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Between these regular
meetings, the Board meets to discuss and consider major issues
(whether or not required by the Listing Rules) and also on other
occasions when Board decisions are required. With respect to
regular meetings of the Board, directors usually receive at least
14 days prior written notice of the meeting and an agenda with
supporting Board papers no less than 3 days prior to the meeting.
With respect to other meetings called, directors are given as much
notice as is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances.
The directors have full access to information on the Group and
independent professional advice whenever deemed necessary by
the directors.
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EEST - FE - —FHABFF11X2 (8  During the year of 2021, 11 meetings (including meetings by
FEERPERINE) c KEFET _F——4F way of circulation of written resolutions) were held by the
HEREAS - EE5221W « % Z R4 Board. The attendance of the directors at general meeting(s),
2N HFWERLSWURREBE RS S Board meeting(s), Audit Committee meeting(s), Compensation
HNEBFET &R Committee meeting(s) and Nomination Committee meeting(s)
held in 2021 is set out in the table below:
BRREXS FHZERS REERS
B%x%&  Annual General E55Board ®BERS  Compensation  Nomination
General Meeting Meeting SNHEAY Audit Committee ~ Committee Committee
SNHERY SWHERY Meeting(s) (SMHEAE  (SNHERY  (SNHERY
Meeting Meeting attended/ Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s)
attended/ attended/ TR ¥held) attended/ attended/ attended/
BfTAYheld)  EfTRHheld) R S W #fTREheld)  EfTAHheld)  EfFR¥held)
HITEE Executive Directors
FHELEN Mr. Jian Yi" Al 0n 03 03 33
EZE%E Mr. Hou Xiaohai o i I3 3B
RIELAE0 Mr. Lai Po Sing® 1n 1 3323 33 112
Rarte Mr. Wei Qiang® RER/ RER/ mn o TER/ TER/
N/A N/A N/A N/A
FEMITEE Non-executive Directors
RpERE Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank N i 444 3B
Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend n 17 a4 4L 33
AN BEEY M. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu® N i B3B38
KFFLLO Ms. Zhang Kaiyu® TER/ NER/ mn i TER/ TER/
N/A N/A N/A N/A
EFIE%E0 M Tang Liging® TER/ TER/ "o rEE/
N/A N/A N/A
WIFRTES Independent Non-executive Directors
EATRE Mr. Houang Tai Ninh 1 1 4444 33 33 33 22
FEERT Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric 1N 1 44 AL 33 33 33 202
REEET Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses N i 44 44 3B yIE] 33
FERRE Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan N 1n 4444 33 33 33 0
ML Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon 11 i Y4 44 3B 33 0N
“BC-ERMASRY
Total number of meetings held in 2021 1 1 4 4 3 3 30 2
FibsE -
Notes:
R: 7 HIS 1 Regular Meeting

S: RIS Special Meeting
W:  PBERILE Written Resolutions
(1) MBEET_T=_—F+—ARAFEANERBRTES -

Mr. Jian Yi resigned as Executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(2) BEFEET_ZT_—F+ ARHAFEEALABRRNTES -

Mr. Lai Po Sing resigned as Executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(3) HMAEET T —F+—-ARARZENRRAHRITES °

Mr. Wei Qiang has been appointed as Executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(4) WANPEET T —F+—AABRFENARBFRITES -

Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu resigned as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(5) HEAFKEF_Z=—F+—-ARAREZEENRARFRTES -

Ms. Zhang Kaiyu has been appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(6) EMBEEET-_T-_—F+-ARBRZENARBFHIITES -
Mr. Tang Liging has been appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.
(7) HFMER SR - FRIASWEA#IT - —RAPERIEFL B o
Among the Compensation Committee resolutions, two were passed by way of physical meeting and one was passed by way of written
resolutions.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to Code A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company has put in place an on-going training and
professional development program for directors.

Each newly appointed director would receive an induction
package covering the statutory and regulatory obligations of a
director of a listed company and the Company’s business and
governance policies. The Company also provides briefings and
other training to develop and refresh the directors’ knowledge
and skill.

All directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Company has sent reading materials to directors on
regulatory updates or information relevant to the Company or its
business.

In 2021, due to COVID-19, the Group, in the presence of
management, arranged two online meetings on topics of CRSB
procurement management and CRSB key customers platform for
the Independent Non-executive Directors, several Non-executive
Directors, together with the Executive Director and Chief Financial
Officer.
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RATIBERSIMESRE FTERNETIELEE  The Company has received from all directors’ records of their
WEREZ L5 - Hx1FE5E T R& :  continuous professional development trainings during the year.

Details of which are set out in below table:

RETLRRZRH

Type of Continuous Professional Development

g3 - HEHRTS

R/BENER Ritin

ETHids R HERXFLTFRRALS
SWERRiLIEHRA ZETLHERANEH
Receiving training, Reading

talks at seminar and/or  relevant to

regulatory
attending and/or giving updates or information
the Company

conference and/or forums or its business

MITEE Executive Directors
B ST EN Mr. Jian Yi® /
EEJRE Mr. Hou Xiaohai /
WRBLED Mr. Lai Po Sing? v J
Pt Mr. Wei Qiang® / v
EMITESE Non-executive Directors
BOL Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank v/
Richard Raymond Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend v

Weissendt 4
I ZRAL 5 5 A @ Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu® v
KFAFLTO Ms. Zhang Kaiyu® v J
EAE L EO Mr. Tang Liging® v v
3 ERITES Independent Non-executive Directors
BATEE Mr. Houang Tai Ninh v
TRE[LT Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric v v
MEREE/L Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses v v/
BRE Btk Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan v /
A A Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon v/ /
fE -
Notes:

(1) MPERET-FE-_—F+ ARARENRRRNTES -

Mr. Jian Yi resigned as Executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(2) BREFAET-F-—F+ - ARRRENRRRNTES -

Mr. Lai Po Sing resigned as Executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

() HMEERET-E——F+ - ARARZTENRRFRNTES -

Mr. Wei Qiang has been appointed as Executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

@) WAL BEETF—ZE=—F+—ARAHENARFRFRNTESE -

Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu resigned as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(5) HEAFERLT B —F+ - ARRRZENARFFRNTESE -

Ms. Zhang Kaiyu has been appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.

(6) BMERET-ZE=_—F+ - ARBRZTENALRFFRNTESE -

Mr. Tang Liging has been appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 5 November 2021.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

While the Board retains at all times full responsibility for guiding
and monitoring the Company, certain responsibilities of the Board
are delegated as follows:

(a) Committees — various committees have been established
by the Board to administer certain specified functions
of the Company’s affairs. The main committees include:
the Executive Committee, the Finance Committee, the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Compensation Committee. The terms of reference of the
Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Compensation Committee which
set out, among other things, the duties, functions and
composition of these committees are set out in the CG
Manual and available on the Company’s website; and

(b) Chief Executive Officer — the day-to-day management of
the Company’s business is delegated to the Chief Executive
Officer who is accountable to the Board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Chairman: Mr. Houang Tai Ninh (Independent Non-executive
Director)

Members: Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric, Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan,
Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon (all are Independent
Non-executive Directors), Mr. Lai Po Sing*, Mr. Wei
Qiang* (all are Executive Directors) and Ms. Zhang
Kaiyu* (Non-executive Director)

# Resigned on 5 November 2021
* Appointed on 5 November 2021

The duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
performance, structure, size and composition of the Board and
to make recommendation after such review and to assess the
suitability and qualification of any proposed director candidate.
The recommendations of the Nomination Committee are then put
forward for consideration and adoption, where appropriate, by
the Board. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
setting out its duties and procedures were revised on 21 March
2012, 7 December 2015, 21 November 2018 and 5 November
2021, and are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination
Committee held two meetings. A summary of work done by the
Nomination Committee during the year include, among other
things:

o review the performance, structure, size and composition of
the Board.

o make recommendations on the appointment of Mr. Wei
Qiang as Executive Director, Ms. Zhang Kaiyu and Mr. Tang
Liging as Non-executive Directors to the Board.

The Board adopted the nomination policy on 21 November 2018
which aims to set out the approach to guide the Nomination
Committee in relation to the selection, appointment and re-
appointment of the directors, and ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company's
business.

Major terms of the nomination policy are disclosed as follows:

(1) The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and
recommend candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by
giving due consideration to criteria including but not limited
to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(@) Diversity in aspects including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length

of service;

(b) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in
respect of available time and relevant interest;

() Qualifications, including accomplishment and
experience in the relevant industries the Company’s
business is involved in;

(d) Independence;

(e) Reputation for integrity;

(f)  Potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring
to the Board; and

(g) Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend
retiring director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving
due consideration to the criteria including but not limited to:

(@) The overall contribution and service of the retiring
director(s) to the Company, including but not limited
to the attendance of the meetings of the Board
and/or its committees and general meetings where
applicable, in addition to the level of participation and
performance on the Board and/or its committees; and

(b) whether the retiring director(s) continue(s) to satisfy
the Criteria.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend
candidate(s) for the position(s) of the independent
non-executive directors of the Company by giving due
consideration to the factors including but not limited to
those set out in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
subject to any amendments as may be made from time to
time, in addition to the Criteria.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board
for the appointment of a director in accordance with the
following procedures and process:

(@ The Nomination Committee will, giving due
consideration to the current composition and size of
the Board, develop a list of desirable skills, perspectives
and experience at the outset to focus on the search
effort;

(b)  The Nomination Committee may consult any source it
deems appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as referrals from existing directors,
advertising, recommendations from a third party
agency firm and proposals from shareholders of the
Company with due consideration given to the Criteria;

() The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the
candidates, such as interviews, background checks,
presentations and third party reference checks;
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(5)

(6)

(d) The Nomination Committee will consider a broad
range of candidates who are in and outside of the
Board'’s circle of contacts;

() Upon considering a candidate suitable for the
directorship, the Nomination Committee will hold a
meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if
thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board
for appointment;

(f) The Nomination Committee will provide the
relevant information of the selected candidate to
the Compensation Committee for consideration of
remuneration package of such selected candidate;

(g) The Nomination Committee will thereafter make
the recommendation to the Board in relation to the
proposed appointment, and where a non-executive
director is considered, the Compensation Committee
will make the recommendation to the Board on the
proposed remuneration package;

(h) The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to
be interviewed by the members of the Board who are
not the members of the Nomination Committee and
the Board will thereafter deliberate and decide the
appointment as the case may be; and

(i) All appointment of directors will be confirmed by
the filing of the consent to act as director of the
relevant director (or any other similar filings requiring
the relevant director to acknowledge or accept the
appointment as director, as the case may be) to be
filed with the Companies Registry of Hong Kong.

The Board will be ultimately responsible for the selection,
appointment and reappointment of directors.

The Nomination Committee will assess and report annually,
in the Corporate Governance Report, on the composition
of the Board, and launch a formal process to monitor the
implementation of this Policy as appropriate.

48 (%) AR 2 7 | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



‘AL ABHETENREAE R
WARBGR - MBRABRERAAL
—HUEAARRNTE - FARKRI
BHEEAERELERT AR i
BRABITIC A HEEHITOEMRE
N HFBEREZFERAES2FH
B AHEEERAE

REABKREARBOMUEAIHE T -

EFEo T _F—N\F+—A=Z+—BXEY

THETHEEK

ZBRREEREEST2D

Azl -

ZIACBRBERENT

(1)

AAFHEHBFAEESSKAS
T BIEMER - Fig - X RHE
ERHET LA ZTmas - A
RAARANBIMRI - ZERRZBIEG)
BREFTUREEESSNIRHAIL
B BEBES R ETR—RYIR
BIEIM = ¢ (i) fF AR R RE A& St
ESERHOEERREKER  Kii)
SEARNARERBELD N ERRE
B ©

AEHAIFE B RE - ARE]
NEFCKABRRZ T NIFEE
PR AHS B AR R E AT RS R R R B
TR ARAEREEFTCKALS
B MNENTEEREZTCKRASTT
£ BRERESRTMER - Fik - XM
RHEEER  TULERK - g - AR
KRSEH - EFSMBREBIAR
AMEARRN - FHBIARMR M EZE
Nk ROBREZE2KRAZ TN
#a8 o

v #3448 % | CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Nomination Committee will launch a formal process to
review the nomination policy periodically to ensure that it
is transparent and fair, remains relevant to the Company’s
needs and reflects the current regulatory requirements
and good corporate governance practice. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required,
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

The nomination policy is available on the website of the
Company.

The Board also adopted the diversity policy on 21 November 2018
which aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity at the
Board.

A summary of the diversity policy is disclosed as follows:

(1

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
having diversity, including diversity on gender, age, cultural
and educational background or professional experience
at the Board in order to enhance the performance of
the Company. These benefits include (i) ensuring that
a range of different perspectives can be brought to the
table when reviewing and considering issues within the
Board; (ii) enabling the Company to connect effectively
with its stakeholders as appropriate; and (iii) supporting
the Company’s commitment to improve its corporate
governance practices.

With a view to achieving sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the
Board as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.
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(3) Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates may bring to the Board. The
Nomination Committee should set measurable objectives
periodically for implementing the diversity policy.

(4) The Nomination Committee will review the diversity policy,
as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the diversity
policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to
the Board for consideration and approval.

(5) The Company aims to promote diversity not just at the Board
but also at the senior management level where appropriate
taking into account the Company’s own circumstances. The
Company welcomes diversity at the senior management
level, with a view to further contributing to the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.

The diversity policy is available on the website of the Company.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Chairman: Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon (Independent Non-
executive Director)

Members: Mr. Houang Tai Ninh, Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric and
Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses (all are Independent Non-
executive Directors)

The duties of the Compensation Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure of remuneration of directors and senior management,
establishing a formal and transparent procedure for developing
policy on remuneration and determining the specific
remuneration packages for all directors and senior management.
The terms of reference of the Compensation Committee setting
out its duties and procedures were revised on 21 March 2012, 7
December 2015 and 5 November 2021, and are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The remuneration of the directors and senior executives is
determined with reference to the performance and responsibilities
of the individual, the performance of the Group, prevailing market
conditions and remuneration benchmarks from comparable
companies. Directors and employees also participate in bonus
arrangements based on the performance of the Group and the
individual.
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During the year under review, the Compensation Committee held
two meetings and passed one written resolutions. A summary
of work done by the Compensation Committee during the year
include, among other things:

o determining the policy for the remuneration of Executive
Directors of the Company and making recommendations on
the Directors fees to the Board.

o approving the remuneration packages of Executive Directors
of the Company.

o conducting review of the incentive award to the Senior
Management of the subsidiary of the Company.

o approving the remuneration package of the proposed new
directors and making recommendations to the Board.

For the remuneration of the Executive Directors, the
Remuneration Committee adopted the model described in code
provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid employees are set out in Notes 10 and 11 to the financial
statements from pages 163 to 165.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the remuneration payable
to the Directors and the members of senior management fell

within the following bands:

Number of individuals

ARMEZE AKRM450,0007T
(BMZEE#mM500,0007T)

AR 2,905,001 752 ARM3,320,0007T
(#mM3,500,001 72 %M4,000,0007T)

AER™3,320,001 & ARM3,735,0007T
(7#M4,000,001L2%M4,500,0007T)

AR 4,150,001t & AKRM4,565,0007T
(75,000,001 7c2/8M5,500,0007T)

AR 6,640,001 752 ARM7,055,0007T
(7#mM8,000,001 L2 %M8,500,0007T)

Remuneration bands AR¥EA

RMB Nil to RMB450,000 9
(HK$Nil to HK$500,000)

RMB2,905,001 to RMB3,320,000 1
(HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000)

RMB3,320,001 to RMB3,735,000 1
(HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000)

RMB4,150,001 to RMB4,565,000 2
(HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000)

RMB6,640,001 to RMB7,055,000 1

(HK$8,000,001 to HK$8,500,000)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Chairman: Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric (Independent Non-executive
Director)

Members: Mr. Houang Tai Ninh, Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses and
Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan (all are Independent Non-
executive Directors)

One of the members of the Audit Committee has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. No member of this Committee is
a member or partner of the former or existing auditors of
the Company. The membership of the Audit Committee has
complied with the Listing Rules requirement that the majority
of its members must be independent and one of whom must
have appropriate professional qualification. The existing terms
of reference of the Audit Committee which were revised on 18
November 2010, are modeled on “A Guide for Effective Audit
Committee” issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and have also adopted the principles set out in the
CG Code for the time being in force. Pursuant to the amendments
to Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, the terms of reference of
the Audit Committee was further revised on 21 March 2012,
7 December 2015, 21 November 2018 and 5 November 2021,
and are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The duties of the Audit Committee include considering and
making recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors, review of the
Company’s financial information and oversight of the Company’s
financial report system and internal control procedures. During
the year under review, the Audit Committee met on three
occasions. The work of the Audit Committee in 2021 included
reviews of:

o the independent auditor’s report to the Audit Committee in
respect of 2020 audit;

. the 2020 annual report and annual results announcement;

o audit strategy memorandum in respect of the 2021 audit by
the independent auditor;

] connected party transactions;

. the 2021 interim report and interim results announcement;
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o the reports of internal audit activities; and

o staffing and qualifications of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee met with the
independent auditor on three occasions.

The Audit Committee has considered the performance and
independence of the independent auditor of the Company.
The Audit Committee concludes that the independence of the
independent auditor of the Company has not been compromised
by the non-audit services performed for the Group. The statement
by the independent auditor about its reporting responsibilities
relating to the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
on pages 114 to 120. During the year under review, audit
fees paid and payable to the Company’s independent auditor
amount to approximately RMB11 million (2020: approximately
RMB10 million); fees related to non-audit services including tax
compliance and consulting service paid during the year under
review amount to approximately RMB4 million (2020: Nil).

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The interests held by the directors in the Company’s securities
as at 31 December 2021 are disclosed in the Directors’ Report
on pages 91 to 94 of this report. On 8 April 2005, the Company
has adopted a Code of Ethics and Securities Transactions (“Code
of Ethics”) which incorporates the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code"”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. The Code of Ethics has
been amended, approved and reconfirmed by the Board on 6
April 2006, 4 April 2007, 31 March 2008 and further revised
on 31 March 2009, 18 November 2010, 7 December 2015 and
5 November 2021 respectively. The prohibitions on securities
dealing and disclosure requirements in the Code of Ethics also
apply to specified individuals who include the Group’s senior
management and persons who are privy to inside information of
the Group. The Code of Ethics is on terms no less exacting than
the required standard set out in the Model Code. Having made
specific enquiry of all directors, all directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the Code of Ethics during the year ended 31 December
2021.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board assumes overall responsibility to establish and
maintain sound systems in risk management, internal control
and governance to provide reasonable, though not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives. The Board confirms that it is the overall responsibility
of the Board to establish and effectively implement the risk
management and internal control systems to ensure the smooth
operation of business, safeguard the Group’s assets and
shareholders’ interests as well as ensure the reliability of financial
statements.

OVERVIEW OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group adopts the control framework consistent with the
frameworks recommended by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission in the United States
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
as the standards in establishing risk management and
control systems among our Group companies. The Group's
risk management and internal control systems include five
key elements, namely the existence of an effective control
environment, risk management, communication and information
system, cost effective control activities and monitoring
mechanism. The specific implementation tasks of the Group’s
risk management and internal control are mainly shared by the
management and employees.

The management is primarily responsible for the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal controls. The
Group has established policies and procedures to communicate
management instructions to all employees, and monitor business
operations. The monitoring activities include approval and
verification, review, asset protection, and division of duties.
Our internal self-assessment monitoring process requires each
business unit to evaluate the effectiveness of internal controls,
formulate mitigation measures in a timely manner, and reduce the
recognised significant risks.
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MONITORING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group requires its business unit to identify and assess the risks
and impact at least once every year. The executive management
team of the business unit is accountable for the conduct and
performance of each operation in the business unit within the
agreed strategies and similarly the management of each operation
is accountable for its conduct and performance. Policies and
procedures are designed for safeguarding corporate assets,
maintaining proper accounting records and ensuring transactions
are executed in accordance with management authorisation.
Monthly management reports on the financial results and key
operation indicators are reviewed by the Executive Committee
of the Board. Regular meetings are held with the executive
management team of the business unit to review the actual
performance against budget.

Our internal audit function, reporting to the Audit Committee
and the Board respectively, is responsible for assessing the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems, adopting
the risk-based internal audit method to determine whether
the Group’s major risks can be controlled by main monitoring
measures, formulating an impartial opinion on the effectiveness
and efficiency of the systems, and reporting its findings to
the Executive Committee and the Audit Committee. Follow-
up review will be conducted in due course to ensure that audit
recommendations are being properly implemented. The internal
audit function conducts independent reviews on the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems on an on-going basis.

Depending on the nature and risk exposure of the Group’s
business, the scope of work performed by the internal audit
function covers all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

Results of internal audit activities are reported to the Audit
Committee at least once semi-annually for the year ended 31
December 2021 and the corrective actions are taken by the
business unit. The Audit Committee will review whether the
Group's risk management and internal control systems (including
financial, operational and compliance control measures) are
adequate and effective, and consider the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications, and experience. The Board conducts regular
reviews of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems through the internal audit function and the Audit
Committee.
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With respect to internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company shall assess
the circumstances under which inside information may arise from
time to time and disclose inside information as soon as reasonably
practicable in accordance with the Securities and Futures
Ordinance and the Listing Rules. The Company conducts its
business affairs with close regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure
of Inside Information” issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission and imposes a strict prohibition on the unauthorised
use of confidential or inside information by directors, employees
and other relevant persons (such as external service providers and
project working team members).

Based on the assessment for the year ended 31 December 2021
for purpose of reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems, the Board and the Audit Committee
believe that the risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate, provide reasonable assurance that the
Group's assets are safeguarded and there is no significant area of
concerns that may affect shareholders.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

CONVENING EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL
MEETINGS

In accordance with Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the
directors are required to call a general meeting if the Company
has received requests to do so from members of the Company
representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the
members having a right to vote at general meeting. Such requests
must (a) state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the meeting; and (b) may include the text of a resolution
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
the meeting. Such requests (a) may be sent to the Company in
hard copy form (by depositing at the registered office of the
Company for the attention of the Board) or in electronic form (by
email: ir@crb.cn); and (b) must be authenticated by the person
or persons making it. In accordance with Section 567 of the
Companies Ordinance, the directors must call a meeting within
21 days after the date on which they become subject to the
requirement under Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance and
such meeting must be held on a date not more than 28 days after
the date of the notice convening the meeting.

HSERE (FA%) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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Besides, Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance provides that
the Company must give notice of a resolution if it has received
requests that it do so from (a) the members of the Company
representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the
members who have a right to vote on the resolution at the annual
general meeting to which the requests relate; or (b) at least 50
members who have a right to vote on the resolution at the annual
general meeting to which the requests relate. Such requests (a)
may be sent to the Company in hard copy form (by depositing
at the registered office of the Company for the attention of
the Board) or in electronic form (by email: ir@crb.cn); (b) must
identify the resolution of which notice is to be given; (c) must be
authenticated by the person or persons making it; and (d) must
be received by the Company not later than (i) 6 weeks before the
annual general meeting to which the requests relate; or (ii) if later,
the time at which notice is given of that meeting. Section 616
of the Companies Ordinance provides that the Company that is
required under Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance to give
notice of a resolution must send a copy of it at the Company's
own expense to each member of the Company entitled to receive
notice of the annual general meeting (a) in the same manner as
the notice of the meeting; and (b) at the same time as, or as soon
as reasonably practicable after, it gives notice of the meeting.

PROCEDURE FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A
PERSON FOR ELECTION AS DIRECTOR

Pursuant to Articles 112 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, no person other than a director retiring at a meeting
shall, unless recommended by the directors, be appointed a
director at a general meeting unless at least seven days’ previous
notice in writing (to be lodged no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election
and no later than seven days prior to the date of such meeting)
shall have been given to the Company of the intention of any
member qualified to vote at the meeting to propose any person
other than a retiring director for election to the office of director
with notice executed by that person of his willingness to be
appointed.

Not less than 3 nor more than 28 days before the date appointed
for holding a general meeting notice shall be given to all who are
entitled to receive notice of the meeting of any person in respect
of whom notice has been duly given to the Company under Article
112.1 of the Articles of Association of the Company.

The aforesaid procedures are available on the website of the
Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The new Articles of Association of the Company was adopted on
25 May 2016 by special resolution at the annual general meeting
in order to ensure compliance with the Companies Ordinance.

There is no change to the Articles of Association of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and fair disclosure of information to its
shareholders. Accurate and fair disclosure is necessary for
shareholders to form their own judgment on the operation and
performance of the Group.

The Company has established a Shareholder’'s Communication
Policy and the said policy is available on the website of the
Company.

Based on this policy, legitimate questions arising from generally
disclosed information deserves a reasonable reply. The Investor
Relations Division is responsible for managing investor relations
and will respond to such shareholders’ and analysts’ enquiries.

The Company’s website provides shareholders, investors, existing
and prospective partners and counterparties with information on
the Company’s corporate governance practices. Copies of such
information can be obtained from the Company Secretary of the
Company upon written request.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board by addressing them to the Investor Relations Division of
the Company. The contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations Division — Board Office

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
Room 2301 & 2310, 23/F., China Resources Building
No. 26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Email: ir@crb.cn

Tel No.: 852-2360 9699

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Registrar.

By order of the Board
HOU XIAOHAI
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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EXSHRE
DIRECTORS" REPORT

The directors have the pleasure in presenting to the shareholders
their report and the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group has been principally engaged in the manufacturing,
sales and distribution of beer products. The principal activity of
the Company is investment holding. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries, joint ventures and an associate are shown on pages
197 to 201. An analysis of the Group’s performance for the
year by regional segments is set out in Note 6 to the financial
statements.

GROUP PROFIT

The consolidated profit and loss account is set out on page 121
and shows the Group's profit for the year ended 31 December
2021.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends a final dividend of RMB0.302 per share
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: RMBO0.131 per
share) payable on or around 12 August 2022 to shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
on 27 June 2022. The final dividend, if approved, is to be payable
in cash in Hong Kong dollars which will be converted from RMB
at the average CNY Central Parity Rate announced by the People’s
Bank of China for the five business days prior to and including
the date of the Annual General Meeting (as defined in the below
section headed “Closure of Register of Members”). Together with
the interim dividend of RMBO0.264 per share, the total dividend for
2021 will amount to RMB0.566 per share (2020: RMBO0.259 per
share).

Shareholders shall have the option to elect to receive all or part
of the final dividend in RMB. Unless a permanent election on
dividend currency had been made by shareholders, shareholders
should complete the dividend currency election form (which
is expected to be despatched to the shareholders as soon as
practicable on 4 July 2022 after the record date for ascertaining
shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend (i.e. 27
June 2022)) for such election and return it to the share registrar
of the Company, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30
p.m. on Friday, 22 July 2022.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 15 June 2022 to Tuesday, 21 June 2022, both days
inclusive, during which no transfer of shares of the Company will
be registered. In order to determine the identity of members who
are entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting
to be held on Tuesday, 21 June 2022 (the “Annual General
Meeting”), all share transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Share Registrar, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong no later than 4:30
p.m. on Tuesday, 14 June 2022 for registration.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting, the proposed final dividend will be payable to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company after the close of business at 4:30 p.m. on Monday,
27 June 2022, and the register of members of the Company will
be closed on Monday, 27 June 2022, during which no transfer
of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify
for the proposed final dividend, all share transfer documents,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Standard Limited, at
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 24 June 2022 for registration.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 is set out in the sections headed “Financial Highlights”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Risk
Management”, “Corporate Social Responsibility” and “Corporate
Governance Report” from pages 14 to 15, pages 20 to 23, pages
40 to 45, pages 46 to 61 and pages 62 to 86 respectively of this
Annual Report.

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular, those having
significant impact on the Group. Any changes in the applicable
laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of
relevant employees and business unit from time to time. As far as
the Company is aware, it has complied in material respects with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the business and operation of the Company.
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FIXED ASSETS

Movements in the fixed assets of the Group during the year are
set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED

Details of the shares issued by the Company during the year are
set out in Note 29 to the financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
approximately RMB417,000.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hou Xiaohai (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wei Qiang (Chief Financial Officer)
(Appointed on 5 November 2021)
Mr. Jian Yi
(Resigned on 5 November 2021)
Mr. Lai Po Sing
(Resigned on 5 November 2021)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank
Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend
Ms. Zhang Kaiyu

(Appointed on 5 November 2021)
Mr. Tang Liging

(Appointed on 5 November 2021)
Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu

(Resigned on 5 November 2021)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Houang Tai Ninh

Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric

Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses
Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan
Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon

In accordance with Article 110 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Hou Xiaohai, Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend, Dr. Li
Ka Cheung, Eric and Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses shall retire by rotation
at the Annual General Meeting and are eligible for re-election.

According to Article 115 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, each of Mr. Wei Qiang, Ms. Zhang Kaiyu and Mr. Tang
Liging was appointed by the Board to be a director, shall hold
office only until the forthcoming annual general meeting, and
shall then be eligible for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the employing
company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company, its subsidiaries, its parent company or the
subsidiaries of its parent company were a party and in which a
director of the Company or his connected entities had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of directors are set out on pages 30 to 37.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of directors and alternate directors who have served on
the board of the subsidiaries of the Company during the year and
up to the date of this report is available on the Company’s website
at www.crbeer.com.hk under “Investor Relations — Corporate
Governance”.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provide that every
director shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company
against all liability incurred by him as such director in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is
given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and
costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be
brought against the directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.

HSERE (FA%) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, none of the directors
of the Company had any interest in a business, apart from the
business of the Group, which competes or is likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business, which would
require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong (“SFO"), which have been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO, including interests and short positions which
the directors and chief executive of the Company are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, or which are
required to be and are recorded in the register required to be kept
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in the Listing Rules were as follows:

(A) INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES AND

R RBE NS UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
HENBZESL
wHe e B E Aggregate
EEfg Long position/ Number of percentage of
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)
RZE aRe 1,018,000 0.03
Hou Xiaohai Long position
BROx 1 aRe 149,498 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
FRF e 271,817 0.01

Li Ka Cheung, Eric

Long position

BPE

1. BARNRBRMDFOEFCEREARARET
—E-—F+-A=+—BEBXRTKH
BHHADL -

2. EXFBBZNEREEEARERE
AZEBHEHE -

Notes:
1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in
shares of the Company to the total issued shares of the Company as at

31 December 2021.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by each director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.
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EREZIEHFNE ()

() THEBRZHACRITEBREHE  (B)
AEHFRAE NN @

FB - BETUESFHARKEECE

DIRECTORS’

INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES

AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at the same date, certain directors had interests in the

VI GEAEREEEAY) E k1T issued ordinary shares of associated corporations (within the

BAR 2 W E meaning of the SFO):

() TF—REBKEA—LBEBENLSE (i)  Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
BAT([HEEEM |)E K17 corporation, China Resources Land Limited (“CR
BAR 2 N Land”):

HERZERL
BHe %e BH#E Aggregate

EFEHS Long position/ Number of percentage of

Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)

£ o S 10,000 0.01

Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position

BREF SRE) 50,000 0.01

Li Ka Cheung, Eric Long position

B E - Notes:

1. T4 C B8 R 4 B H AR5 B 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions
BEELEEMT T —F+= in shares of CR Land to the total issued shares of CR Land as at
A=+—HEATTRGEHNE 31 December 2021.

L e
2. EXFERE Nam B S EFIASE 2. All interests disclosed above are being held by each director in

BB AZHNFEE °

T—REREA—®£ETRE
ABRAR(THEFTRER])

his capacity as beneficial owner.

(ii) Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
corporation, China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services

B A {TIEEAR 2 N Limited (“CR Mixc"):

HERZERL
we %ke B #E Aggregate

EENE Long position/ Number of percentage of

Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)

B 1 aen 4,157 0.01

Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position

FRE asEn 387 0.01

Li Ka Cheung, Eric Long position

BfE - Notes:

1. O TS R BT R AETER 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions
HEHESEBETREET=F in shares of CR Mixc to the total issued shares of CR Mixc as at
——F+ZA=+—HEXRTTK 31 December 2021.

HEHNBE DL °
2. EXFEBE N A S EEIAE 2. All interests disclosed above are being held by each director in

BmRBAZFNFEAE °

his capacity as beneficial owner.
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HEEY£¥

EREZIESENE v DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued) Z

() THEZEHAE £ 1TEE KR KR (B) INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES g

KRG P HFE RN (&) AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED =
CORPORATIONS (Continued)

(i) F—EMEEERA L BRRZE (i) Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
BRABERAR(THE£ERRE A corporation, China Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR
TEBR . N ¢ Gas"):

HERZESH =
e, ke B 47 24 B Aggregate =
EFENS Long position/ Number of percentage of Gl
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%) =
Bt i 10,000 0.01 £
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position el
B - Notes: ’
1. 15 ﬁ?@fﬁiﬁ&ﬁ@iﬁi(ﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁ/%\ 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions
BEEBRST_F_—F = in shares of CR Gas to the total issued shares of CR Gas as at
A=+—HEXRITRHEHNE 31 December 2021.
oLk e
£
2. #Yﬁﬁﬁ%zwgﬁ?%ﬁﬂ%%u 2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the director in ”ﬁug
REBEAZEHES ° his capacity as beneficial owner.
()

(iv) T —RIMEEEH BB HE (iv) Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated =
BRERAG([HEEBHN]E R corporation, China Resources Power Holdings =
TEBR N ¢ Company Limited (“CR Power"): g

HERZERLL 2
"He %e BH#E Aggregate
EENRE Long position/ Number of percentage of
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)
R 1 S 10,000 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position =
g
=)
BE - Notes: of
1. A0 PSR R IE B IR G B 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions g
BHEEEEATF=E=—F+= in shares of CR Power to the total issued shares of CR Power as §
A=+ —HZBRITRM & HEH at 31 December 2021. %
Btk e g
2
2. EXFTEREZ Nam e BEEEFINA 2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the director in z
ERBBEAZF NS - his capacity as beneficial owner.
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EFZIEHFN T ()
(2) THECEREE R 1TEBR KX
KR P RAE NS (L)

(v) T REAEREE—SEKEE
RAER AR ([4EKE]) B R

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

(B) INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (Continued)

(v) Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
corporation, China Resources Cement Holdings

1T EEAR NS Limited (“CR Cement”):
HERZESH

we #ke & Aggregate
EFENS Long position/ Number of percentage of
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)
B EEN 40,000 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
BE - Notes:
1. T4 B8 R B R KR AR 19 B 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions

BELHKREF =T =—F+=
A=+—HBEBAITROHEHME
DL e

2. EXFEREZNaERESN
KREBEAZFNRFAE °

MEARBRREHNERE

—E-—F+-_A=+—8"  BKBEXFT
WEANE AN U TTALTTFARF
A% e A8 < B 19 o0 38 B Zn AR 1R CUIE 55 M HA
REBIYEXVHE ZRE=DEMALN T
BEXEIEZEARRNFENZTIEMN
SRR

in shares of CR Cement to the total issued shares of CR Cement
as at 31 December 2021.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the director in
his capacity as beneficial owner.

SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2021, other than the interests and short
positions as disclosed above, the following persons have interests
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as they fall to be disclosed to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company:

g HE (IR %) AR A 7 | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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H
i
HMERARRZHER (&) SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS -
(Continued) &
BEREHHAA S
HeEREMRHHE
Number of shares in
7o,/ ke which the interested BREAML
Long position/ party is deemed to Percentage of -
BENGEHER Name of interested party Short position have interests shareholding (%)
RELEERAF([FELE])  China Resources Company Limited o) 1,684,077,366 51.91 w
(HHE1) ("CRC") (Note 1) Long position #
LERMBERNB([LER ) China Resources Inc. (formerly known 6 1,684,077,366 51.91 f
(FbE1) as China Resources Co., Limited) ~ Long position ’
("CRI") (Note 1) -
CRC Bluesky Limited (%H£1) CRC Bluesky Limited (Note 1) e 1,684,077,366 51.91 C;”
Long position =
AE(ER)BRAR China Resources (Holdings) ey 1,684,077,366 51.91 2
(T4 AR 1) (FHE1) Company Limited (“CRH") (Note 1) Long position
R A (40 BRAF CRH (CRE) Limited (Note 1) e 1,676,338,664 51.67
(FE1) Long position
LD ERAR (D) China Resources Enterprise, Limited {6 1,676,338,664 51.67 2
(Note 1) Long position -
B
Heineken Holding N.V.(f%1) Heineken Holding N.V. (Note 1) 176 1,676,338,664 51.67 :
Long position 5
Heineken N.V.(F$¥1) Heineken N.V. (Note 1) 5% 1,676,338,664 51.67 )
Long position =
ALRER(EE)ERAR(ME1)  CRH (Beer) Limited (Note 1) LI 1,676,338,664 51.67 2

Long position

T

HHERH (BB BER AR RERBR AR D5
HEEEZANE1,676,338,664% 27,738,702
BR A& 0 o 4£E & F (A ) B R 2 & B 40800

Note:

CRH (Beer) Limited and Commotra Company Limited directly held
1,676,338,664 shares and 7,738,702 shares in the Company respectively.
CRH (Beer) Limited is owned as to 60% by China Resources Enterprise,

B BRN F HA60% I % 7 A Heineken Limited and 40% by Heineken Brouwerijen B.V.. China Resources Enterprise, §)§
Brouwerijen B.V. 3 B 40% Nz il 4 JE 6l Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH (CRE) Limited. CRH (CRE) Limited =
WHEB NG N BEER(£0)) BRATHS and Commotra Company Limited are beneficially wholly-owned subsidiaries Of
BB AR o & BERH (LB BRATNRE of CRH. CRH is a beneficially wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC Bluesky
BEBRATY N HETANERLANME L Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRI. CRI is an ultimately beneficially =
7] o 4% H 7 CRC Bluesky Limited A 3 & wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC. Thus, CRH, CRC Bluesky Limited, CRI and g
% # M B A & - il CRC Bluesky Limited CRC are deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 1,684,077,366 shares =)
WIHER DS ARPEE «c £ ERHO 2P ELEN in the Company. Heineken Brouwerijen B.V. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 2
AL AMBE LT o Btk @ &£ HER - Heineken International B.V. Heineken International B.V is a wholly-owned %’
CRC Bluesky Limited ~ 4£ i % {5 & & E 4 )8 subsidiary of Heineken N.V., which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary =
WA ANA LT AL F1,684,077,366 A% A% 17 of Heineken Holding N.V. Thus, Heineken Brouwerijen B.V., Heineken @
A B Lz ° Heineken Brouwerijen B.V. 7y International B.V., Heineken N.V. and Heineken Holding N.V. are deemed to
Heineken International B.V.By £ &K A & - be interested in 1,676,338,664 shares in the Company.
Heineken International B.V.JHeineken N.V.fj
2 %Ki B A " - i1 Heineken N.V. 3 Heineken
Holding N.V.&) & R /E A 7] ° Bt * Heineken
Brouwerijen B.V. * Heineken International B.V. -
Heineken N.V.XHeineken Holding N.V. 41 5 F
ARAB]1,676,338,6640 % 7 7 Nz ©
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A ETHNE LT AR B <
EAL e —E-NFIELRTK
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HAA®EE RIS IR EFE
BT A Em NI T
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RERARFERMD —E— NFIE
R P F —F A 2
HRffHM RS 5 &M EREH
FERA(BHEE KRN
WHE  BABREZEANE
FfiL) A ARM2,100,000,000
T maBHLIERTHEx
FENE—H mxeaSHL
HoTHXXFEBHERNZ
—1TENRELEST BT
Ss—HFENSHEIEH
T -

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group conducted certain transactions with
connected persons which constituted “connected transactions”
or “continuing connected transactions” under the Listing Rules.
Details of those transactions which are subject to the reporting
requirements under Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules are
summarised as follows:

() CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS
PURSUANT TO FRAMEWORK LOAN
AGREEMENTS 2019, STRATEGIC
COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2021

Framework Loan Agreements 2019

On 17 December 2019, the Company renewed the
Framework Loan Agreements in connection with the
intra-group lending arrangement with members of
group of CRI and CRH and their respective subsidiaries
(the “Framework Loan Agreements 2019") for a term
of three years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December
2022. CRI is the controlling shareholder of CRH,
which in turn holds a controlling interest in the
Company and thus CRI and CRH are both connected
persons of the Company as defined under the Listing
Rules. The connected transactions contemplated
under the Framework Loan Agreements 2019 will be
continuously carried out in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group, thus constituting
continuing connected transactions of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

The annual lending cap for the maximum aggregate
amount which can be lent by the Group on any single
day (inclusive of interest received and anticipated to
be received rounded to the nearest million) under
both of the Framework Loan Agreements 2019 is
RMB2,100,000,000. Such maximum daily amount
is applicable for each day during the relevant year,
and such maximum daily amount is calculated on an
individual basis as outstanding at the end of each day
during the relevant year without aggregating with the
daily amount incurred on the days before.
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XEXH &) CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued) =
() HFEXRERSH (&) () CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS =
(Continued) S

(A EF=FBE—hFEREIHH (A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS

Wy ZF -\ FRESED PURSUANT TO FRAMEWORK LOAN

WR=ZB-—FHBEEH AGREEMENTS 2019, STRATEGIC

Wz & RS X 2 (%) COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018 AND

STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2021 (Continued) s

FBBEZRAQRRTFE—H For details, please refer to the announcement of the =

F+ZA+TERRTIAENRE - Company dated 17 December 2019. 3

=

BE S -_—Ft+=-A=+— Information on all the above-mentioned lending made

BEFENRASHRERNE by the Group during the year ended or balance as at =

RRERHT_E=_—F+_H 31 December 2021 (if any) were as follows: g

=+ —HZRIM(WMAE) TR Z

R =

F25--% -
Ef% +ZA=+-H
.3 Interest Rl

BRA BRA Principal BB rateper Balance at

Lender Borrower amount Duration annum 31/12/2021

LREERE(RE)  AERFARAA AEME  1,200,000,000 07/1212020 - 35% =
BRAERAR China Resources RMB 12/01/2021 2
China Resources Snow  Vanguard Co., Ltd 3
Breweries (China) ol
Investment Co., Ltd.* :,

LESRBE(TE)  LHRRRA ARMT 400,000,000 09/12/2020-  3.915% - 2
RARRAR ARAT] RMB 25/01/2021 s
China Resources Snow  China Resource S
Breweries (China) Financial Holdings 3
Investment Co., Ltd.*  Co., Ltd.* 3

LREERE(RE)  AEEBER AEME  2,000,000,000 300042021~ 3915% -

RABRLA ARAR RMB 09/06/2021
China Resources Snow  China Resources Land

Breweries (China) Holdings Ltd.*

Investment Co., Ltd.*

LESREE(TE)  LHEHER ARAL  1,000000000  29/11/2021 - 350% AKMz  1,000,000,000 %
BARRAA BRAE RMB 28/02/2022 RMB S
China Resources Snow  China Resources
Breweries (China) Pharmaceutical o
Investment Co., Ltd.*  Company Limited* =

ARZERE(NE)  ABEGER ARAL  1,000,000,000 301172021 - 350% ARMx  1,000,000,000 £
BABRAT ARAE RMB 28/02/2022 RMB 5
China Resources Snow  China Resources =
Breweries (China) Pharmaceutical
Investment Co., Ltd.* ~ Company Limited*

BE_E_—F+_-_A=+— For the year ended 31 December 2021, the aggregate

HBIEFERN  AEHZR_-F amount of interest received by the Group under

— NLEHELR B 5k v i U B &9 F Framework Loan Agreements 2019 was approximately

B EENA AKRM17,000,000 RMB17,000,000 (equivalent to approximately

gL (8% F 297%™ 21,000,000 HK$21,000,000).
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(D

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS

PURSUANT TO FRAMEWORK LOAN
AGREEMENTS 2019, STRATEGIC
COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2021 (Continued)

Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2018

On 29 November 2018, the Company renewed
the Strategic Cooperation Agreements with China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank”, a
subsidiary of CRI) and China Resources SZITIC Trust
Co., Ltd. (“CR Trust”, a subsidiary of CRI) respectively
for a term of three years from 1 January 2019 to
31 December 2021, pursuant to which CR Bank
has agreed to provide certain deposit and other
commercial banking services to the Group, and CR
Trust has agreed to provide certain financial services
and products to the Group (“Strategic Cooperation
Agreements 2018"”). CRI holds more than 50%
of the registered capital of CR Bank and CR Trust
respectively and thus CR Bank and CR Trust are
connected persons of the Company under the Listing
Rules. The connected transactions contemplated under
the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2018 will be
continuously carried out in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group, thus constituting
continuing connected transactions of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

The Group may open deposit accounts with the CR
Bank and freely deposit funds into or withdraw funds
from the CR Bank deposit accounts. The Group may
also engage CR Bank in other deposit businesses
to deposit funds such as call deposits. Any deposit
made with CR Bank under the Strategic Cooperation
Agreements 2018 will bear the same interest and be
on the same terms and conditions as would apply to
a similar deposit made by any other customer of the
bank, which rate(s) are determined with reference to
that published by the People’s Bank of China or such
other rates more preferential to the Company.

48 (%) AR 2 7 | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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PURSUANT TO FRAMEWORK LOAN
AGREEMENTS 2019, STRATEGIC
COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2021 (Continued)

The Group may use the commercial banking services
of CR Bank including but not limited to, credit
services, agency services, settlement services, cash
management services, financial consulting service,
wealth management products and other financial
services and products as agreed by the parties. Where
the People’s Bank of China or the China Banking
and Insurance Regulatory Commission of the PRC
provides for standard tariffs or charges in respect of
these services, such standard tariffs or charges will
apply. Reference will also be made to tariffs or charges
imposed or offered by other major commercial banks
on similar services in the same period. These services
will be provided on terms no less favourable than
terms available to other independent customers of CR
Bank engaging similar services.

The Group may use financial services and products
provided by CR Trust including, but not limited to,
cash management, asset management, custodian trust
loan services, equity cooperation, shares nominee
services, account receivable factoring services, buying
and resale consulting services, debenture underwriting
services and other trust and financial services.
Where the China Banking and Insurance Regulatory
Commission of the PRC provides for standard tariffs
or charges in respect of these services, such standard
tariffs or charges will apply. Reference will also be
made to tariffs or charges imposed or offered by other
major trust companies on similar services in the same
period. These services will be provided on terms no less
favourable than terms available to other independent
customers of CR Trust engaging similar services.

The proposed maximum daily deposit amount,
inclusive of interest payable, which may be placed by
the Group with CR Bank is RMB1,200,000,000 for
each of the three years ending 31 December 2019,
2020 and 2021.

—EF - —4%&F 3R | Annual Report 2021

99

LA EE

s1apjoyaleys Ing o]

>
=
i
i
[
[xd
o
=
=]
o
=
D
=
-]
D
o
<
D
=
=
D
=
(=]
-]

SEEh

Sjuawajelg jeroueuly



100

XEXH &)

(N

(F)EF=ZF—N

BEXEXRS (&)

FAE
W ZF-N\FHBS
WK =B —FHESED
Wz & BV 554K %)

Bz - —F+-_/F=+—
BIEFER » ARERAFKRTE
HRITHERZ 2B RitHRS
&8N 4 AR M602,000,000
JC (T #4978 M 736,000,000
J0) 0 ZEFHM R B WA
R ARM4,000,0007T (8
T 497%™ 5,000,0007T) °

HLIHR 1T RALBE R A S H
RHENESRRS KT RIEE

HE(NEFR  TEELAE
BfFER T ERITHEBEFER
TNENEHRES ST T
EFNF T _FFRK
—E-—F+=—BA=+—H
EH=ANFEZTERNARD
1,200,000,0007T ©

BE_T-_—F+t-A=+—
AIEFER - ARBHTER
HRRITRAETDEEARED
EREBRS R~ M L
B xRS K= £ AR
EfAE -

tEFSAALTT =2 N
E+—A-tARFTEZA

P==3

= °

TE - —F BRI
—E-—%+—H+AhH"
BT T N\FEEREA EHIX
BFZE——F+=-—RA=+—
BE®  AXalnil 5L @R
TRABEIELRE KA ED
W HRHYNE T —F—
A—HZE-_ZFT_-_WWFE+ - A
=t+t—HIEN=ANEE(=ZE
Z—FHREEENI]) c BT
LEHIRD AR A B (4L EER
(BARAHZERER) (IR A
Ao R EEBAELHETR
B EBEEBEREIMRERY
70.28% N 51% » tiR4E £
M - ER 1T MAEEE D
NARRBHREAL -

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS

PURSUANT TO FRAMEWORK LOAN
AGREEMENTS 2019, STRATEGIC
COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2021 (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the maximum
daily aggregate amount of outstanding deposits
placed by the Group with CR Bank was approximately
RMB602,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$
736,000,000), and the aggregate interest income
arising from such deposits was approximately
RMB4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$5,000,000)

The proposed maximum daily amount of the financial
services and products provided by CR Bank and CR
Trust to the Group on an aggregated basis (for the
avoidance of doubt, excluding the daily deposit
amount placed by the Group with CR Bank) is
RMB1,200,000,000 for each of the three years ending
31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did
not use any financial services and products provided
by CR Bank or CR Trust, nor incurred any fees and
commissions therefor.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 29 November 2018.

Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2021

On 19 November 2021, as the Strategic Cooperation
Agreements 2018 were due to expire on 31
December 2021, the Company renewed the Strategic
Cooperation Agreements with CR Bank and CR Trust
respectively for a term of three years from 1 January
2022 to 31 December 2024 (“Strategic Cooperation
Agreements 2021"). China Resources Inc. (being
the holding company of CRH, which in turn, is a
controlling shareholder of the Company) is directly
interested in approximately 70.28% and indirectly
interested in 51% of the registered capital of CR Bank
and CR Trust respectively, CR Bank and CR Trust are
connected persons of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

48 (%) AR 2 7 | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2021 (Continued)

The Group may open deposit accounts with the CR
Bank and freely deposit funds into or withdraw funds
from the CR Bank deposit accounts. The Group may
also engage CR Bank in other deposit businesses to
deposit funds such as call deposits. Any deposit made
with CR Bank under these arrangements will bear the
same interest and be on the same terms and conditions
as would apply to a similar deposit made by any other
customer of the bank, which rate(s) are determined
with reference to that published by the People’s Bank
of China or such other rates more preferential to the
Company.

Other than deposit businesses, the Group may use
the commercial banking services of CR Bank including
but not limited to, credit services, agency services,
settlement services, cash management services,
financial consulting service, other financial services
and products as agreed by the parties. Where the
People’s Bank of China or the China Banking and
Insurance Regulatory Commission of the PRC provides
for standard tariffs or charges in respect of these
services, such standard tariffs or charges will apply.
Reference will also be made to tariffs or charges
imposed or offered by other major commercial banks
on similar services in the same period. These services
will be provided on terms no less favourable than
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS

(N

(B)

PURSUANT TO FRAMEWORK LOAN
AGREEMENTS 2019, STRATEGIC
COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
2021 (Continued)

The proposed maximum daily deposit amount,
inclusive of interest payable which may be placed by
the Group with CR Bank for the term of the Strategic
Cooperation Agreement 2021 is RMB1,400,000,000
for each of the three years ending 31 December 2022,
2023 and 2024.

The proposed maximum daily amount of financial
services and products provided by CR Bank and CR
Trust to the Group on an aggregated basis (for the
avoidance of doubt, excluding the daily deposit
amount placed by the Group with CR Bank) for the
term of the Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2021 is
RMB1,400,000,000 for each of the three years ending
31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 19 November 2021.

BEER SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT
2020

On 3 December 2020, the Company renewed
the beer supply framework agreement with CRH,
pursuant to which the Group agreed to supply
beer products to CRH Group for three years
commencing from 1 January 2021 to 31 December
2023 ("Beer Supply Framework Agreement 2020").
The Group agreed to supply its beer products to
CRH Group from time to time for the purposes of
retail and distribution of the same by CRH Group.
The transactions shall be conducted on normal
commercial terms and the terms, as a whole, shall
be no more favorable than those terms offered to
independent third party retailers and distributors of
the Group in relation to the supply of beer products
of similar nature and quality. The price of the supply
of beer products shall be determined by reference
to the prevailing market price for transactions of
similar nature and subject to the internal control
measures. It is estimated that the maximum amount

48 (%) AR 2 7 | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(N

(B)

(@

BEER SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT
2020 (Continued)

of purchases to be made by CRH Group under the
Beer Supply Framework Agreement 2020 will not
exceed RMB358,000,000, RMB366,000,000 and
RMB374,000,000 respectively for the three years
ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 as set
out in the announcement issued by the Company on
3 December 2020. As CRH is the indirect controlling
shareholder of the Company and thus a connected
person of the Company. Accordingly, the Beer Supply
Framework Agreement 2020 and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 3 December 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the aggregate
amount of purchases made by CRH Group from the
Group under the Beer Supply Framework Agreement
2020 was approximately RMB33,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$39,000,000).

LEASING FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

On 19 August 2020, the Company entered into
the Framework Agreement with CRH to govern
the leases for a period from 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2022 (“Leasing Framework Agreement”).
The CRH Group (as landlord) may, from time to
time, lease premises in the PRC and Hong Kong,
predominantly offices, to the Group (as tenant) for
its daily operations. The Group shall determine the
rent payable for each of the leases after arm’s length
negotiations with the CRH Group based on normal
commercial principles with reference to market rent
and other factors such as floor area, location and
the type of premises being leased to ensure the rent
payable under each of the leases does not exceed the
rent payable by or to be charged by independent third
parties in respect of the same or similar premises.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(N

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(C©) LEASING FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT
(Continued)

The proposed annual caps for the total value of right-
of-use assets related to the leases which has been or to
be entered into in the three years ending 31 December
2020, 2021 and 2022 will be RMB121,000,000,
RMB94,000,000 and RMB94,000,000, respectively.

As CRH is the intermediate holding company of the
Company, CRH is a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. The connected transactions
contemplated under the Leasing Framework
Agreement will be continuously carried out in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group,
thus constituting continuing connected transactions of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 19 August 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total
value of right-of-use assets related to the leases
which has been entered into by the Group under the
Leasing Framework Agreement was approximately
RMB13,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$16,000,000.

The aforementioned continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the Framework Loan Agreements
2019, Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2018, Strategic
Cooperation Agreements 2021, the Beer Supply Framework
Agreement 2020 and Leasing Framework Agreement
constituted non-exempt continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules and are therefore subject to annual
review by the Independent Non-executive Directors and the
auditor of the Company.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised), Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and
with reference to Practice Note 740, Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by
the Group on pages 96 to 104 of this Annual Report in
accordance with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56. A copy of
the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed these transactions and confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(D

(1)

(a)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

on normal commercial terms or better; and

in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(A) THE JV AGREEMENT, THE RELOCATION

COMPENSATION AGREEMENT AND THE
CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT

On 22 January 2021, in order to upgrade several
parcels of land located at Shenzhen owned by
the Group (“Land”) from general industrial use to
general industrial and emerging industrial uses and
develop the Land, the Company through its wholly-
owned subsidiaries (including China Resources Snow
Breweries (China) Investment Co., Ltd. (“CR Snow
Investment”) and China Resources Snow Breweries
(China) Co., Ltd. (“CR Snow"), entered into the
following agreements with the wholly-owned
subsidiaries of CR Land (including Shenzhen Runtou
Consulting Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Runtou”) and
China Resources Land Urban Operation Management
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“CR Land Shenzhen”)): (1) the
JV Agreement; (2) the Relocation Compensation
Agreement and (3) the Construction Agreement
(collectively, the “Agreements”).
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(Il) CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(A) THE JV AGREEMENT, THE RELOCATION

COMPENSATION AGREEMENT AND THE
CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT (Continued)

According to the JV Agreement, each of CR Snow
Investment and Shenzhen Runtou committed to inject
capital of RMB500 million to the joint venture to be
established, namely Shenzhen Runxue Industrial Co.,
Ltd* CRIITHEZ R BR AR, the “JV”). Upon the
formation of the JV on 26 April 2021, each of CR Snow
Investment and Shenzhen Runtou injected RMB50
million and therefore owned 50% equity interest
of the JV respectively. The JV is responsible for the
demolition of the existing building and relocation of
the Land, as well as applying to Shenzhen government
together with CR Snow for land modification of
the Land pursuant to the Relocation Compensation
Agreement. The land modification involves the
de-registration of the title certificate of the Land and
modification of the Land for general industrial and
emerging industrial uses with the relevant authority of
Shenzhen government.

The formation of JV pursuant to the JV Agreement and
disposal of Land to the JV pursuant to the Relocation
Compensation Agreement were completed after
obtaining the approval from Shenzhen government
in the first half of 2021. According to the Relocation
Compensation Agreement, the Group would be
entitled to a preliminary amount of compensation
of RMB4,650 million. If the final selling prices of the
properties exceeds RMB15,933 million, the Group
will be entitled to an extra consideration equal to
30.29% based on the excess of the final selling price
and RMB15,775 million. If the final selling prices of
the properties are below RMB15,617 million, the final
consideration will be reduced by an amount equal to
30.29% on the difference of RMB15,775 million and
the final selling price. The consideration will be settled
by installments based on the proportion of the floor
areas of properties sold to the total saleable floor areas
of properties. The completion date of the construction
is expected to be beginning of 2025 and the first
settlement payment of consideration is expected to
be received by CR Snow from the JV in 2026. Due to
the completion of the disposal of the Land to the JV,
profit on disposal of land to a joint venture, which
amounted to approximately RMB1,755 million, had
been recognised as other income and gains in the
Group's consolidated profit and loss account for the
year ended 31 December 2021. Further details are set
out in Note 7 and Note 22 to the financial statements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(I) CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(A) THE JV AGREEMENT, THE RELOCATION
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COMPENSATION AGREEMENT AND THE
CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT (Continued)

Once the Land has been upgraded for general
industrial and emerging industrial uses, CR Snow will
be granted part of the Land (“Snow Brewery Land”)
while the JV will be granted with another part of the
Land (“JV Land”). CR Snow will use the Snow Brewery
Land as the headquarters, R&D centre, craft brewery
and employees’ dormitories of CR Snow, as well as for
the construction of the beer museum pursuant to the
Construction Agreement. CR Snow will appoint CR
Land Shenzhen as the project manager on its behalf
in relation to the construction and development of
the Snow Brewery Land (excluding the craft brewery)
(“Project”) pursuant to the Construction Agreement.
The service fees charged by CR Land Shenzhen
thereunder shall be 3% of the total construction of the
Project. Pursuant to the Construction Agreement, CR
Land Shenzhen has provided CR Snow with a letter of
performance guarantee with a maximum guarantee
amount of RMB30 million. The validity of such letter
has commenced from the date of such letter of 2 June
2021 until 10 May 2024.

The JV will use the JV Land as a complex consisting of

ER—NEDLNZE By offices, commercial properties, factories, recreational
s TR KRR BT facilities, supermarkets, restaurants and bars etc.,
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which will be subject to sale and leasing. According
to the JV Agreement, the profits/losses after taxation
in respect of the JV shall be shared by Shenzhen
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HAERANTIUBEERZHER shareholder loan to the JV. Further details are set out
BEEHMEZEHNART250H in Note 20A and Note 32 to the financial statements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(Il) CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(A) THE JV AGREEMENT, THE RELOCATION

COMPENSATION AGREEMENT AND THE
CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT (Continued)

By virtue of CRC being the controlling shareholder of
both the Group and the group of CR Land (“CR Land
Group”), CR Land Group is an associate of a connected
person of the Group under the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constitute connected
transactions of the Group under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.81 of the Listing Rules, the
transactions contemplated under the Agreements shall
be aggregated given (i) the Agreements are or will be
entered into by the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company and the wholly-owned subsidiaries of CR
Land; (ii) the transactions thereunder will be entered
into within a 12-month period; (iii) the transactions
involve the construction and development of the
Land. As the applicable percentage ratios stipulated
under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules in respect of the
transactions contemplated under the Agreements,
on an aggregated basis, are more than 5% but less
than 25%, the transactions thereunder constitute
discloseable and connected transactions, which are
subject to annual reporting, announcement and the
Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14 and Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company published on 22 January 2021 and the
circular of the Company published on 8 March 2021.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(Il) CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(B) ESTABLISHMENT OF A PARTNERSHIP

On 26 April 2021, CR Snow Investment, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, has entered
into a partnership agreement with Zhuhai Henggin
Runchuang Investment Enterprise (Limited
Partnership)* (B8 Z H ol & & Bl (BRE X),

"Henggin Runchuang"), Shenzhen Bohui Asset
Management Company Limited* CR I T 18 2 & 5~
EIEAEMR A, "Shenzhen Bohui") and Shenzhen
Feihongzhuxin Investment Enterprise (Limited
Partnership)* CRII ¥ RREIRE (B REK),
"Feihongzhuxin") (the "Partnership Agreement") in
relation to the establishment of the partnership i.e.
Runhui Investment (Shenzhen) Enterprise (Limited
Partnership)* CEZE & & ORI (BRE X)) (the
"Partnership"). The total capital contribution by all
partners to the Partnership shall be RMB500 million
of which CR Snow Breweries Investment, Henggin
Runchuang, Shenzhen Bohui and Feihongzhuxin
shall contribute RMB150 million, RMB50 million,
RMB100,000 and RMB299.9 million respectively.
The Partnership will principally be investing in
the following underlying assets: (1) inefficient
assets of CR Snow Investment, including but not
limited to the land use rights and/or buildings and
facilities located on the land of factories which
have suspended operations due to adjustments in
production capacity; and/or (2) such other inefficient
assets of CR Snow Investment as the Risk Control
Committee may approve. The term of the Partnership
is Seven (7) years from the date the business license
of the Partnership is issued (subject to extension or
shortening of the term under terms of the Partnership
Agreement).
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(I) CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(B) ESTABLISHMENT OF A PARTNERSHIP
(Continued)

CRH is a controlling shareholder of the Company and
thus a connected person of the Company. As Henggin
Runchuang is an indirect subsidiary of CRH, it is an
associate of CRH and thus a connected person of the
Company. Accordingly, the Partnership Agreement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder (i.e.
the establishment of the Partnership) constitute a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. As all of the applicable
percentage ratios as defined under Rule 14.07 of the
Listing Rules in respect of the Partnership Agreement
exceed 0.1% but are all less than 5%, the transactions
contemplated thereunder (i.e. the establishment of
the Partnership) are subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements but are exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement set
out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 26 April 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, CR Snow
Investment, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, has paid the capital contribution of
RMB102,000,000 under the Partnership Agreement.
Further details are set out in Note 20A to the financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above, a summary of material related party
transactions made during the year, which included the abovesaid
connected transactions of the Company, is disclosed in Note 32
to the financial statements. Save for the transactions disclosed
above, none of the related party transactions as disclosed in
Note 32 to the financial statements constitutes connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction that is subject to,
among other things, reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. To the extent that the Group’s related party
transactions constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in the Listing Rules, the
Company had complied with the relevant requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars regarding the principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2021 are set out in Note 34 to the financial statements.

HSERE (FA%) AR A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, the subsidiaries of its parent company, or its parent
company a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors, as at the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company's issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the respective percentage of the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers and
the aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was less than 30% of the Group’'s total value of
purchases and total turnover.

AUDITOR

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 May
2020, Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers retrieved as the auditor
of the Company and Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu was
appointed as the new auditor of the Company.

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and being eligible offer themselves for re-

appointment.

*  For identification purposes only

On behalf of the Board
HOU XIAOHAI
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte

BEARERR)ARLTEA
(FEEIMAELE)FR 2 A])

=

BHATE T i 4R EE (A% ) B R A A (A
TR IRAE ) REME QR (A RER
HEHR DIEHTFEI121 2201 AN EA M
SHE  EEFT T -_—F+_A=+—
HNGAEREFARKSHEZBLEFERD
ZAEBRR ZEL2EKRER  ZABRE
NEZHRREEBUESRER - AREE
WEIREMDE - BEEELUTBREREE -

BAVAR - ZEHZAMSRRORERE
MR AR EM S IHEEN)E
KM EHERT REAT T ——F
T A=+—HNSEEMSRRALEEHE
ZELEFENGZEMSRIAREARADR
E - AREREFB(QRAFZRIDIZALE -

=0 aY &6l

BINEREFEITMAMAHEES
THEMIEITEI o FTAVEZFEN T AE
MEECDEARE [RBRMAFITRAY
SIREABENTE |B D FIEHE— T ER -
REFEFBE2ITMRA2MHHCE AL 21D
BRESTNYATER TN - FATIRZ
T Hf&H ACBOTTUHROHEMBET L

EBERME - BAEE - BAFRENFIT
EIL 7 B BB S N AT & 1T E iR
FEELRY o

XEWitFEW
KEFITERBBRAEO T AL HE - A
ARNFREEVMSHENT IR NEEL
R o XEFHRERNF T EGEE M
SMERREAT N #ITLAEH - BT
SN XL ETURE LM T I ©

=2

To the Members of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 121 to 201, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated statement of profit
and loss account, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Key audit matter

R R E T

Impairment assessment of goodwill
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We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
balance of goodwill to the Group's total assets and
the significant degree of judgement and assumptions
made by the group management in determining the
value in use of the cash-generating unit (“CGU").
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As at 31 December 2021, the Group had goodwill
of RMB9,250 million which arose from acquisitions
of businesses that are engaged in the manufacture,
sales and distribution of beer products in previous
years. The carrying amount of goodwill was allocated
to the relevant CGUs in various regional segments
including eastern region of RMB3,184 million, central
region of RMB824 million and southern region of
RMB5,242 million as disclosed in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements. Management
conducted an impairment assessment by comparing
the recoverable amounts of the CGUs which is
estimated based on value in use calculation, with
their carrying amounts.
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The value in use calculation requires the management
of the group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the CGUs, which includes key
assumptions and judgement on cash flow forecasts,
including revenue growth rate beyond the five years’
financial budget and the discount rates as disclosed
in notes 3A and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Based on the impairment assessment performed by
management, no impairment has been recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BB XBENREITHNETF B
Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill included:
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o Obtaining an understanding of the key controls
of the Group over the impairment assessment
process on goodwill including the preparation
of cash flow forecasts and related significant
assumptions;

J HEI &R ETONE RN ATEMN B/ SAE
RUEN - BN S BB
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o Assessing whether the principles and integrity
of the cash flow forecast is in accordance
with the relevant accounting standards and
comparing the forecast with the budgets
approved by the Board of Directors;

s BARAFEMNERULGS E—FHRENASRE
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o Comparing the actual results for the current
year with the management’s cash flow
projections prepared in the previous year, on
a sample basis, to evaluate the reliability of
management’s budgeting process;

. ZRNBHELT R  BESEFMTLRIEHR
THB - WREERERBTLLERNSIEN

o Engaging our internal valuation specialist to
analyse the reasonableness of the discount rate
adopted by the management by comparing to
the economic and industry data;

e BRFHNMSMEZEOHMITRAZ KRS
A GHANE S0 FAEEN S RNETH
B MERAFRAMSME 2 Bt kA E K
EHEEME &

o Assessing the reasonableness of the expected
revenue growth rates beyond the five
years' financial budget by comparing to
relevant market researches and the financial
performance of competitors; and

o NWARBRHTHEHRMUSN  BEAFHMS
M 2 G It Y ASB R EMATLE X - DA
HEXWEE  HFITHEEREHITREKRS

o Performing sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions including expected revenue
growth rates beyond the five years’ financial
budget and discount rate to evaluate the
magnitude of their impacts and assess whether
impairment provision would have been
required.
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XBEWitED

Key audit matter

B F ™R ERRE o R ET
Impairment assessment of fixed assets and
right-of-use assets

AU LT E RO BN FERE
B RERRE~(THEXE~])
HItED - ANBEXRERNBEE TS
B Uk REREREEWMERXRINER”
B AMER S RERAMAERIR ©

We identified the impairment assessment of fixed
assets and right-of-use assets based on value in
use calculation as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balances to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the significant
degree of judgement and assumptions made by the
group management in determining the value in use
of the cash-generating unit (“CGU").

¢ H

ﬁm)ﬂﬁﬁfﬁm/\ﬁ/\ﬁfﬁw 096E ( =)
AR E M EBLN) © AEEF@Q%?{%FH@\
BEEE AN R AR 0R B2 - x4
KRBT T RETERY ©

As disclosed in notes 16 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had fixed assets
and right-of-use assets with an aggregate carrying
amount of RMB17,096 million (including those
under loss-marking CGUs) as at 31 December 2021.
Management conducted an impairment assessment
by estimating the recoverable amounts of the
relevant CGUs based on value in use calculation.

ERANMEREEZR RERAEEEGHUTITREINE
ﬁFifﬁ{ﬁE}‘]ﬂi%fAi/m HEheEIemE e
AEERIRMAN - BRERAFHMSHNEZ EHOMitK
A SR L 3 o

The value in use calculation requires the management
of the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the CGUs, which includes key
assumptions and judgement on cash flow forecasts,
including expected revenue growth rate beyond the
five years’ financial budget and the discount rates.

BREAEIMENG R  BEAERERNAERES
MHI SR E LA MBIARES R o

Based on the result of the impairment assessment,
there was no impairment loss recognised in respect
of the fixed assets and right-of-use assets for those
loss making CGUs.

BENHEitmmLEXREITER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BB RBREETERNEGRENREITHOIE
FrE45 -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of fixed assets and right-of-use assets
included:

e TR JREHAXNEXASBEFEIEA KR
=Hl - B BREREERRESHIASREM
W%ﬂﬂm%ékﬁ& FREADRETNE

RENFEBEERRFRMERTEN - F B

/J”U’ﬁﬁﬁ):%tt/ﬁﬂ’ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁtth ;

o Obtaining an understanding of the key controls
of the Group over the impairment assessment
process on fixed assets and right-of-use assets
including the preparation of cash flow forecasts
and related significant assumptions;

J T & 7% 2 U”JE'JJ?J"“WDEE MRS
R2EN - FBWMNE REHAEREAE
WIMEHITLL R

o Assessing whether the principles and integrity
of the cash flow forecast is in accordance
with the relevant accounting standards and
comparing the forecast with the budgets
approved by the Board of Directors;

. BAFEMZRLSASE—FRHNNLRE
BHTRR LS PSR 06

o Comparing the actual results for the current
year with the management’s cash flow
projections prepared in the previous year, on
a sample basis, to evaluate the reliability of
management’s budgeting process;

o BAEFEMSTEZEOTHRAL KR SH
5 55 M 35 2 ) F AN G I 25 R DL AT HL A
HEZETIHRAE KNS EIE

o Assessing the reasonableness of the expected
revenue growth rates beyond the five years’
financial budget by comparing to market
researches and the financial performance of
competitors;

J W T iE R 5257 M7l Bl i 17 H BSR M 15t
FribEx; &

o Testing the discount rate by comparing to the
economic and industry data; and

o NWARBRHITEHRMUSN  BEAFHVS
ﬁ%ZFmﬁﬁWA?ﬁTﬂﬁt$vuﬁﬁ
%%W&F FiTE AR R 2 HITIINAELK
H

o Performing sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions including expected revenue
growth rates beyond the five years’ financial
budget and discount rate to evaluate the
magnitude of their impacts and assess whether
additional impairment provision would have
been required.
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ZEEBNNEEMSHRROETIT - FATH
RIERHBEMES @ HHEEF - BE
HMERRESZAaMSHMRATNNES
WEBEFATHRNERFEEARMKE
UFHFEEREIRFARNBR o £ T HA)
EHRITHITE  MRBENVANEMBERF
EERHIREGE - RINFEREZFX -
FEXTE - BAVRBERRE -

EFRAEERGEUSKRERK
HEBFE

RRFEEMARTREETR2IHITLZ2M
WmEKEBEMSIREEN) REB(AAF
PUBFEEMPENEEMSRE - HX
HIANANEZEMSREROUE N FEH
TEIFR IR S B EKRE IXEOEAFR
BV BRI I AR

ELEEAMSHERe  EF0T W
i REBAFLRLENESD  FEEHB
MIRBEEFLREERRNEY - UARE
ARSKLENIUTEM  RFEEFEE
B REHAFERFLLE  HHTHEM
KERBRITER

AREAREE REHNMSHRERE -

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

—EF - —4%&F 3R | Annual Report 2021
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BB FIT S WSRERKIE
M= E

BAMBIR  RHGAMSREEARE
FHEERTRIFNERMSBNEAER
FRA RS SRR - FHABERNENL
MR E - RATURBEE(ARR
1) F 4055 1@ T (1R B4R ) 15 Hodl)
VB B2 RIREREL BB -
BEMNT 2R AIRE A D MERME AL
U ERAEBE@MRE - ABRRIELEKT
HRIE + B BERIEZ BB BT IEN)
HATHE I X —EAHERFA TR
BRI o HIRPRR AT A B R IF R AR IR B
2 MREETRATAN L SRR
BEFMEEMSRREMAERREENS
RERAMERMEFIRTE - WA 0 iIRER
RAEHLIEER

ERFE(EAFIHEN) #ITFITH TR
B BANEAT R AL - REFT T AN
BESE o BAIR

o RFIAIFE B TRIFRE IR S BLR
EMSHREFEEAE XRERHN
b+ 1R R AT E TR AP A RO X L&
KB - ARRERFE R MG L B & it E
iE - tEAFAE R EAL - BT HOF
Agr ke hE BERERR E
REsE - RS TAMEN 2 L - B
SEARBE R IABIF N S BB A IR
Bk XS TARERINAEIRN S
HOBABIRBFRBREG

o THREwIHAXKMAEHESH - Ai&it
EEMEITEF  BERRAFEN =&
SHREEHNERELRENL -

o N EEMXASITHRENRIMER
ER 2T EIT AR EEN SR -

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e SR (32 A% ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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BREOEETE - WA SRR
TREEN - BAVNGE L ZE T
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o FNEEMFIREOBMAIIRT A -
ZEMMAR > BREEE  UAREEW
FSHEREETERRRXZMED

o B SEHEMNSKESKLSIEDEHIN S
EERMAR - @IAMFIHEIL - A
BXZEAEMSHRREAKRBEL - TR
R REHTUHNTR - BEMHK
17 e BN FIHERAB L IRE -

FREMEIIN - HAISAREZR BT X
MEITSEE - AEZH EATIT AN
F - BRBAVET I IR A AR A
EERRRE -

BAOEEABRERRFH - HHARMNEN
BERBIMENERTLERESR  F5
A8 F Al B & IR H N R 2 R A
IR ENFA AR RAMEMEL - U REE
REVBERT » KERTT 3 LA KR BB 3R A
BrsetE i o

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

—EF - —4%&F 3R | Annual Report 2021
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MNERERAENEIF - HA1HEE DL
EUMNAPEEMSHRENTIUHRNE
2 - AR xR EIHE - TAVERHK
YR & PR X LEF I - BRADERER T
AWATHRBEXLED - RERKE LD
BRT - REEFRAERN R E B
K ETUSH A E fE REB I 7 £ 8 QR F
g BATVRE AR IR E FI@1ZE ©

HEARIRT ZHIPIRENFITTE AIKA

RERR -
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ok 2 it IE
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Tsang Yiu Chung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
24 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT *
H
H
[ g
—E-—% BT 3
2021 2020 e
(iD= ARBEART ARMBEAT
Notes RMB million RMB million
gl an Turnover 6 33,387 31,448
A4 EE AR Cost of sales (20,313) (19,373)
EF Gross profit 13,074 12,075
H A WA Kz Other income and gains 7 3,543 1,687 o
HERDHER Selling and distribution expenses (6,743) (6,123) =
1T R H A 2% A Administrative and other expenses (3,619) (4,419) =
P& EMRI REKENF] Share of results of joint ventures
Wb %R and an associate 20 (21) - s
B #N Finance costs 8 (19) (211) =
B 756 A A Profit before taxation 6,215 3,009 s
Fi 10 Taxation 13 (1,625) (915) 5
FEFEEF Profit for the year 9 4,590 2,094
SET : Attributable to: -
KR RRE Shareholders of the Company 4,587 2,094
HE42 I AR R A AR Non-controlling interests 3 =
4,590 2,094 .
S
SREF Earnings per share 15 5
A Basic RMB1.41 RMBO.65 -
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SEEEB=ER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

—EZ—F —EEF
2021 2020
ARBBERART ARMBAT
RMB miillion RMB million
EEERF Profit for the year 4,590 2,094
Ht2m(ZH) &S : Other comprehensive (expenses)/
income:
AEESRERZZEA : Item that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss:
hee st MIRE N 255 Exchange differences on translation of
il L RER functional currency to presentation
currency (693) (1,426)
HERESXERZZEA : Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
BN 2 LR E S Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations 600 1,441
AR MMEITE B EZ it A Fair value adjustment on financial assets
HitZ e A ema =2 at fair value through other
NAoMNMERE comprehensive income 2 (1)
602 1,440
EEEHMLE(TH) Other comprehensive (expense)/
W& (BRI ) income for the year, net of tax (91) 14
FEELAKSET Total comprehensive income for the
year 4,499 2,108
SETF : Attributable to:
YNNI &N Shareholders of the Company 4,496 2,108
FEIR HIAR R A 2 Non-controlling interests 3 =
4,499 2,108

4 E R (A% ) BB A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

—B_—F ZEFF
2021 2020
B E ARTHEATRT ARMBRTT
Notes RMB million RMB million
RN &= Non-current assets
& 7E %% 7= Fixed assets 16 13,717 14,414
FERNE~ Right-of-use assets 17 3,379 3,367
BmE Goodwill 18 9,250 9,326
Hth TR 7= Other intangible assets 19 255 320
AT RECENT 2 Interests in joint ventures and
an associate 20 1,381 -
AR MEITE B E A Zhit A Financial assets at fair value through
Hinra Wam S sR = other comprehensive income 21 - 7
AARMEITEBEEFIT A Financial assets at fair value through
HHRENE R~ profit or loss 22 3,613 =
T IR Prepayments 23 175 106
12 SE R IR 72 Deferred taxation assets 27 3,368 2,858
ERFRITES Pledged bank deposits 18 =
35,156 30,398
A EE Current assets
F 5 Stocks 24 6,458 6,014
R 5 R H b v U FR IR Trade and other receivables 25 3,436 2,378
AR [E £ 10 Taxation recoverable 625 371
ERFRITER Pledged bank deposits 2 76
& RINEEND Cash and cash equivalents 5,376 4,538
15,897 13,377
ma) & Current liabilities
R 5 N EAth R A~ FIm Trade and other payables 26 (21,007) (19,327)
i Lease liabilities (71) (83)
IERESA Taxation payable (92) (162)
(21,170) (19,572)
iR RE Net current liabilities (5,273) (6,195)
BEERRDR G Total assets less current liabilities 29,883 24,203

—EF - —4%&F 3R | Annual Report 2021
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—B—F —E_FRF
2021 2020
Lipzs ARTHEATRT ARMBRTT
Notes RMB miillion RMB million

R E Non-current liabilities
FEE MR Lease liabilities (60) (117)
166 FE R I 57 5% Deferred taxation liabilities 27 (1,955) (788)
EIEmanfiia Other non-current liabilities 28 (3,379) (2,024)
(5,394) (2,929)
24,489 21,274

BERiEE Capital and reserves

i Share capital 29 14,090 14,090
iE& Reserves 10,342 7,127

FOFRFR ARG Equity attributable to
shareholders of the Company 24,432 21,217
ERFBRFERE Non-controlling interests 57 57
ERE Total equity 24,489 21,274

{®%8 HOU XIAOHAI
Z 2 Director

A SE 15T (#2338 ) B BR 22 & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

- S 3 ZEFF
2021 2020
iz ARTEAT ARTBEAT
Notes RMB miillion RMB million
SEETNMZHAETE Cash flows from operating
activities
ZEMGZAS Cash generated from operations 30A 6,270 5,628
BEAEBFEEH Hong Kong Profits Tax paid () ()
ENHRENATEE Chinese Mainland income tax paid (1,637) (1,455)
IR AR E R FT S FR Chinese Mainland income tax
refunded 364 309
BEFNZAERA ST Net cash from operating activities 4,995 4,480
BRRRDZASRE Cash flows from investing
activities
& B R T AT S 3R Proceeds from disposal of fixed
assets 226 384
=t Mgl o K 5 U Proceeds from disposal of financial
assets 7 -
B E Interest received 245 136
S AL YSEIN=Y Receipt of government grants 489 1,065
WEfE TR QB EH NS Repayment of loan to fellow
NGINE subsidiaries 3,600 2,000
BT HRBEENE LA Loan to fellow subsidiaries
TR (4,000) (3,600)
BTaEr TR Loan to a joint venture (250) =
TN B E & 7= Purchase of fixed assets (1,471) (1,047)
TEERIFR Investments in joint ventures (602) =
TEHREARDER Investment in an associate (650) =
FHUE BRI R Placement of short-term bank
deposits (400) =
B B HARIRITEETE Withdrawal of pledged bank
deposits 74 _
THREHRIFBRTES Placement of pledged bank
deposits (18) (8)
BRBEFMERAZAAE Net cash used in investing
activities (2,750) (1,070)
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—E-—fF

—E-EE

2021 2020
Lipzs ARTHEATRT ARMBRTT
Notes RMB miillion RMB million
MEFNZALRE Cash flows from financing
activities
BR% B Dividends paid 14 (1,281) (561)
EATHE A RIFEE ] Dividends paid to non-controlling
R R Z R & shareholders of subsidiaries 14 (3) -
2R A Interest paid (6) (56)
HERNRZ AL EH Principal elements of lease
payments 30B (76) (54)
kBIRTTREAMEDT Proceeds from bank and other
BT 1S M loans 308 - 1,469
ERBRIT R EME S Repayment of bank and other loans  30B - (1,995)
MBENERZ AL Net cash used in financing
activities (1,366) (1,197)
ANS RN & FEEM Net increase in cash and cash
equivalents 879 2,213
CRFEZ MW Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes (41) (15)
FT—HB—HBzU & EkIN4&%[E Cash and cash equivalents as
at 1 January 4,538 2,340
F+-A=+—HZHER Cash and cash equivalents as
MeEEHE at 31 December 5,376 4,538
NERMEFHEHERZOW Analysis of the balances of
cash and cash equivalents
Ne RBET4EE Cash and bank balances 4,776 3,538
H M RITER Other deposits with banks 600 1,000
5,376 4,538

e SR (32 A% ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE_Z-—F+-H=1—"HIEFE | For the year ended 31 December 2021
k)
BRRE
Non- B
FOFARFEERE controlling Total
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company interests equity
e fhEfRE TR R
Share  Valuation ~ Exchange Retained &it
capital reserve reserve profits Total
AETERT ABRMEAR ARBEAR ARGEALT ARFEAR ARGEAL ARFEAR
RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million  RMB million
F-E--£-f-H Asat 1 January 2021 14,090 2 (2332) 9,457 1,27 57 21,274
[Ez5 Exchange differences - - (93) - (93) - (93)
AARMETTZAETZITA  Fairvalue adjustment on
AGARENSEAT  financial assets at fair
ZRRNERE value through other
comprehensive income - 2 - - 2 - 2
RHEARNMEITEEETH  Release of valuation reserve
ARG AKERES  upon disposal of
REMEL 2 AERES financial assets at
fair value through other
comprehensive income - (4 - 4 - - -
TEERT Profit for the year - - - 4,587 4,587 3 4,590
AEELE(TM) /R84 Total comprehensive
(expenses)/income
for the year - ) (93) 4,591 4,496 3 4,499
SREARS Transactions with owners:
RE(WiE+m) Dividends (Note 14) - - - (1,281) (1,281) (3) (1,284)
F-E--E+-F=+—H Asat31 December 2021 14,090 - (2,425) 12,767 24,432 57 24,489
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i

G
Non- ot e
FATREM AN E controlling Total
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company interests equity
e [A{EHEE L% GREREN
Share Valuation Exchange Retained i
capital reserve reserve profits Total
ARMERT ARMEAT ARMEAT ARMAFR ARMEAT ARMAFL ARMAAL
RMB million ~ RMBmillion ~ RMBmilion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMB million ~ RMB million  RMB million
F-5-%£-F-H Asat 1 January 2020 14,090 3 (2,347) 7,924 19,670 57 19,727
(2R Exchange differences - - 15 - 15 - 15
WARNMETTZ BERSITA  Fair value adjustment
AFENERNS@AS o financial assets at
ZRRNERE fair value through other
comprehensive income - (1) - - (1) = (1)
REERT Profit for the year - - - 2,004 2,094 = 2,004
KEFLA(TH) /R85 Total comprehensive
(expenses)/income
for the year - (1) 15 2,094 2,108 - 2,108
SREARS Transactions with owners:
RE(HiE+m) Dividends (Note 14) - - - (561) (561) - (561)
F-E-FE+-F=+—H Asat31 December 2020 14,090 2 2332) 9,457 0,217 57 21,274
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—BREm

KRR T—RITEBEMKIL 2 £
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1.

GENERAL

The Company is a public company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The directors regard the ultimate holding
company to be China Resources Company Limited (“CRC"),
a company established in the Chinese Mainland. The address
of the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are changed from 39/F, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong to Room 2301 &
2310, 23/F., China Resources Building, No. 26 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"). The Group’s revenues and cash flows are primarily
generated from beer operation in China of which the
functional currency is RMB. In order to reduce the impact of
foreign exchange movements on reported results so as to
better reflect the underlying performance of the Group, the
consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB").

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing,
sales and distribution of beer products. The principal activity
of the Company is investment holding. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are detailed in Note 34.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA™). Except as specified in the principal accounting
policies as set out in Note 2, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention. Historical cost is generally based on the fair
value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements include

applicable disclosures required by the Listing Rules and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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GENERAL (Continued)

Taking into account the gearing ratio, historical and
expected future cash flows from operations and unutilised
available banking facilities of the Group, management
expected the Group has adequate resources to meet its
liabilities and commitment as and when they fall due and to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:
Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 — Phase 2
and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the
IFRS Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the
International Accounting Standards Board issued in June
2021 which clarified the costs an entity should include
as "estimated costs necessary to make the sale” when
determining the net realisable value of inventories.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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The Group has not early applied the following new standard,
amendments to existing standards and framework that have
been issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments®

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Venture*

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current

or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Disclosure of Accounting Policies®
Practice Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates?
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction®
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment -

Proceeds before Intended Use?

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract?

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-20202

Notes:

1. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

2. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

3. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

4. Effective for annual period beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

These new and amendments to HKFRSs are not expected to
have a material impact on the entity in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include
the financial statements of the Company and of all its
direct and indirect subsidiaries. The results of subsidiaries
acquired or disposed of during the year are included from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate. All material intra-group
transactions and balances have been eliminated on
consolidation.

Prior to 1 January 2010, increases in interests in existing
subsidiaries were treated in the same manner as the
acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill or a bargain
purchase gain being recognised where appropriate. For
decreases in interests in subsidiaries, regardless of whether
the disposals would result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries, the difference between the consideration
received and the carrying amount of the share of net assets
disposed of was recognised in the consolidated profit and
loss account.

From 1 January 2010 onward, changes in the Group’s
ownership interests in existing subsidiaries that do not
involve a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, with no impact on goodwill or profit or loss.
When control of subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction,
event or other circumstance, the Group derecognises all
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests at their
carrying amount. Any retained interest in the former
subsidiary is recognised at its fair value at the date the
control is lost, with the gain or loss arising recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss account.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. The
Group retrospectively adjusts the provisional amounts
recognised and also recognises additional assets or liabilities
during the measurement period, based on new information
obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed as
of the acquisition date. The measurement period ends on
twelves months from the date of the acquisition.

e SR (32 A% ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases. In the Company’s balance
sheet, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any
impairment loss. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary prior to 1
January 2010 represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill arising on
acquisition of a subsidiary on or after 1 January 2010
represents the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree, and the fair value of the previously held
equity interest in the acquiree over the net fair value of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting date and
whenever there is an indication that the cash generating
unit to which the goodwill relates may be impaired. Such
goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. An impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss account and is not reversed in a
subsequent period. On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary,
the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Prior to 1 January 2010, a discount on acquisition arising on
an acquisition of a subsidiary represents the excess of the
Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiary
at the date of acquisition over the cost of acquisition. Gain
on bargain purchase arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary
on or after 1 January 2010 represents the excess of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed over the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the fair value of the previously held equity
interest in the acquiree. Discount on acquisition or gain on
bargain purchase arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is
recognised immediately in the consolidated profit and loss
account.

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

e SR (32 A% ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of an associate and joint ventures
used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net
assets of the associate/joint venture other than profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted
for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group's
interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group's net investment in the associate or joint venture), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not
allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of
the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate
or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures
the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in the
associate or joint venture is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture.
In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would
be required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or
joint venture.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to
fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to use
the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss
the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate or joint venture are
recognised in the consolidated financial statements only to
the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that
are not related to the Group.

Classification and measurement of financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

- financial assets carried at amortised cost;
- financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI"); and

- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL").

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.
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(a)

(i)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Debt instruments

Classification is driven by the Group’s business model for
managing the debt instrument and the debt instrument’s
contractual cash flow characteristics.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in
other income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVOCI

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised
in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss. Interest income from these financial assets is included
in other income using the effective interest rate method.
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(a)

(i)

(ii)

(b)
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)
Financial assets at FVPL

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost
or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised in profit
or loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities
Financial liabilities at FVPL

Financial liabilities at FVPL are initially measured at fair value.
At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
financial liabilities at FVPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised directly in the consolidated
profit and loss account in the period in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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(c)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group). Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach in measuring expected credit losses prescribed by
HKFRS 9. Management considers the debtors do not contain
a significant financing component. Thus, the impairment
provision recognised during the year was equal to the
lifetime expected losses.

Impairment on other receivables are measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of other receivable have occurred since
initial recognition, the impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit losses.
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2.

(d)

(a)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset
measured at amortised cost, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in the consolidated
profit and loss account.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the valuation reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss
account.

Construction in progress

Property, plant and equipment in the course of construction
for production or administrative purposes, are carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Costs include
any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy.

No provision for depreciation is made on construction
in progress until such time when construction work is
complete and the costs of construction are transferred to
the appropriate category of fixed assets when available for
use.
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(b)

()

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other property, plant and equipment

Fixed assets other than construction in progress are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is
provided to write off the cost of the assets over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, using the straight line method.
The residual values and useful lives are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The
estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Buildings held for own use
- Leasehold improvements

20 to 40 years

3 to 10 years or over the
unexpired term of lease,
whichever is shorter

5 to 25 years

3 to 10 years

5 to 6 years

- Plant and machinery
- Furniture and equipment
- Motor vehicles

Impairment of fixed assets

At each balance sheet date, both internal and external
sources of information are considered to assess whether
there is any indication that fixed assets are impaired. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated and where relevant, an impairment loss
is recognised to reduce the asset to its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (“CGU") to which the asset belongs. A CGU
is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or group of assets. Such impairment losses are
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.
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2.

(c)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of fixed assets (Continued)

The calculation of recoverable amounts are using cash flow
forecast projections based on financial budgets approved
by management, cash flows covering five-year period are
extrapolated using the key assumptions including expected
revenue growth rates and a discount rate. A reasonably
possible change in a key assumption would not cause the
recoverable amount to fall below the carrying amount of the
respective CGU.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the assets is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount. Such reversal of
impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to the consolidated profit and loss account in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal or retirement of an item
of fixed asset is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding liabilities at the date at which the leased
assets are available for the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component and are accounted for by
applying other applicable standards.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from leases are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

- variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

- amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

- the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period. The lease payments are discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be
determined, the lessees’ incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in
a similar economic environment with similar terms and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

- where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received

e SR (32 A% ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

- the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liabilities;

- any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

- any initial direct costs; and

— restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The impairment of right-of-use assets is same as the
impairment of fixed assets stated in Note 2F(c).

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

- the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

- the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances
of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability,
less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

At initial recognition, other intangible assets acquired
separately and from business combinations are recognised
at cost and at fair value respectively. After initial recognition,
other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any. Other intangible assets with finite useful lives are stated
at cost and are amortised on the straight line method over
their useful lives with amortisation commences when the
asset is available for use. The estimated useful lives of other
intangible assets with finite useful lives are as follows:

Brand names 10 to 20 years
Trademarks rights 7.5 years

A&l | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
assessed for impairment at each balance sheet date by
comparing their carrying amounts with their recoverable
amounts. Other intangible assets with finite useful lives are
assessed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. Where impairment exists, an impairment
loss is charged to the consolidated profit and loss account
to reduce the assets to their recoverable amount. Where
an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the assets is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount. Such reversal of impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years.

The impairment of other intangible assets is same as the
impairment of fixed assets stated in Note 2F(c).

Current taxation

The current taxation charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is provided in full on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements, with limited exceptions. Deferred
taxation assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred
taxation is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled.

—EF - —4%&F 3R | Annual Report 2021

EEA S

dnolg ay| ynoqy

LA EE

s1apjoyaleys ing o]

3JUBUIBNOY alEJDdJGj

=
N
b
Of
|
—
=
I
=
=)
s
w
&
@
3
@
=
@

147



148

(if)

(iii)

FERITHER W
1B FER I (42 )
#®EBIEL IR AR KK E A FIR

BEEMNENZIELKS - BAE
oA AT 4% 1) G B 2= B0 MY 34 [B1 Y () 1 G A
EPERIMAERAIgE T2k E - N
BB IEFE I A G BR AN o

It ERAEEA T INE AR~ R
RARNEEE TR 5 8% E R DM
5 ANKH 2 A 5T EE B IR A
BTEANA~LBERAG - LR
?&%Fiﬂﬁﬁlﬁ?mﬁ)ﬂf?fﬂﬁﬁﬁ

CAEBENBREARR SN AE

B A1+/E)H|J 125 [FR3 B I E ©
SHEANAEFRERAGHERAOEN
MEF S EMEE T - FRUR

#%EtﬁﬂmAuﬁﬁ% > A
RE M2 7= E A HUR E i 5%
& o

4
SAEZREARITR G SR BUR 7~
SHPHMAGRE - BRERIA
= RIS R — B SR R — B R
PSSR A B IUA o + A 538 3
MR = SR EHEHRH -

FREBEEME  ZRMRERT
£t EH R o N ETHZAK
AME(BHRERAR THREHKED
PR o SR B0 TR TE R AET 45
SHEB) RAI R AERES 2RIE
EHINK -

FE 1l BB BC R 2 AN B R B B R
B BESIRARGES MDY 2 E7
A o

(i)

(iii)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Deferred taxation (Continued)

Deferred taxation liability is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except for
deferred taxation liability where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities. For leasing
transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Offsetting

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current taxation assets
against current taxation liabilities and when the deferred
taxation assets and liabilities relate to taxation levied to the
same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Stocks which comprise raw materials, consumables and
packing materials, work-in-progress and finished goods
are stated at the lower of cost (Include those costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of finished goods. Purchase
rebates are deducted in determining the cost of purchase)
and net realisable value.

Cost of work-in-progress and finished goods comprise direct
materials, direct labour cost and an appropriate proportion
of production overheads.

AL MR E ($2 8% ) B BE 22 & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Costs of inventories are determined on the weighted
average method. Net realisable value is determined as the
estimated net selling price less all further costs of production
and the related costs of marketing, selling and distribution.

Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When
the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as
income over the periods necessary to match the grant
on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to
compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the
fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is
released to the consolidated profit and loss account over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset.

Revenue is recognised based on the price specified in the
contract, net of the estimated volume rebates, allowances,
discounts, etc. Sales of goods (i.e. beer products are
recognised when the control of the goods is transferred to
the customer. Depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods may
transfer over time or at a point in time.

For sales contracts which the control of the goods is

transferred at a point in time, revenue is recognised when
the control of the goods is transferred to the customer.

—EF - —4%&F 3R | Annual Report 2021

EEA S

dnolg ay| ynoqy

LA EE

s1apjoyaleys ing o]

3JUBUIBNOY alEJDdJGj

=
N
b
Of
|
—
=
I
=
=)
s
w
&
@
3
@
=
@

149



150

FERITHER W

MEBETA T AT - M BIEHIR
T 55 -

-  SHREF R R SEER

WERZ FrBE Mt X

- ERERAKHEEHNESE

Bz B am 3K

- T2tlgAKHARERAR

2% MARRAER R
ARAKBMESEEABS 2
$05 -

fied 5% o 2 P2 A BB B B) #6750 - M am
SBETREZBATEZHEREY
HA - SN E S TESREX S
12 AR B T (B R IA

TEERSNKE @ MR DEE
K- KRESAE AL BEABRN
T -

SEFPERBMSREENE15S
BBE TEITEANN - KEANAE
FPUER A - HAERE P B

HIRHRS 2 BARE - ZFENFS
BORENGESFEFRTHAEN
i BURTRIRNASEHTEAN K
o RIRNANITEBIRTEY
REZITE  MWIAAEHNRE” - K
Z  WARTEAREZITEBIRT
NFZitE - MFIARE LR -

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Control of the goods is transferred over time if one of the
following criteria is met:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs; or

—  the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If control of the goods transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the
goods.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effect of a
financing component if it is significant.

Upon entering into a contract with a customer with the
scope of HKFRS 15, the Group obtains rights to receive
consideration from the customer and assumes performance
obligations to transfer goods or provide services to the
customer. The combination of those rights and performance
obligations gives rise to a net asset or a net liability
depending on the relationship between the remaining
rights and the performance obligations. Contract assets are
recognised if the measure of the remaining rights exceeds
the measure of the remaining performance obligations.
Conversely, contract liabilities are recognised if the measure
of the remaining performance obligations exceeds the
measure of the remaining rights.

e SR (32 A% ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

Borrowing costs are accounted for on the accrual basis and
charged to the consolidated profit and loss account in the
year incurred, except for costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of that assets, until such time
as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

Fees paid for the arrangement of syndicated loan facilities
and debt securities are deferred, and are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than
the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account in the
period in which they arise, except for exchange differences
arising on a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s
net investment in a foreign operation, in which case, such
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income in the consolidated financial statements. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance
sheet date, and their income and expenses are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
Group's exchange reserve. Such exchange differences are
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account in the
period which the foreign operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities
of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the exchange reserve.
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2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value of
the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made
by the Group in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’
carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in Note 2C. The Group conducted an impairment review
by comparing the recoverable amounts of the goodwill,
estimated based on value in use calculation, with their
carrying amounts. The key assumptions and judgements
adopted by management in the relevant discounted cash
flow forecasts included discount rates and expected revenue
growth rates beyond the five-year projection period.
Details of the key assumptions are disclosed in Note 18. In
performing this impairment review, the Group estimated the
present value of future cash flows of the CGUs based on the
conditions as at 31 December 2021.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

According to the accounting policies stated in Notes 2F(c)
and 2G, if impairment indicators exist on the CGUs to which
the assets belong, management conducted an impairment
review by estimating the recoverable amounts of the
relevant CGUs, using the higher of value in use calculation
and fair value less costs of disposal. The key assumptions
and judgements adopted by management in the relevant
discounted cash flow forecasts included discount rates
and revenue growth rates beyond the five-year projection
period, etc. In performing this impairment review, the Group
estimated the present value of future cash flows of the
CGUs based on the conditions as at 31 December 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss amounting to RMB3,611 million are
measured at level 3 fair value measurement with fair value
being determined based on significant unobservable inputs
using valuation techniques. Judgement and estimation are
required in establishing the relevant valuation techniques
and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions
relating to these factors could result in material adjustments
to the fair value of these instruments. See Note 22 for
further disclosures.
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to trade and other receivables and bank
balances.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk to
trade and other receivables as its customer bases are widely
spread across diverse geographical locations in China. The
Group has policies in place to ensure that open account
customers are financially viable and with an appropriate
credit history. To minimise its credit risk exposure, credit
evaluations are performed for the determination and
approval of credit limits granted and other monitoring
procedures are implemented to ensure that follow-up
actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
regular reviews on aging and recoverability are performed
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The Group’s exposure to trade and
other receivables is set out in Note 25.

In respect of bank deposits, the Group has procedures and
policies in place to ensure they are made to counterparties
with good credit rating.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of adequate committed
credit facilities to fund capital, prospective investment
opportunities, debt servicing obligations and dividend
payments. Management also closely monitors the Group's
rolling forecast and actual cash flows and maturity profiles
of financial liabilities.
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Taking into account the gearing ratio, historical and
expected future cash flows from operations and unutilised
available banking facilities of the Group, management
expected the Group has adequate resources to meet its
liabilities and commitment as and when they fall due and to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The following table details the outstanding contractual
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s lease
liabilities and trade and other payables (excluding contract
liabilities) which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
balance sheet date) and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay.

F-Z FIE BiT4xKN
—-5R | k- +41] Bdig HNRRERE KE(E
Total
contractual
Within Between 1 Between 2 Over5 undiscounted Carrying
Tyear  and2years to 5 years years cash flow Amount
AEFERT ABMEAT ABGEAT ARFEAR ARMEAT ARGEAR
RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million  RMB million
8- 2021
BEfEitE Fixed rate interest bearing
RRAR Lease liabilities (72) (31) (22) (25) (150) (131)
Fitk Non-interest bearing
RAREMNMAEIR Trade and other payables (14,134) - - - (14,134) (14,134)
st 23 2020
BEfEitE Fixed rate interest bearing
gl Lease liabilities (85) (54) (47 (29) (215) (200)
Fitk Non-interest bearing
RAREMNATIR Trade and other payables (11,876) - - - (11,876) (11,876)

AEFAZSERBRITEFLREAR
ARBXRHDANEFNEXR o KE
B MENSEDNMNERITEFE R
Ey_l %/}wiﬂjzﬂﬁﬁ © ﬁiﬁﬁﬂ$ﬂ
F REHLMEEEE TR EA
A%ﬁﬁ NS - FHEHHITARI

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to pledged bank deposits and lease liabilities. The
Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances. To cover interest rate
risk, the Group maintains the loan portfolio in a preferred
fixed/floating interest rate mix and review regularly.

4 E R (A% ) BB A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
balance sheet date to currency risk arising from recognised
assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the entity to which they relate.

—B-F —E-FE
2021 2020

BE fifk R i
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
ARTEAR ARTBERART ARMBERT ARMBERT
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
AR Renminbi 232 2,660 300 2,370
e US Dollars 111 - 205 =

TREFERARDEBTRETIHE
5% ARERNFM - RIRBTHE
TCRER FOL KB RN © 200 UK
BT BIE AN IHE Y 58 T I
B - FREIBELCH - ARBRSINTIC
RHW5%R) - EARMIEBTRE
TEMZ(ES% » X A 3k 5 55 7= £ 48
FEBRNEN

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
strengthening in Renminbi against Hong Kong Dollars and
US Dollars, assuming the pegged rate between Hong Kong
dollar and US dollar would be unaffected. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation
at year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. For a
5% weakening of Renminbi against Hong Kong Dollars and
US Dollars, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the profit or loss.

-5 —EEF

2021 2020

ARTBEAT ARMBERTT

RMB million RMB million

X 50 e e ) O 52 ) Effect on profit after tax (124) (105)

It 73 4T TOAR R R LR E M ARIR BT
BT o TRERBRAT - mipLERAL
BT - EERINNESTRARE
25 - ARHEERR KT IR
N o

This analysis is prepared by using certain assumptions on
a hypothetical situation. In reality, market exchange rates
would not change in isolation. In management’s opinion,
the analysis is used for reference purpose and should not be
considered a projection of the future profits or losses.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable
to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued capital,
reserves and retained profits as disclosed in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital, and will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the raise of bank loans
or the redemption of existing debt.

ELHFERSBEHE TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
—E-—% TR T4
2021 2020
ARBEAT ARTBRTT
RMB million RMB million

ELFSERETIEE Turnover comprises
ZWA : revenue from:
S B Sales of goods 33,387 31,448
.4
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6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
AREH/
RR FE ] bt &it
Eastern Central Southern Corporate/
region region region Elimination Total
ARTEAT ARMEAR ARGEAR ARMEAR ARGEAR
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
#E-F--%1-B For the year ended
Zt-ALFE 31 December 2021
Bl TURNOVER'
HoMEE External sales 16,599 7,913 8,875 - 33,387
PHEHEE Inter-segment sales 617 498 188 (1,303) -
At Total 17,216 8,411 9,063 (1,303) 33,387
SRl Segment result? 3,395 1,187 1,467 6,049
REHWOHARAETZE  Unallocated corporate expenses (58)
KA Interest income 243
SN Finance costs (19)
B#laiEs Profit before taxation 6,215
Giaalil Taxation (1,625)
FEEEH Profit for the year 4,590
F-8--% As at 31 December 2021
+ZA=+-H
BF ASSETS
ABR" Segment assets 28,313 7,545 10,979 46,837
B IERUA = Deferred taxation assets 3,368
ARERR Taxation recoverable 625
RENEHAFAEBRT  Unallocated corporate assets 223
RARFRE Consolidated total assets 51,053
ff LIABILITIES
ek Segment liabilities 13,628 5,921 4,948 24,497
R Taxation payable )
BIERI A Deferred taxation liabilities 1,955
FEHMAAAEDAR  Unallocated corporate liabilities 2
RAfifREE Consolidated total liabilities 26,564
RAfEH OTHER INFORMATION
REFRHA Additions to non-current assets® 901 392 373 5 1,671
billEnsé ] Depreciation and amortisation 867 390 381 3 1,641
EBAERAS R Impairment loss recognised
FERRETR for fixed assets and stocks 33 197 182 - 702

—EF - —4%&F 3R | Annual Report 2021
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N ElSERSBREH ) 6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
NARS/
KX X [ po:! A1t
Eastern Central Southern Corporate/
region region region Elimination Total
ARMBAL ARMBAT ARMBAT ARMBAT ARMEIR
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
BE_S_2E+ZAH For the year ended
=+-HLEE 31 December 2020
ElE TURNOVER'
TIMEE External sales 15,785 7,497 8,166 - 31,448
PEREE Inter-segment sales 584 390 186 (1,160) -
ol Total 16,369 7,887 8,352 (1,160) 31,448
Sl Segment result? 1,134 757 1312 3,203
REDME AT LML Unallocated corporate expenses (124)
HBKA Interest income 141
g Finance costs 1)
BHmEn Profit before taxation 3,009
B Taxation (915)
FEEHET Profit for the year 2,094
F-ECEE As at 31 December 2020
+ZA=+-H
B’E ASSETS
NE A= Segment assets 20,574 8,206 11,692 40,472
BERIA Deferred taxation assets 2,858
AREHT Taxation recoverable 371
FEDEHRABDRT  Unallocated corporate assets 74
BARFEE Consolidated total assets 43,775
fifE LIABILITIES
AR Segment liabilities 11,231 5,501 4,767 21,499
RAHER Taxation payable 16
BRI R Deferred taxation liabilities 788
REDBANFSHARK  Unallocated corporate liabilities 52
BRAREE Consolidated total liabilities 22,501
Rt # OTHER INFORMATION
AEIERDAS Additions to non-current assets? 528 357 102 24 1,011
ill=hes Depreciation and amortisation 943 416 379 8 1,746
BBNEERTRERAE Impairment loss recognised
L for fixed assets and stocks 420 390 159 - 969
BHE - Notes:
1. S FIR R QA EH AR — S 1. Turnover represents sales of beer products and was recognised at a

Bk FTHE T - FR T _TF
TZA=T—RHILFE EBFF-EE
HAREHHELEF10% °

2. 20 Bl S0 R AT A B A - WS ARAR R

B EI &7 ©

3. NE IR A - BIEEE R = REAR

point in time. There was no customer contributing over 10% of total
turnover of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2021 and

2020.

2. Segment result represents earnings before interest income, finance

costs and taxation.

3. Additions to non-current assets included fixed assets and right-of-use

assets.

e SE N (32 8% ) B BR A &) | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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. Etiilg A R & 7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS -

-5 —EFTEF

2021 2020

ARBEART AKTARAT

RMB million RMB million

HtgASE TS : Other income includes the

following: §
B A Interest income 243 141 =
B IAB AT+ B Government grants recognised 437 473 %%
H & BE R =TS RA Profit on disposal of fixed assets 50 = -
HELFAEERUFTSE  Profit on disposal of land to a =
AMHSE=+=) joint venture (Note 22) 1,755 - §
HERER AM L Profit on disposal of interests in f
153 F) leasehold land held for own use 52 53 =
=Rz Stk Sales of scrapped materials 249 208 g

WOREE A BA Bottles usage income 542 567

. _________________________J
N, MBS EF 8. FINANCE COSTS

>
g5 —EFEFF 5
2021 2020 B
ARBEART AKTBRAT _
RMB million RMB million =
ERAT 0T R R E Ath BT RF & Interests on bank loans and é
other loans - 50 3
5T A2 Interests on lease liabilities 6 6 =
g Financing charges 24 5 N

ALH () SR Net exchange (gain)/loss (11) 150

19 211
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h. xFERH

9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

— -5 —EFEFF
2021 2020
ARMEAT ARMEAT
RMB million RMB million
XEEZFIECMEETH Profit for the year has been
£I - arrived at after charging:
T < Auditors’ remuneration
—EZRSE - Audit services 11 10
—EFZRS — Non-audit services 4 -
A TR Staff costs
(BHREF) (including directors’ emoluments) 5,692 5,607
#r18 Depreciation
—BEETER” — Owned fixed assets 1,422 1,489
— AR — Right-of-use assets 154 193
H At T R 7= M4 Amortisation of other intangible
assets 65 64
EINVEES R Impairment loss recognised on
—BERT R~ — Owned fixed assets 300 574
— 175 - Stocks 402 395
AR EITTEBEZD) Change in fair value of financial
TTALHMER SRR~ assets at fair value through
(HE=4+=) profit or loss (Note 22) 29 =
LEBERTHMESHR Loss on disposal of fixed assets - 42
B & H MR Cost of goods sold 20,313 19,373
552 A ST AR < ) 22 B Expense relating to short-term leases 83 91
.
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EEZENEN G 10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS Z
EEME DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS g
- b S —E-FF
2021 2020
ARTEAR AETBELT
RMB million RMB million
we Fees 2.05 1.62 %
AR & MO Basic salaries and allowances 3.10 3.53 3
NS Provident fund contributions 0.18 0.21 s
ELT Bonus! 9.54 10.63
14.87 15.99 -
.4 =
he £fHS £
Fees Other Emoluments @
LYY ]
REE  AREHR “E°%F o
Basic  Provident &
Salaries and Fund £ &it 2020
Allowances  Contributions Bonus ! Total Total F'z
32— 2021 AEMERAT ARMEAR ARWMEAT ARMEAR ARMEAT ARDEAL Hﬂ}g
ul
Esti# Name of director RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million
=2 Hou Xiaohai - 179 0.08 486 6.73 847 g
Ba Wei Qiang’ - 0.88 0.08 238 334 - §
rk Lai Ni Hium, Frank 0.10 - - - 0.10 0.11 g
Richard Raymond Weissend®  Richard Raymond Weissend® 0.10 - - - 0.10 0.06 3
FFF Zhang Kaiyu?? - - - - - - =
i Tang Liging’ 0.02 - - - 0.02 -
BAT Houang Tai Ninh 037 - - - 037 028
By Li Ka Cheung, Eric 0.37 - - - 0.37 0.28
HER Cheng Mo Chi, Moses 0.36 - - - 0.36 0.28
Fag Bernard Chamwut Chan 036 - - - 036 028 =~
Fh Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon 037 - - - 037 028 "
5 Jian Y 2 0.07 £ 127 134 251 -
PR Lai Po Sing? -2 036 0.02 1.03 141 339 =
AL e Tuen-Muk Lai Shu?® 2 - - - - = S
Rudolf Gilsbert Servaas Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas g
van den Brink® van den Brink® - - - - - 0.05 =
At Total 205 310 0.18 9.54 1487 - 3
Sk 5 2020 1.62 3.53 0.21 10.63 - 15.99 z1
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4 R (PR A ) A R

EFEZREIRN & ()

BE

1. MIBELNSERFREZEE LS -
FIALTITHERIKRRFXTIHE uﬁ?&%@
o

2. AERZBXREEVSERHHAL
3. EEM S hh ELEHAE o

4, FEE_FE-_—F+=-RA=+—HIHF
B ETRRILESRSUEES BES
FREHIRRER - MeskiFfls : bx
FRNAK(ZE=ZFF : £) - ZBN
REEFRSNE=FRHER M AU
K(ZZ_FF: %) - REAFNTE
E e =) i/\l%&?&??%ﬁ’]ﬁ
Ao ERRIEMRG(ZFE T
) e MITESZZ2HMINAESFERAN
AIRAEHANEEMREZ RS KK -
FERTEERBTERTESZHM Y
MBEEENARRNBESAREZRSM
R o

5. Richard Raymond Weissend % 4 F —
E_TFEXNAZFTANBRZEMmM
Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas van den Brink4t
EFZE_FFRNA-FRAEE-

6. BEET-F-_—F+—ARBE#HMEFE-
7. EET_E-_—F+—ARBREE-

8. EEHET ARM10,0007T °

10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

Notes:

1. The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics
during both years.

2. Director fee for the year had been waived by respective directors.
3. The director’s emoluments were borne by CRC.
4. During the year ended 31 December 2021, no retirement benefits,

payments or benefits in respect of termination of directors’ services
were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any
payable (2020: Nil). No consideration was provided to or receivable
by third parties for making available directors’ services (2020: Nil).
There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the
directors, their controlled body corporate and connected entities
(2020: Nil). The emoluments of executive directors were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group. The emoluments of non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors were for their services as the
directors of the Company.

5. Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend was appointed on 26 June 2020 and
Mr. Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas van den Brink was resigned on 26 June

2020.
6. Directors resigned on 5 November 2021.
7. Directors appointed on 5 November 2021.

8. Amounts less than RMB10,000.

hEEHFER 11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
HE-_TS-_—F+-_A=+—HIF During the year ended 31 December 2021, the five highest
B hEGeFERBR—RES paid employees included one (2020: one) director, details
(ZZ2_FF: —F) " Tﬁi%@ﬂﬁﬁ of whose remunerations are set out in Note 10. The details
BETHET - B (ZF=F of the remunerations paid to the other four (2020: four)
F Mﬁ)%%ﬁ%mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁzwﬂ highest paid employees are as follows:
SEFEAT :
—E-—% =T
2021 2020
ARBERART ARMBEAT
RMB million RMB million
HEAR & KEM Basic salaries and allowances 3.43 3.56
N2 HK Provident fund contributions 0.33 0.34
TELL Bonus 20.36 16.25
24.12 20.15

A&l | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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EEA S

 hfiRSHFRER (&) 11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)
WA (ZEZFF : W6 &S 5 M

dnolg ay| ynoqy

The emoluments of these four (2020: four) highest paid

NFTHEE

individuals were within the following band:

A
No. of person
—E_—F —EFFF
2021 2020 w
s
ARM4,150,001 L& RMB4,150,001 to RMB4,565,000 =
AR 4,565,0007C (HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000) A
(75,000,001 -
7™M 5,500,0007T) - 2 5
ARM4,565,001 L& RMB4,565,001 to RMB4,980,000 2
A K 4,980,000 (HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000) if
(75,500,001 TE =
#6,000,0007T) - 1
ARM4,980,001 T E RMB4,980,001 to RMB5,395,000
ARM5,395,0007C (HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000) —
(7M6,000,0017TE
#5M6,500,0007T) - 1
ARM5,810,001 T E RMB5,810,001 to RMB6,225,000 i
AR 6,225,0007T (HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000) m
(#77,000,001 T & -
#mM7,500,0007T) 4 =

BRRAMN

AEHREZNHRBELERREASS
ZEFHEFORKI Y - 1ZF i 2R
FERKRARFDITER - FHIRL
BEZETHE - HFANRER R
EAFEZBEAMEITE - MER
RATEMER ZAEADE YR A LA
BRI 2 1K -

FZE=——F  HELKERASS5Z
TE AR L FOR R R LT T AR )& Uk
HH(ZEZFF : L) - At * FW
FH I B ERDERER - REEAE
WA AT B FRERERKE(ZE =
TE ) e

FEPMBRMBEARHE TEFENIRA
RIREZPRTANFEHLTAR
MIBATT -

12. STAFF PROVIDENT FUND

The Group operates various defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all Hong Kong employees.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
amount of contributions is based on a specified percentage
of the basic salary of employees and any forfeited
contributions in respect of unvested benefits of staff leavers
are used to reduce the Group’s contributions.

In 2021, no forfeited contributions under defined
contribution retirement schemes available to all Hong
Kong employees (2020: Nil). Accordingly, no forfeited
contribution was utilised during the year, and there was
no forfeited contribution available to reduce level of
contributions (2020: Nil).

The total cost charged to consolidated profit and loss
account in respect of Group contributions to staff provident
fund in Hong Kong amounted is less than RMB1 million for
both years.

—EF - —4%&F 3R | Annual Report 2021
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+Z.

PRAOVE

AREHERENBH R R E TR
BRiT BRE ENEREERIKE
MATXIRK R » AEREZMIZ TR
NETRRERDLER - ENRE
MAE - AEFENFIT B R
EEEXMEFEMH-RK -

—T——F EREEERKREMIT
QIR A REREHER(ZF=F
F:X) At FRHTHREMR
SRR - RITAERDRU KA AT
BRESKF(ZE_FF L) -

N EdRE R ERNHRKRITRMESRE
ek P HBRAERAYEARD
5568 A (ZE=FF : ARM106
BATT) °

12. STAFF PROVIDENT FUND (Continued)

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are
members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the respective local government in the Chinese
Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the schemes to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
these schemes is to make the specified contributions.

In 2021, no forfeited contributions under state-managed
retirement benefit schemes (2020: Nil). Accordingly, no
forfeited contribution was utilised during the year, and there
was no forfeited contribution available to reduce level of
contributions (2020: Nil).

The total cost charged to the consolidated profit and loss
account in respect of the above-mentioned schemes in the
Chinese Mainland amounted to approximately RMB556
million (2020: RMB106 million).

. IR 13. TAXATION

—E-—%F —EFF
2021 2020
ARBBERART ARMBAT
RMB million RMB million

FRE R #b FR 15 R Chinese Mainland income tax
REZ R Current taxation 955 1,101
16 JE 7 T Deferred taxation 670 (186)
1,625 915

BEFERIBREARFEE 2 B 1T AR
Ba MR E165% (ZF_FF -
16.5%)1T& °

FENHMNER R BB IIRER
A oK B 5508 B ik U B2 IR B0 Bl R
F-HE_T-_—F+-A=t—H
EEENERMEHRERN25%(ZF
—FE 1 25%) e

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2020: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits for the year.

Chinese Mainland income tax has been provided for based
on the estimated assessable profits in accordance with
the relevant tax laws applicable to the subsidiaries in the
Chinese Mainland. The applicable principal income tax rate
for the year ended 31 December 2021 is 25% (2020: 25%).

e SR (32 A% ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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EEA S

+2. B (%) 13. TAXATION (Continued) R
A — TR F - BIERE K R The effective tax rate is higher than the domestic rates S
B NEEB TE AT MR 3K R IR TR A E mentioned above as there were withholding tax on -
TY EHF S SRR KLE R AR undistributed profits and tax losses arising from certain
FEZ MAFTEHR - AEH B BF loss-making subsidiaries, including breweries which were
KT ERERABE - KEFH B KB determined to be closed down, of which no deferred tax
T A A 2 BLIUA Al FRIER A A X assets were recognised as the realisation of the related tax
EREAMEUE ZBICTT - 1¥15 benefit through the future taxable profits is not probable. ”
R The taxation on the Group’s profit before taxation differs g

from the theoretical amount that would arise using the =
domestic rates applicable to the country concerned as S
follows: °
- Skl 2 “E-TF =
2021 2020 =
ARFERTE  ARFEAT =
RMB million RMB million
BR A5 B A Profit before taxation 6,215 3,009 -
NEXREREAHRERITE2FH T Tax calculated at the domestic rates
applicable in the country concerned 1,554 752
A0k 2 X Expenses not deductible for R
taxation purposes 20 88 E;
EREMAERINZERIEZES  Utilisation of previously unrecognised o
temporary difference (287) (282) o
AEWAZBREEREZEF Tax losses and temporary difference %
not recognised 54 243 c
EF PR EZ T Under provision on taxation in %
previous year 59 7 -
Ko RFEZ M FSH Withholding tax on undistributed
profits 225 107
BT Taxation charge 1,625 915
.4
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14. DIVIDENDS

—B-—-F —EERE
2021 2020
ARTEAT ARMBEAT
RMB million RMB million
—E-—FENEIRATHERES 2021 interim dividend paid of RMB0.264
AR EAR A RM0.2647T per ordinary share (2020: RMB0.128)
ZZ-FF  ARM0.1287T) 856 415
“E-—FRUR AR ES 2021 proposed final dividend of
TR ARM0.3027T RMBO0.302 per ordinary share (2020:
—FE-FF: ARM0.1317T) RMBO.131) 980 425
1,836 840
.4

BPE

EARATFZT__F=A=-THAHETHNS
Wk EFARREREERLBRART
0302 (ZF =4 : ARMO0.1317T) ° R
BRETRANR THTESTCSNSBENT A
BREREITE ZEREHETREMSHRER
WINR AR - NREESAEMSIRETRBAR
AENOREEFERE_S_SFEMNRE
BRERZZEZ—FEMNPHRE  BTAAR
M1281BERFT(ZE_FF : ARMS61EA
T BEZE-NAFENRIRER=-Z=_F
FENFHBRE) R TARFZEFHIBRENZAR
M3BAT °

Note:

At the meeting held on 24 March 2022, the directors proposed final
dividend of RMB0.302 (2020: RMBO0.131) per ordinary share. This proposed
dividend, which is calculated on the Company’s number of ordinary shares
as at the date of the board meeting, is not recognised as a liability in these
consolidated financial statements. The total dividends paid by the Company,
including the final dividend for the year 2020 and the interim dividend for the
year 2021, amounted to RMB1,281 million (2020: the final dividend for the
year 2019 and the interim dividend for the year 2020, amounted to RMB561
million) and RMB3 million paid to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries
are reflected in the current year consolidated financial statements.

48 (2% ) B A 7 | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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ti. SRR 15. EARNINGS PER SHARE -
—B_—-fF —ECFF
2021 2020
AERTEHAR ARTBEAT
RMB million RMB million
SRREAREF THRE T3 The calculation of the basic
BiEITE : earnings per share is based on §
the following data: =
2% Earnings .
BUAtESRERBMB AT  Profit attributable to shareholders of =
R 2R B2 b Al the Company for the purposes of §
calculating basic earnings per share 4,587 2,094 =
L4 =
—EZ-%¥ —E-TE
2021 2020
Bin#E Number of shares
Rt E S RER R Weighted average number of ordinary
TR shares for the purpose of calculating .
basic earnings per share 3,244,176,905 3,244,176,905 E
. ____________________J g
2% —E-FE g
2021 2020 =
ARGR AR g
RMB RMB =
SREXERR Basic earnings per share 1.41 0.65 =
. ______________________J
BTN EESEH T RITEINZE No separate diluted earnings per share information has
LTOEAR c WH TR 2 R EER been presented as there were no potential ordinary shares
Mz &H o outstanding issue for both years.
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BIE&FE 16. FIXED ASSETS
K9l  fIBRIRE
Other property, plant and equipment
HR#F
Buildings ERIE Hi#ik e
held for ~ Construction Plant and e &it
ownuse inprogress  machinery Others Total
ARMBAT ARMEAT ARMBAL ARMAAT ARDEAT
RMB million ~ RMBmillion ~ RMB million ~ RMB million  RMB million
783 Cost
F-5-%%-3-H t 1 January 2020 10,688 639 20,039 1,056 32,422
fﬁ Additions 36 819 10 20 885
fe Disposals (555) = (1,461) (144) (2,160)
BHA% Reclassifications 163 (854) 560 82 (49)
/[R%%J Exchange difference 25 (5) il 1 9
F-R-RFT-AZT-H At 31 December 2020 10,357 599 19,219 1,015 31,190
ﬁﬁ Additions 1 1,131 4 5 1141
e Disposals (153) - (1,395) (131) (1,679)
Bin% Reclassifications 130 (940) 715 39 (56)
[R%ﬂ Exchange difference 12 2 30 1 45
“F--%t-A=t-A At 31 December 2021 10,347 792 18,573 929 30,641
iﬁ'ﬁlﬂ&ﬁ{ﬁ Accumulated depreciation and impairment
“TCFF-F-H 1 January 2020 4843 2 11,018 741 16,604
ZWW?E Charge for the year 377 - 1,026 86 1,489
HEH%M Written back on disposals (403) ?) (1,385) (133) (1,923)
BBk BETH Impairment loss recognised 276 - 291 7 574
e Reclassifications ) - (83) 36 (49)
LAES Exchange difference 2 - 54 = 81
FE-FFT-R=1-H At 31 December 2020 5118 - 10,921 737 16,776
ZWEWH Charge for the year 367 - 984 7 1422
HERE Written back on disposals (142) - (1,29) (121) (1,559)
BRI RESH Impairment loss recognised 101 - 190 9 300
] Reclassifications (29) - (28) 1 (56)
LRER Exchange difference 12 - 29 - 4
~§--%+-f=1+-A At 31 December 2021 547 - 10800 697 16924
IKE#E Net book values
——E+-B=1-H At 31 December 2021 4,920 792 71,773 232 13,717
= _qﬂ A=t-8 At 31 December 2020 5239 599 8,298 278 14,414
FER  EERESHE  AEFHDRE During the year, as a result of efficiency enhancement,

A5 e E (F= Rk

KAETEB 5 RAEELTHHR
FoERARATEELNESEFE
A gl E M F=ETmIABRES RN
ARM300BAT(ZZE_FF : A
REM574B A7) © ZE R =R AU

6] & 2 53 H 2 M ER &S AN It
“ .

certain breweries were determined to be closed down
and certain aged assets were determined as obsolete.
Consequently, the Group has recognised an impairment
loss of RMB300 million (2020: RMB574 million), after
considering any possible benefit receivable during the
disposal process. The recoverable amounts of these assets
are based on their fair value less costs of disposal.

)ABR A A] | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



HEwL£¥

HE-ZFT-—F+-H=+—HIEFE | For the year ended 31 December 2021

tt. EARE 17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS -
- b S —E-RF
2021 2020
ARTEAR AEMBEAT
RMB million RMB million
FHEE AM i Interests in leasehold land held for
own use 3,238 3,174 §
HF Buildings 103 134 =
Hitp Others 38 59 =
3,379 3,367
—E-—f  —E-TF =
2021 2020 g
ARBERAT ARTEATL 2
RMB million RMB million
EARBEEHRIA Depreciation charge of -
right-of-use assets
F1EE AR i Interests in leasehold land held for
own use 88 90 R
k= Buildings 60 85 E
HAth Others 6 18 o
154 193 o
. =
HE—FE-——F+_HA=+—HItF Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended g
EHENERNE~ N AEMS30H/ 31 December 2021 were RMB530 million (2020: RMB126 §
AR(ZZE_FF: ARM126B7H million). @
L) o
—E - FEMAEAGEM SRS The total cash outflow for both lease liabilities and short-
e RHE BT AIARMIGSA T term leases during the year ended 31 December 2021
—E_FF: AEMIS1IEAID) © was RMB165 million (2020: RMB151 million). The Group =
ANEFTFRITNYSE « HIE2RIES KR regularly entered into short-term leases for motor vehicles, g
CEMEHES  F- S —EF K — machinery and equipment and warehouses. As at 31 I
E-FF+—A=+—H  SHBEE December 2021 and 2020, the portfolio of short-term leases -
HEES S5 FHERSEARE S AT is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the g
RV RE BT ST R A S AR - short-term lease expense disclosed above. s

—= - —4%& #3i§ | Annual Report 2021 1M
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

The Group leases various interests in leasehold land held for
own use, buildings and others. Rental contracts for buildings
and others are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 35
years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and

B BEBRETZATRZRFMEK contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
f& o
T EH# 18. GOODWILL
ARTALT
RMB million
5% Cost
F-_m=-—TE—HF—H As at 1 January 2020 9,422
LR Z AR Exchange difference (96)
T2 -_FTF+-_A=+—H As at 31 December 2020
k- —F—H—H and 1 January 2021 9,326
SR Z AR Exchange difference (76)
FT_E_—F+-_H=+—H As at 31 December 2021 9,250
Tk {E Carrying values
FT_EF_—F+t-_A=1+—H As at 31 December 2021 9,250
T_E_FTF+-_A=1+—H As at 31 December 2020 9,326

EeE (ER) B

'R 72 7] | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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18. GOODWILL (Continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill was allocated to the
cash generating units (“CGU"), each of which represent
the operating segments identified by the Group for the
purpose of segment reporting in geographical perspective.
A segment level summary of the goodwill allocation is
presented below:

—E_—F —EFEFF
2021 2020
ARBEAT ARMBRTT
RMB million RMB million
RIX Eastern region 3,184 3,201
H X Central region 824 883
X Southern region 5,242 5,242
9,250 9,326

.4

CGUZ AT Yz Bl & 40 o 3% F A M E it
BRETE - BZEITEHFEAXBREE
BEBIZAFHMSME mEH
2t e RE  ERAFH 2O &
= R AR FTIR B T A B K =
T8 1% (—ZFE—FF :85%)2FifE
FIUERZESRBRILS/ERITE - Fial
FPUERTFII%NEI104%(—FE-F
F:10.3%E10.6% )X A °

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined
based on a value in use calculation. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five-year period, cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the key
assumptions including expected revenue growth rates stated
below and a post-tax discount rate of 8.1% (2020: 8.5%)
per annum. Pre-tax discount rates are ranged from 9.9% to
10.4% (2020: 10.3% to 10.6%) per annum.

BHAFHVSTEZ
it A8k E
Expected revenue growth rate
beyondthe five years’
financial budget

(%)
—E-—F —ERTF
2021 2020
KX Eastern region 2% 2%
X Central region 2%-3% 2%-3%
X Southern region 2%-3% 2%-3%
. _________________________J

TEBRERNABZIBTI2EHE
CGUM AT M e FH =R THKE
=

A reasonably possible change in a key assumption would
not cause the recoverable amount to fall below the carrying
amount of the respective CGU.

—EF - —4%&F 3R | Annual Report 2021
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th HEteEREFE 19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

wiE  EEERR
Brand  Trademarks &it
names rights Total
ARMBRATL ARMBAEAT ARMEAT
RMB million RMB million RMB million
B#F Cost
FTZE-F5—H—H At 1 January 2020 469 308 777
LHER Exchange difference 4 = 4
F-F-_FFE+-A=+—H At 31 December 2020 and
k=ZF-—%—H—H 1 January 2021 473 308 781
LR ZER Exchange difference 1 - 1
F_E-_—%+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2021 474 308 782
FitMEREE Accumulated amortisation and
impairment
F-Z=-T5-A—H At 1 January 2020 365 28 393
REEF W Charge for the year 24 40 64
LHZER Exchange difference 4 - 4
F-F-FE+-A=+—H At 31 December 2020 and
k=E=—%—A—H 1 January 2021 393 68 461
REE R Charge for the year 24 41 65
LHER Exchange difference 1 - 1
F-F-_—F+-A=+—H At 31 December 2021 418 109 527
K EAHE Net book values
F-E-_—F+=-FA=+—H  At31 December 2021 56 199 255
“T-FF+-A=1+—H  At31 December 2020 80 240 320
ENERABENE R B EREK The trademarks rights for the exclusive use of the Heineken®
B~ AR IR SR (E B NESE brand owned by the Heineken Group at a favourable term
N EAR A R SKETAE FWRIEE 2 A for certain period in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau
AETIA  EERENINIZISER were recognised at its fair value at the date of acquisition

EIHER SR IABLORHITHE -

and are subsequently amortised on straight line over their

estimated useful live of 7.5 years according to licensing

agreement.

e SR (32 A% ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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FEELLRBEEATZM  20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND AN
3 ASSOCIATE
—Em-—fF
2021
ARTEAR
RMB million
BB ZTRKAR Cost of investment in joint ventures 602
TP E T TAE RSN Elimination of profit of disposal of land
(fE=+=) to a joint venture (Note 22) (500)
MEWHESREEEE S Share of post-acquisition losses and total
comprehensive expenses (2)
100
"
ANRFREANEEL L ZEFHF AR Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not
individually material:
—Em-—fF
2021
ARTEAR
RMB million
MITEARNAEER WL ZA AR Aggregate information of joint ventures that
are not individually material
REFAR S S H The Group's share of loss (2)
AREF R S H A2 S H The Group’s share of other comprehensive
expense -
AREE RS EE S E B The Group's share of total comprehensive
expense (2)
./
HEAEXRAERANFEELLZNZEZ There are no material contingent liabilities relating to the
EARARRE o Group's interests in the joint ventures.
HIr—E-——F+—-_B=+—8 "% As at 31 December 2021, there is no joint venture material
AEFmMEHLEEREERL © to the Group.

—EF - —4%&F 3R | Annual Report 2021
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(iii)

V-3
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PUARBELAFTZR

&

fiE

ARINTES R ERAB(RINES )

ARFBESE2EFLAR(BELES
E(RE)BREGRAR([ELESEER
RID)E5®€EEHBERAR([EEE
)WL RFRAZITHUNTF=F
ZT—F A=+ ZBRIRIEE -
VENHE22 - BHE-_FE-_—4+_-A8
=+—H8 BAKEANARMS00E 7T
JC ° A FHESER R ML EE 3R
YES M H50% KA MR RN » A
SERANEIESET RS - 5%F
IR KB SFMEERRFEN
B—BRAE  RIEBSHFEETHE
34

EEERAE ORI ek (BREK)

F_FE-_—FmMA_+XH  AAFL
BB R RLESERERE SHKEE
SRR (BRAEK) « RYIME
BERFEBERQARRINCERAER
Bl (BRE ) BEAK LA Kk (B
SHERE ORI Bk (FREWK)) (E
ERRDITNAKDY - F=F=—
F+ZB=+—BHRERENART
102B AT  EERRIFBRTHIE3S -

S5EDERNEEUEMSNEERKT
RNREHERSRAEK R —BE
B o Bt - AEFAXEBR A KRR
=

BERWHUNGEE T ZELEA M SR
RAIK -

20.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND AN
ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Notes:

0)

(if)

(iii)

Shenzhen Runxue Industrial Co., Ltd* (“Shenzhen Runxue”)

The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries (including China
Resources Snow Breweries (China) Investment Co., Ltd (“CR Snow
Investment”)) entered into several agreements with the wholly-owned
subsidiaries of China Resources Land Limited (“CR Land”) on 22
January 2021 to setup Shenzhen Runxue. See details in Note 22. The
investment cost as at 31 December 2021 was amounted to RMB500
million. The Group exercise joint control over Shenzhen Runxue as
CR Snow Investment and CR Land have 50% ownership and voting
right over Shenzhen Runxue and the strategic financial and operating
decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of
both parties. Particular of Shenzhen Runxue are detailed in Note 34.

Runhui Investment (Shenzhen) Enterprise (Limited Partnership)

On 26 April 2021, CR Snow Breweries Investment, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Partnership Agreement
with Zhuhai Henggin Runchuang Investment Enterprise (Limited
Partnership)*, Shenzhen Bohui Asset Management Company
Limited* and Shenzhen Feihongzhuxin Investment Enterprise (Limited
Partnership)* in relation to the establishment of the Partnership
— Runhui Investment (Shenzhen) Enterprise (Limited Partnership)*
(“Runhui Investment”). The investment cost as at 31 December 2021
was amounted to RMB102 million. Particular of Runhui Investment are
detailed in Note 34.

The strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the activity
require the unanimous consent of all members within the risk control
committees. Therefore, the Group exercise joint control over Runhui
Investment.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.

* English names are for identification only.

4R (2B ) BB A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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20.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND AN
ASSOCIATE (Continued)

On 27 October 2021, CRE Beverage Trading Limited
("CREBT"), one of the subsidiary of the Company completed
the capital injection of a 40% equity interests of Shandong
Jingzhi Baijiu Co., Ltd (“Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu”), an
independent third party. The Company has the power to
exercise significant influence over Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu
as the Company has 40% voting rights in the board. Since
the completion of the injection, the interest in Shandong
Jingzhi Baijiu is recognised as interest in an associate and
accounted for using equity method. As at 31 December
2021, the Group injected RMB650 million to the associate,
the remaining RMB650 million capital contribution payable
are included in other payable and disclosed in Note 26. As
at 31 December 2021, there is no associate material to the
Group.

k- St 3
2021
ARTEAR
RMB million

T—REKE R B EKAR
IVE=E Y 2) SRR AN G T g

Cost of investment in an associate
Share of post-acquisition loss and total

1,300

comprehensive expense (19)

1,281

—EF - —4%&F 3R | Annual Report 2021
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T+ FEELUARBEE AT ZN  20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND AN
i@ (%) ASSOCIATE (Continued)
MEBRAEHATHELQRINGEME There are no material contingent liabilities relating to the
RNBNARTAE Group’s interests in the associate.
H-E_—%F
+A=+tRE
—E-—f
+=-B=+—H
From
27 October 2021
to 31 December
2021
ARBEAT
RMB million
Yo g Revenue 72
ANER 5 R Loss for the period (43)
HEhemES H Other comprehensive expense for the period -
SEX B Total comprehensive expense for the period (43)
ey
W& BRI E XK Reconciliation of summarised financial information:
—E-—%
+=A=+—H
31 December
2021
ARTHEAR
RMB million
RS ZHBER>™ 2@ Net assets of Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu 1,265
NEEAIAE AN L Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest 40%
NEFANSILESZHBER A2 The Group's share of net assets of
Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu 506
mE Goodwill 387
RIfsF R Capital to be injected 650
R R BR A LR SR Z BB Effect of share of net assets of Shandong
TR ERN RN Jingzhi Baijiu for capital to be injected (260)
HaigEe Other adjustments (2)
ARERTILRSZ ABENZKEME  Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
Shandong Jingzhi Baijiu 1,281
ey

178 AR (#AX ) B R A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



=

g o

DaRMETEAEREETDIT
A H 45 & U B & RR

HE-_ZE-_—F+_A=+—HIFE | For the year ended 31 December 2021

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

25 —EB_TF
2021 2020
ARBBERART ARMBAT
RMB million RMB million
FERNH EWRG Listed equity shares in Chinese
NARMNE Mainland, at fair value - 7
.4

LFABRBERAN AR NERRIES
BRANEER  2EDH RN

DoRMETEALRETDIT

The fair values of investment in listed equity shares are
determined under Level 1 fair value hierarchy with reference
to quoted market bid prices.

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

ALHBmEHERmET PROFIT OR LOSS
B —F —EFF
2021 2020
ARBERART ARMBAT
RMB million RMB million
IR S Consideration receivable 3,611 =
H b & BhAR = Other financial assets 2 -
3,613 -

ARBBIH2AMEAR (B
RSB (RE)RAER QA
(THREASERR DT _F=_—F—~
“t-HSXEEMER AR ([4)E
i) 2 2 RMBERBLEIT T AT
B (NIRAA/EDIL - Q)WTHME T
W MKERSER -

The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries CR
Snow Investment entered into the following agreements
with the wholly-owned subsidiaries of CR Land on 22
January 2021: (1) the joint venture agreement (“JV
Agreement”); (2) the Relocation Compensation Agreement;
and (3) the Construction Agreement.

—EF - —4%&F 3R | Annual Report 2021
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AT ERERBRAE (L EEH
ZE=R7WE AR (RINEER ) & iE
BRIVEE D BERARMS00E A
T o TIRAGIEMNIFSRIITRE - FF
“E - —FEOAB I NEKY TR
JPES - £ ESERESRINEE S
BERARMS0B A LHBZTER D
ZATRIESE 2RI o BRI FHH
X - RYEEEENEEH =
KA E R % EEFIRER AT
HLHEREE(FE)ER AR (4LH
ERRaze2RwlELR)([4£ES
EDHEN ([ LH]) - H54
ESTE B AR T B R 18 b2k
B o THNBUE W KB TP E AUE
FBEAL - HRURIIBATHE BB EHT
BB IZHBRIE— AR Tl R FT 4 Tl A

@o

FEE-_ZE-_—F+-A=+H 'R
BIR A D DR YA S FIE R
WMz I RS B & it
F 2RI ERATHEAE TS TBRK o RIER
THEDN - AEABNREFEAR
M 4,650 8 77 TTAI XS o 28R ¥l 7Y
RASTAESIHEITARTI5933
AT AN S E B B9 XS ) 42 N
EHRAELGREREENBEARD
15,7758 A L& 7 H130.29% FT it 15
REE - MR ZMIHERRERES
T AREMI5,6178 FiT @ MA
£ B YR ER B9 39 M0 45 3% A 4R SR BR S B 4
EMEKFARMI5,7758 Ao
#930.29% FT 1115 B9 2080 > o XSt
BREYILEEER S SHEYILE
RLEBISMEES S - Mt =FE=—HF
MIRRT  ©PAEEMITE T =%
TR E B R AN o

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

According to the JV Agreement, each of CR Snow
Investment and Shenzhen Runtou Consulting Co., Ltd.
CRYITEKRE "W AR AR (a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CR Land) (“Shenzhen Runtou”) committed to capital
injection of RMB500 million to Shenzhen Runxue. Upon
the formation of Shenzhen Runxue after the execution
of the JV Agreement on 26 April 2021, each of CR Snow
Investment and Shenzhen Runtou injected RMB50 million
and therefore owned 50% equity interest of Shenzhen
Runxue respectively. Shenzhen Runxue is primarily engaged
in the development and management of real estate and it is
responsible for the demolition of the existing building and
relocation of several parcels of land (the “Land”) owned
by China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. (4
EEEEE (PE) AR AE]) (a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CR Snow Investment) (“CR Snow”), as well as applying
to Shenzhen government together with CR Snow for
land modification of the Land pursuant to the Relocation
Compensation Agreement. The land modification involves
the de-registration of the title certificate of the Land and
modification of the Land for general industrial and emerging
industrial uses with the relevant authority of Shenzhen
government.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the formation
of Shenzhen Runxue pursuant to the JV Agreement and
disposal of Land to Shenzhen Runxue pursuant to the
Relocation Compensation Agreement have been completed
after the approval obtained from the Shenzhen government.
According to the Relocation Compensation Agreement, the
Group would be entitled to a consideration of RMB4,650
million when the properties are constructed and sold by
Shenzhen Runxue under the Construction Agreement.
If the final tax-included selling prices of the properties
exceeds RMB15,933 million, the Group will be entitled to
an extra consideration equal to 30.29% on the excess of
the final tax-included selling price and RMB15,775 million.
If the final tax-included selling prices of the properties are
below RMB15,617 million, the final consideration will be
reduced by an amount equal to 30.29% on the difference of
RMB15,775 million and the final tax-included selling price.
The consideration will be settled by installment based on the
proportion of the floor areas of properties sold to the total
saleable floor areas of properties. The completion date of
the construction is expected to be beginning of 2025 and
the first installment of consideration receivable is expected
to be received from Shenzhen Runxue by CR Snow in 2026.

e SR (32 A% ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The disposal of Land is completed on 26 May 2021 upon
the de-registration of the title of the Land. On completion
date, the consideration to be received was recognised
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL") and measured at level 3 fair value measurement
based on discount cash flow method. The financial
assets at FVPL was classified as non-current assets as the
amounts were expected to be received 12 months after
the end of reporting period. On completion date, the
fair value of consideration is measured at approximately
RMB3,640 million. The carrying amount of disposed
Land was approximately RMB130 million and therefore a
gain on disposal of right-of-use assets of approximately
RMB3,510 million arose and related deferred tax liabilities
of approximately RMB878 million had been recognised.
50% gain on disposal of right-of-use assets (after 50%
elimination of downstream transaction) of approximately
RMB1,755 million and deferred tax assets of approximately
RMB439 million had been recognised.

EEA S
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HETKE - £ESEREFRYE Subsequent to the completion of the disposal, each of m

o pIERYIE S £ AR REE R
ARM450B AL c HEZST = —F
+=—A=+—8 " NmEINH2ANE
HRHART3,611EHATT ° FRITA
MEHNARNESHAART298
YA

AEHHEREHIARMI,755H
RIS AERAE R ESHH
BRKAANRMS00B AT - B 2=
T_—F+A=+—H BHiAZE
WAL ARM,2558 F L it A
SRERTFARKNEMIERI AR °

RAMETIRES AR H T REKD
IR T EEMEBRITAELMAE
BB RAMEDRENSREIVE
EBE - B AaNMENTNSEET
TARM A LRI R B - FHIAA
NRAMERERNE=R -

CR Snow Investment and Shenzhen Runtou injected
the remaining committed capital of RMB450 million to
Shenzhen Runxue. As at 31 December 2021, the fair value
of consideration is measured at approximately RMB3,611
million. Accordingly, the fair value loss of approximately
RMB29 million was recognised in profit or loss during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

The elimination of the Group’s share of gain on disposal
of approximately RMB1,755 million exceed the investment
cost of RMB500 million by the Group in Shenzhen Runxue.
Deferred income of approximately RMB1,255 million have
been recognised and included in other non-current liabilities
in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2021.

The fair value is arrived at based on a valuation carried out
by Cushman & Wakefield, an independent professional
valuer not connected to the Group. The fair value was
determined based on discount cash flow method, by
discounting the estimated consideration received in the
future to present value as at 31 December 2021, where
estimated consideration received is measured with
references to comparable market transaction price per
square meter on market transaction price and considered as
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

—EF - —4%&F 3R | Annual Report 2021
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

BAPAMRBAE Significant unobservable inputs:
—E-—F
2021
FEFH AT ZM Market transaction price per square meter RMB27,000 to
RMB39,000
AT I = Pre-tax discount rate 6.5%
./

B RETE R AR SN HE N
%S BN RN E AR NEITE
o RZIRR - BIEERSTEM R
FE T 175 32 5 1) 5% ¥ 1T 8RR E 9 A o
EFBEEMEERTHERT  HE
T KREMNEINS% - MM
AMEBEMARTIS4BTT ° &
FTEHMEZETENERT @ HMEF
FARNTIAR BN TBE5% - R
MO ARNEB RO ARTIS4E T
T o BIRFERAMB R ERE NS S
NIRRT AR MEITERD R
ZINR o BEEBIE, R BET
P E0.5% 1 THRNE DT o Fi Al
WU RIIES0.5% (HMZENE)H
FERNERTNH AR NERD AR
858 /77T ° BB HT I T F£0.5% (K
b 3E B AR ) B4 RO A A
EEMARTEIBE AT °

An increase in the market transaction price per square meter
used in isolation would result in an increase in the fair value
measurement of the consideration receivable, and vice
versa. The management performed the sensitivity analysis
by increase/decrease the market transaction price by 5%.
A 5% increase in the market transaction price per square
meter (holding all other variables constant) would increase
the fair value of the consideration receivable by RMB154
million. A 5% decrease in the market transaction price per
square meter (holding all other variables constant) would
decrease the fair value of the consideration receivable by
RMB154 million. An increase in the pre-tax discount rate
used in isolation would result in a decrease in the fair value
measurement of the consideration receivable, and vice
versa. The management performed the sensitivity analysis
by increase/decrease the pre-tax discount rate by 0.5%. A
0.5% increase in the pre-tax discount rate (holding all other
variables constant) would decrease the fair value of the
consideration receivable by RMB85 million. A 0.5% decrease
in pre-tax discount rate (holding all other variables constant)
would increase the fair value of the consideration receivable
by RMB87 million.

FZF R ANEITEHNIK Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements:

—E-—f

2021

ARBEAT

RMB million

F=E-_—FRA=+"H As at 26 May 2021 3,640
FTHREHIAN AL NES IR Fair value loss recognised in profit or loss (29)

F_FB=-——&E+=—A=+—H As at 31 December 2021 3,611
./

4 E R (A% ) BB A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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“tE F A R IR 23. PREPAYMENTS
-5 —EFTEF
2021 2020
ARBEATT ARMB AT
RMB million RMB million
WEBTE R~ Z1TE Deposit payment for purchase of
fixed assets 175 106
.4
7R 24. STOCKS
B —F TECEE
2021 2020
ARBEAT ARMB AT
RMB million RMB million
EA R Raw materials 817 682
S #em R B EME Consumables and packing materials 4,028 4,037
il Work-in-progress 273 260
Il X G Finished goods 1,340 1,035
6,458 6,014
.4
B 5 R K fth B 4 7 IR 25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
—B-—fF —EFE
2021 2020
ARBEBAT ARMB AT
RMB million RMB million
MU E =7 R BIKK Trade receivables from third parties 150 217
NN TIERANEAT  Trade receivables from fellow
R MK subsidiaries 19 19
B ERT iRk E Less: allowance for credit losses (37) (40)
132 196
G dEEE T Value-added tax recoverable 154 157
A FIN Prepayments 200 135
TATBRE A B Z Prepayments made to an associate 88 =
BEffke Deposits paid 24 22
=& Other receivables 177 263
WHRITIE K Short-term bank deposits (Note (i))
CBREE)) 400 =
MU A E 1Rl FRIN Amounts due from a joint venture
BT E i) (Note (ii)) 250 =
MW ATIEAMEAT  Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
SRR S (i) (Note (iii)) 2,011 1,605
3,436 2,378
.4
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HLRASREMBE KR (%)

BE

(i) BHRITERZEREN RN F1.85%

£3.5% °

(ii) F=Z=—F+—AN\B ' AEHAS5R
YIE S ZAT 5T AR i o 1% 5T 3Ch T
o AREFRL275%1T B R THhE R
) —F REE A ©

(i) MR ERFKEME QR REN TR
o AREFEI 5% ERATIHRE R 2
H)—EF U= 8 BRI ©

AREF—BRETEFAT ZETH

() S=BIH 3k
(Z2) Z+EN+RIKRK

THERRAERHZ25NNKE=
FTRBRAREAMEARR SR
IR AT -

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The short-term bank deposits carry interest rates ranging from 1.85%
to 3.5% per annum.

(i) On 8 November 2021, the Group entered into the loan agreement
with Shenzhen Runxue. The loan was unsecured, bear interest at
4.275% per annum and repayable within one year from the reporting
date.

(iii) Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries were unsecured, bear interest
at 3.5% per annum and repayable within one year from the reporting
date.

The Group normally trades with its customers under the
following credit terms:

(@) cash upon delivery; or
(b) open credit from 30 to 90 days

The following is the aging analysis of trade receivables from
third parties and fellow subsidiaries as at the balance sheet
date by invoice date:

—EB-—F —EB_TF
2021 2020
ARTBEAT ARMBRTT
RMB million RMB million

EEHA The Group
0-30K 0-30 days 39 43
31-60K 31-60 days 16 28
61-90K 61-90 days 12 11
>90K >90 days 65 114
132 196

.4

R 5 N WOk B2 AR VA 5 PR B0 TR
SIRERTDETHENKE KRN EF
ZIERHE - HFEEWMEF B R

1Y R BRE 0 22 B BE 1 R BHE 1R

%go

H Aty N WSR2 BB TY R 12 A
HERSHRIHMMBERS R
B NFENSBAEEEHIAEX

(B Rpil

Impairment assessment on trade receivables is using the
expected loss rates which are based on credit assessments
on each aging category of customers and adjusted for
forward-looking information affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the trade receivables.

Impairment on other receivables is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
loss, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since the initial recognition.

A SE 15T (#2338 ) B BR 22 & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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11 B H R HE B 0 ™I (%) 25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 3
BEERRHT 2L NEB T4 Based on the assessments performed by management, the =
B AR S % EHAM NI 2 ME fair value of the Group’s trade and other receivables at -
SHIKEEMRSE ° balance sheet date was approximate to the corresponding

carrying amount.

:
—g-—§  —Z-FfF =
2021 2020 /
ARBEART ARMBEATT =
RMB million RMB million §
T—H—H As at 1 January 40 46 g
EHIAZBIES R Impairment losses recognised 4 6 =
AL EWEmEs 2 €5 Amounts written off as uncollectible ) (12) “
FT+=HA=+—8H As at 31 December 37 40
.4
St BB R E MR R IE 26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
>
=
—F-—F —B_TF m
2021 2020 -
ARBERART ARMBAT =
RMB million RMB million H
NITE=7H R SR Trade payables to third parties 3,100 2,332 %
RSB ATREFMEAT  Trade payables to fellow subsidiaries =
R 5 KK 8 5 &
3,108 2,337
& R (HHZ()) Contract liabilities (Note (i) 6,873 7,451
iz 2% /A Accruals 3,050 2,986
Bz (FEG)) Deposit received (Note (i) 5,064 4,676
HAth SR Other payables 2,235 1,842 -
MR (FHE=T) Capital contribution payable (Note 20) 650 = g
VKR NS B85 Amounts due to holding companies R
(B Gii)) (Note (iii)) 5 26 -
MR ATIERME AT Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries g
R B E i) ) (Note (iii)) 22 9 s
21,007 19,327 g
.4 3
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AR BHSREMBE M RIR (&) 26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

B E Notes:

(i) BEARMEIGAHFITL(ZE_FF : A (i) Included receipt in advance on sales of RMB896 million (2020:
RM864H 77 7T)HIFU St ¥k fu i R A RMB864 million) and liabilities on promotional schemes of RMB5,977
RM5,9778 AT (ZE_8F : AR™ million (2020: RMB6,587 million). Contract liabilities are classified as
6,587 B 7 7T ) BI{EE8 it X - &R %7 current liabilities because the Group expects to settle them within 12
RAE ARG 0 AAEAERARE months after the end of the reporting period. During the year ended
EREHREN12DARERERIZAMR - 31 December 2021, revenue recognised that was included in the
FTHE-_E-_—F+_A=1+—HIHF contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the year amounting to
B BEHRIANKRABRITAFETNE R R RMB7,451 million (2020: RMB7,427 million).

ARIF - FARM7,451BAT(=ZF
—TF: ARM7,42787 ) °

(i) HMETEZERFESIELMEBEMBHE W (ii) Amounts mainly included deposits received for consumables and
Re e packing materials.

(i) NAIERARRIMEE A RERNE A (iii)  Amounts due to holding companies and fellow subsidiaries were
BRI IR - 2B RBER HE © unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

TEHEEREAZHHEINNNTR S The following is an aging analysis of trade payables as at the

KR 2 IKER D AT ZA T - balance sheet date by invoice date:

—EZ—F —EFF
2021 2020
ARBEATRT ARTALT
RMB million RMB million

0-30K 0-30 days 3,076 2,290

31-60~ 31-60 days 7 11

61-90K 61-90 days 2 10

>90K >90 days 23 26

3,108 2,337
——

AEHTEERNR S REM KR

MARMESHEKEERS

The fair value of the Group’s trade and other payables as at
balance sheet date was approximate to the corresponding
carrying amount.
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EEA S

Ztt. 8 TR IR 27. DEFERRED TAXATION g
RN T RABEGZER=NHRETHRINZ The components of deferred taxation assets recognised in S
BB TUR AR D R TFRN2E the consolidated balance sheet and the movements during -
3 the year are as follows:

ERtgTHT
RERUMRER A BERRMENER

it Elimination of profit on disposal  Impairment, provision and it ]
Tax losses of land to ajoint venture  other temporary differences Total %
ot Y S T A W A S A W s

202 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 20 2020
AETERT ARTAFT ARWERR ARPEAT ARGEAR ARMEAT ABMEAT ARWAAT =
RMBmillion ~ RMBmilion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMBmilion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMBmilion ~ RMBmillion ~ RMB million ;
BRRTAE Deferred tatation assets §
T-A-A At 1 January 88 50 - - 2710 248 2,858 253 5
EAAREHRITA Credited to consoldated proft -

and loss account 1 38 39 - 64 288 510 36

Fth=1-8 At 31 December 95 88 439 - 2,834 2770 3,368 2858 o

NN Gaaaaaaaae _ Gaaaaaaamw ___ Gaaaaaaa—w
BIEFRITUR = AB RS T EE E Deferred taxation assets are recognised for tax losses B
AIMAREIRBBMEI A LR - h carried forward to the extent that realisation of the related 5
HMESMEERA T2 =_—F tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. o
+ZA=+—8  AEHARBILNZH At 31 December 2021, the Group has unrecognised tax o
FSIMAARM2,008BAT(ZF = losses of RMB2,008 million (2020: RMB2,817 million) and E
TE: ART2,8178F A7) MATHE deductible temporary differences of RMB577 million (2020: i
ERMZMARMS7T7AAT(ZE RMB1,457 million) which are uncertain as to whether they =
ZEF : ARM1,457B L) © WA can be utilised to set off against future taxable income. Out =
EHRERTASHAIZLERNS R of these amounts, the unrecognised tax loss of RMB1,608 -

SRE) R IRTRBA ST S - ZLESTELE million (2020: RMB2,548 million) will expire within 5 years.

FTHRERNPFZARIAZHSSIRE
ARM1,608BHT(ZE_FF : A
EM2,548E 7 7T) °
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Tt a8 EE IR () 27. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

LATREEGE R RGERRRIAZ The components of deferred taxation liabilities recognised in
BB A AR D R TFRN2E the consolidated balance sheet and the movements during
3 the year are as follows:

HELHF

SELL RPEHEZ
FRBES  WHREN
IEH LR IR Profiton  Withholding

Accelerated disposal of tax on
tax land to a undistributed &it
depreciation joint venture profits Total

ARMBAT ARMBAT ARTBAT ARTEARL
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million

T-FE-FE£—-H-H  At1January 2020 462 = 216 678
ERAmmiMG Charged to consolidated profit
and loss account 33 - 107 140
CRPE Exchange rate adjustment (9) - (21) (30)
FT-ZE_FF+_H At 31 December 2020 and
=+—8k 1 January 2021
—F-—%-A—H 486 - 302 788
e RaRAk Charged to consolidated profit
and loss account 77 878 225 1,180
LRFR Exchange rate adjustment (1) - (12) (13)
F-E-_—%+_H At 31 December 2021
=+—H 562 878 515 1,955
RIBREAREFEEMN - TUIRFE Under the Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
HMedrERE AR T/ \F— dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
B—BHRREOMNEREmERE M subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
AEM o 33 ZEFR I LA K 9 BE R E T+ 78 taxation has been provided for undistributed profits to the
Al ) RE R AR B ERRIETR extent that declarations of dividends are anticipated in the
& o foreseeable future.
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==

StNEfIER R KR 28. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
—E-—F  C-B-TF
2021 2020
AEREBEATT ARMBRTT
RMB million RMB million
BT 41 BD Government grant 1,784 1,657
156 JE Y 75 Deferred income 1,255 -
H b Others 340 367
3,379 2,024

.4

—FE-—F+-_A=+—H H
RS IR B FE R H A ik U S Y
B+ BhARM1,784B A (—E—
TE ARM1,6578A7T) © BT
B EZ NP AR EME BTN
T 3K [ TE 72 M R o

—FE-_—%F+-_A=+—H  E
AR AEREERTC RS ART
1,2558 A 70+ BIARSHAL B WS
AT B SAEFAERYES HR R
AN o FEILHE=F= -

As at 31 December 2021, other non-current liabilities
included government grants of RMB1,784 million (2020:
RMB1,657 million) recognised as deferred revenue. The
government grants mainly represent subsidies granted by
PRC governmental authorities towards the purchases of
fixed assets.

As at 31 December 2021, other non-current liabilities
included deferred income of RMB1,255 million representing
the deferred income arising from the elimination of the
Group’s share of gain on disposal exceed the investment
cost by the Group in Shenzhen Runxue. See detailed in Note
22.

St ERE 29. SHARE CAPITAL
k- S “EZCRE
2021 2020
BHn#E m{E KR E HfE
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
BAE ARMEAT BAKR ARMBAT
million ~ RMB million million RMB million
BRITRBRIRA Issued and fully paid
F-A—H As at 1 January 3,244 14,090 3,244 14,090
F+=-—A=+—H As at 31 December 3,244 14,090 3,244 14,090

—EF - —4%&F 3R | Annual Report 2021
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CHZEMaRERM 30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT
—E-—F —EB_TF
2021 2020
ARTBEART ARMBAT
RMB million RMB million
B R A& A Profit before taxation 6,215 3,009
BE Adjustments for:
ALH (W), /SR Net exchange(gain)/loss (12) 143
MEHKA Interest income (243) (141)
F B H Interest expenses 6 56
& B R 5 Net (gain)/loss on disposal of fixed
W),/ =i assets (50) 42
HERIEG A/ T HE  Profit on disposal of interests in
P45 i A leasehold land held for own use (1,807) (53)
BEIAZ BT R = RE Impairment loss recognised on fixed
= assets 300 574
EFINZFEHREAES R Impairment loss recognised on
stocks 402 395
Sill= Depreciation 1,576 1,682
H A T R = P4 Amortisation of other intangible
assets 65 64
B IABUT #h B Government grants recognised (136) (328)
NEAERIREKE /AR Share of results of joint ventures and
Al 25 an associate 21 -
UARMEITEBEEZZ  Change in fair value of financial
TTA LB assets at fair value through
BRLR profit or loss 29 =
EERERIHIZEE Operating cash inflows before working
NER/A capital changes 6,366 5,443
Ve vl ') Changes in stocks (844) (387)
R 5 R EH Ath N YR I 2 Changes in trade and other
RIS receivables 26 136
R 5 A R A FRIZ Changes in trade and other payables
R 722 436
ZEMEZI S Cash generated from operations 6,270 5,628
.4
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STATEMENT (Continued)

30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

ARG HERR &it
Short-term Lease
loans liabilities Total
ARMBAT ARMBEAT ARTBART
RMB million RMB million RMB million
F-2-F45-H-H As at 1 January 2020 511 214 725
Heng Cash flows (526) (60) (586)
RESE NS Interest paid - 6 6
INCERE) Foreign exchange movement 15 (1) 14
T\iﬁ&@'ﬁ@”ﬂliﬁ‘]”ﬁiﬁ Non-cash movements - 41 41
_g@i‘l‘_ﬂ:-l-—El As at 31 December 2020

rZFEZ—5—-HA—H and at 1 January 2021 - 200 200
Nene Cash flows - (82) (82)
BERFIE Interest paid - 6 6
NERIE WS MED) Non-cash movements - 7 7
F-E-_—F+=-HA=1+—H At 31 December 2021 - 131 131

& i 31. COMMITMENTS
-5 —ER_TF
2021 2020
ARTEAR ARMBATT
RMB million RMB million

THEERBEAEEARKE Commitments outstanding on
AT contracted but not provided at the
balance sheet date are as follows:
) S< [ 7E 3R 7= Acquisition of fixed assets 2,474 1,196
THEELERZFR Capital injection to Runhui Investment 48 =
2,522 1,196
.4
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32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

AN SHEWE AR (BTARRZ Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries,
RKEAD)HTZR B THEKE which are related parties of the Company, have been
BIE - FREARKDEREE - A eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this
GEMSMESTREZRZRER Note. In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
G RERHIT THSINE KK IER elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the
UE Group entered into the following material related party

transactions:

—BZ—-F —ER_TF
2021 2020
ARBERART ARMBAT
RMB million RMB million
BEXTHARMRME 2RSS Receipt of services from
— AR A R (M £ —) A holding company (Note 1) 24 111
[SYNEIE vl V=N Fellow subsidiaries 62 38
RER A A (MHE=D) Related companies (Note 2) 24 15
EINIVNGIEE=0dr Sales of goods to
BAaERAT WELF Fellow subsidiaries 33 56
aE Joint ventures 16 =
ERNIVNGI PN Purchase of goods from
[SYNGIESFi ) =-YNC] Fellow subsidiaries 119 =
—[BIERE A An associate 11 _
FEENEl(FED) Related companies (Note 2) 151 168
ENIAGIE i & Rendering of services to
aEl Joint ventures 7 -
FRINAR AT H Lease payments to
S RARSHAZHE AT Fellow subsidiaries 25 40
AN F A mIU e B AUA 7= Acquisition of right-of-use assets from
BARERAZHBEAT Fellow subsidiaries 13 51
M RFI AT EARLIE  Disposal of right-of-use assets resulting
TH ST T I B 52 AR 7= from termination of
lease agreement to
BARIER T HEAN T Fellow subsidiaries 14 -
kB TN ZFBUWA  Interest income from
BAEERAT WELF Fellow subsidiaries 21 33
aE Joint ventures 2 =
FTRIIRE 2 FEXH Interest payment to
FATIERHZHTE DT Fellow subsidiaries 1 -
. _______________________J
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HLEXRXEX S w) 32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS -
(Continued) =
B - Notes:
1. TERRS 2HE—BIEAARRE - & 1. Administrative service is provided by a holding company, of which
ARAFIRF - FHIRAFARHEAES W - costs are identifiable and are allocated on a fair and equitable basis.

2. Heineken Holding N.V. R EF Q&) © 2. Heineken Holding N.V. and its subsidiaries. e
&
=
=

—E-—5 R _TF 5
2021 2020 =1
ARTEAR ARMBRATT =
RMB million RMB million g

R R 5 KR Trade receivables from:

ISYNSIESF i) NG Fellow subsidiaries 19 19 -

Rz BGRIN - Amounts due from:

B RRIEFHNE A A Fellow subsidiaries 2,011 1,605 B
—E&a BRI A joint venture 250 = D'E
o

MERANEENWFMRT +  Cash and cash equivalents -

deposited in: E
—E&RRIERHZ A fellow subsidiary é
)E=WNC] 600 420 =
MR S MK Trade payables to: -
ISONGIE 25 = Fellow subsidiaries 8 5
IVENE I Amount due to:
— [ AR 2 A A holding company 5 26

IVERE/ S Amounts due to:

ISONGIE 25 =G Fellow subsidiaries 22 9
.4
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SILEXRXER S (&%)

AREH AR & 7+ BB H A+ E
LHE TN —PMERRBERAZKA °
BERELEERHTZRHIN K
SHETE B H LS50 i8 R SEMEBAT
ISR T S ER e EFINN
BRAEBRRRIERAIN - ZFRMEHT
MAOXESES SHEA KRR WS R
ZEBR - SUFREHTZIRS
(BEXEHMERS RBITFER
KEXRZERNE) DiRAEH K
Wb HRRATST © AEREINS - BREFR
RF LR 2 RER ZHE T R
HaWERK -

BE T —F+-_A=+—HIF
B INEATEEEARNERTER
FEMREARESHRDANNART
128 7t AKRM150,0007T ©

FZE_FF  AEAVNESERRHA
BRosMEANEEEEAR A
REMBETEEVSHREMET R
T— AEERNEEINTFHRESR
A EEHERINEEEEARZ
B o

32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

The Group itself is a part of a larger group of companies
under CRC which is controlled by the Chinese State
government. Apart from the transactions with CRC group,
the Group also conducts businesses with other state-
controlled entities. The directors are of the opinion that
those entities other than the CRC group do not have the
power to govern or participate in the financial and operating
policies of the Group. The transactions including sales
and purchases of goods and services and bank deposits
and corresponding interest income, with these entities are
conducted in the ordinary course of the Group's business.
The Group believes that it has provided, at the best of its
knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure of related
party transactions as summarised above.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the basic salaries
and allowances and provident fund contributions paid to key
management personnel were amounted to RMB12 million
and RMB 150,000 respectively.

In 2020, the Group regards the directors and the five
highest paid employees are key management personnel
and the respective compensation is set out in Note 10 and
11 to consolidated financial statements. There was no
remuneration paid for key management personnel other
than directors or the five highest paid employees during the
year.

e SR (32 A% ) B BR A A | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021

33. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT

—EZ—F —EFTF
2021 2020
ARTERART ARMBAT §
RMB million RMB million =
RN EF Non-current assets Mff
& & & 7= Fixed assets 1 1
B AR 7= Right-of-use assets 3 16 =
THEARZ N Interest in subsidiary 15,284 15,733 o
15,288 15,750 s
mENE Current assets =
R 5 K E b 5 USRI Trade and other receivables 2 212
Ne MRITET Cash and bank balances 217 56
219 268
bsig - Rk Current liabilities
R 5 K B b R A5 FIR Trade and other payables (2,672) (2,401) B
MR MR Lease liabilities (3) (7) E
(2,675) (2,408) N
RERAESRE Net current liabilities (2,456) (2,140) g
BHEFERERNA G Total assets less current liabilities 2
W R E 12,832 13,610 g
e & (& Non-current liability =
M5 Lease liabilities - (9) -
- (9)
12,832 13,601
BERiES Capital and reserves
[i&N Share capital 14,090 14,090
i Reserves (1,258) (489)
12,832 13,601
. J
BRSE Note:

EEA S

dnolg ay| ynoqy

As at 31 December 2021, trade and other payables included loans from a
subsidiary of approximately RMB2,660 million (2020: RMB2,370 million),
which are unsecured, interest-free, and repayable on demand.

F_E=——F+=-A=+—8 RZREMN
MRMBEAHEARRRAIART2,6608 7
T(ZEZFF : ARM2,370687T) * ALK
- Rt B REERHAE

sjuawaels jeloueuly m 5 RESEHf

#%8 WEI QIANG
ZEZ Director

#%i5 HOU XIAOHAI
Z £ Director
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I EAFAGRERERMEEBED (v 33. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

#E_E_—S+-A=+—H For the year ended 31 December 2021

LR FEER

Exchange Retained &it
reserve profits Total

ARMBERAT ARMBAT ARTBEAT
RMB million RMB million RMB million

F-E2-FF—F—H At 1 January 2020 (2,188) 2,987 799
LRESR Exchange difference on translation (865) - (865)
AEERF Profit for the year = 138 138
% B Dividend - (561) (561)
FE-FF+= E+—EI At 31 December 2020 and
MN=F-_—%—H—H 1 January 2021 (3,053) 2,564 (489)

LRES Exchange difference on translation (382) - (382)
RER R Profit for the year _ 894 894
B% B Dividend - (1,281) (1,281)

T-F-——%+=-H=+—H  At31 December 2021 (3,435) 2,177 (1,258)
ARNEAESRTREZERZTAIAR Reserves of the Company available for distribution to the
1428 T(ZE=_FF : ARM shareholders amounted to RMB142 million (2020: RMB538
538H F L) ° million).
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IR EEMELSE  €eE4LAS 34. PRINCIPAL OF SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT
BEEANT VENTURES AND AN ASSOCIATE
BEESL
Percentage of capital
BRITEERRS HEF FRAGGE  FLFRE KELARKE
KELR Issued ordinary share capital/ attributable ~ held by the heldby *EUE
Subsidiaries registered capital tothe Group ~ Company subsidiaries Principal activities
TEEEMAL
Incorporated in Hong Kong
LRmRSERAT BH2.007 1000 - 1000 RAZK
CRE Beverage Trading Limited HKD2.00 Investment holding
TERURESEMEL
Incorporated in British Virgin Islands
LHERBEERAF 42,800,400 R BRI B 15T 2 BB 1000 1000 - RARRK
China Resources Snow Breweries Limited 42,800,400 ordinary shares of Investment holding
US$1 each
FrhE R e
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland
» EERRE(L)ERRERR AR1,029,323,267 277 1000 - 1000 FERHEEESH
China Resources Snow Breweries RMB1,029,323,267.27 Manufacturing and distribution
(Sichuan) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o ERER(ER)ARREAH AE1245,792,501 ¢ 100.0 - 1000 HIERAEREES
RMB245,792,501 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
* o LEERRR(ER) AR AT 31,00,000%7 100.0 - 1000 HENBEEESR
China Resources Snowflake Brewery 1S§31,200,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(lilin) Co., Ltd. of beer products
» o LEETRE(ZR) AR A AK438,147,5007C 1000 - 1000 HERHEEESH
China Resources Snow Breweries (Anhui) ~ RMB438,147,500 Manufacturing and distribution
Co., Ltd. of beer products
* LEERER(ENAR A AE778,414 4007 100.0 - 1000 HIERAEREES
China Resources Snow Brewery (Wuhan) ~ RMB778,414,400 Manufacturing and distribution
Co., Ltd. of beer products
“ LEERBE(IT)ERAA 118,504,683%70 100.0 - 1000 RERHERESS
US§118,504,683 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
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SR EEMELT - EELAS 34. PRINCIPAL OF SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT
BEENTE (& VENTURES AND AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)
EFESL
Percentage of capital
ERTHERRE ERRE FRAGE FLERE HWRLARE
KELR Issued ordinary share capital/ attributable  held by the heldby ¥EU&
Subsidiaries registered capital tothe Group ~ Company subsidiaries Principal activities
FhERERGRL(S)
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (Continued)
o LREERE(L ) ER A 21,000,000 100.0 - 1000 HhERAEEESR
U5$21,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
¥ A REERE(RE)ER AR 159,030,076.0957C 1000 - 1000 74EE=H
1S§159,030,076.09 Distribution of beer products
o AHEERE(R)ER A AK322,000,00070 1000 - 1000 FENEELE:H
China Resources Snow Brewery RMB322,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(lian) Co., Ltd. of beer products
SRR ERAT 55,850,000 1000 - 1000 HIEANEERESS
U5$55,850,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o HEERREB(NE)ARAR 30,797,869% T 100.0 - 1000 HIENBERESH
China Resources Snow Brewery US§32,797,869 Manufacturing and distribution
(Dalian) Co., Ltd. of beer products
A HEEREB(IDER A AKT580,187,9007 1000 - 1000 FENEEEESH
RMB580,187,900 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o HEERRE(ER)ARAT AK95,000,0007C 1000 - 1000 ShERAEEESR
China Resources Snow Breweries RIMBY5,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Fuyang) Co., Ltd. of beer products
* HEERRE(R LD ERAT 29,166,116.38% 0 100.0 - 1000 HIENBERESH
China Resources Snow Breweries 1S§29,166,116.38 Manufacturing and distribution
(Heilongjiang) Co., Ltd. of beer products
* HEERREBOL)ARAA 114,000,000%7 100.0 - 1000 FENEEEESH
China Resources Snow Breweries US§114,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Jiangsu) Limited of beer products
o HEERRBN)ARAF AE587,000,0007C 1000 - 1000 HhERAEEESR
RMB587,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products

4 5 ne 7 (
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EEA S

R EEMELE - 8ELAS 34. PRINCIPAL OF SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT 3
BENTE (& VENTURES AND AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) =
REEsk
Percentage of capital
BRTHERERSHES FRANG FLERE WELERE
HELR Issued ordinary share capital/ attributable ~ held by the heldby *EUE
Subsidiaries registered capital tothe Group ~ Company subsidiaries Principal activities §
FREREBRL () =
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (Continued) “_ff
wo AEERRE(EM)BRAA 55,800,000 100.0 - 1000 SERsEnEg =
China Resources Snow Breweries 1S§55,800,000 Manufacturing and distribution z
(Wenzhou) Co., Ltd. of beer products §
o AREREE(HR)BRAA AR220,769,5007C 100.0 - 1000 HHERHERES S ’
China Resources Snow Brewery RMB220,769,500 Manufacturing and distribution
(Gansu) Co., Ltd. of beer products —
W LEEREE(TL)ERAA 58,020,005 100.0 - 1000 HENHERE R
1S$58,020,000 Manufacturing and distribution oS
=
of beer products i
=T
* o LRERRE(ER)ERAR 88,710,000%7 100.0 - 1000 HENHERESR o
US5$88,710,000 Manufacturing and distribution E
of beer products s
o LEEREE(EM)ERAA AKT180,000,0007C 1000 - 1000 HEARERESR B
RIMB180,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
W LEEREE(TE)ERAA AB1400,000,0007C 100.0 - 1000 HENHERE R
RMB400,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products =
i
e
- . - bt Al = O o
*OLEZRRE(BE)ARAA AR 285,000,0007 1000 - 1000 BERHERES & .
RMB285,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution =
of beer products 3
Y AEERME(EL)ERAA ART282,040,0007C 9.73 - %73 HENHERESR g
RIVB282,040,000 Manufacturing and distribution s
of beer products “
o SREE(RR)ARAR 44,250, 00070 100.0 - 1000 FERHERESS
US$44,250,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
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L EEMELT - 8ERLS

N
BREXF (&

34. PRINCIPAL OF SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT
VENTURES AND AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

R¥EM
Percentage of capital
BRITHERES /EHES FREANS  FLERE MELARE
HELR Issued ordinary share capital/ attributable ~ held by the heldby *EUE
Subsidiaries registered capital tothe Group ~ Company subsidiaries Principal activities
FhERbEREL(S)
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (Continued)
* BRBE(RE)HERRAD AR10,000,0007 100.0 - 1000 YeRaeetzs
RMB10,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o SRRE(RE)ARAR 7411,153% 10 100.0 - 1000 FHERHERESH
US§74,771,153 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
» EERS(LE)ARAT 6,000,000 100.0 - 1000 HENHELESR
1S$6,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
* SERE(LE)ARAR AR50,000,0007C 100.0 - 1000 HERHERESR
RMB50,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o SRBE(ER)ARAR 125,000,000%7 100.0 - 1000 HEMEERES
1S§125,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o ERRE(MARAR 50,000,000£7 100.0 - 1000 HhEMHERESS
1S$50,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
Y MRS RIERAT A&1,000,000,0007 50.0 - 500 BRFTRSER
RMB1,000,000,000 Development and management
of real estate
*OBERARNEL(ARAN) AR500,000,0007C 300 - 300 RAFERAF
RMB500,000,000¢ Investing in inefficient assets
R AERRAA A&1,670,000,0007 400 - 400 HENHERESH

RMB1,670,000,000

AR (#AX ) B R A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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34. PRINCIPAL OF SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT
VENTURES AND AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Notes:

35.

* %

* %k

The Directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the particulars
of all subsidiaries will be of excessive length and therefore the above
list contains only the particulars of the subsidiaries which materially
affect the results or assets of the Group.

Unless otherwise stated, the principal country of operation of each
company is the same as its place of incorporation.

For companies incorporated in the Chinese Mainland, the English

name is as shown in the Certificate of Approval of each company (if
any).

Joint Venture

Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise

Associate

Amount represents paid up capital

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements set out on pages 121
to 201 were approved by the board of directors on 24 March
2022.
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EEMS AN EE
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B o3 —NE —E-NF —T-TF ZB--%
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
ARMBAT ARTBEAT ARTBEAT ARMBAT ARGEAR
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million  RMB million
SELE Consolidated results
=L Turnover 29,732 31,867 33,190 31,448 33,387
R R R 4 7 Profit attributable to
shareholders 1,175 977 1,312 2,094 4,587
BREARRT Basic earnings per share RMBO.36 RMB0.30 RMB0.40 RMB0.65 RMB1.41
FREE Dividend per share
5 Interim RMBO0.07 RMBO0.09 RMB0.120 RMBO.128 RMB0.264
R Final RMBO0.07 RMBO0.03 RMB0.045 RMBO0.131 RMB0.302
RMBO.14 RMBO.12 RMBO.165 RMBO0.259 RMB0.566
GRRFERGRE Consolidated balance sheet
B R 7= Fixed assets 20,449 19,632 15,818 14,414 13,717
FRNR = Right-of-use assets = = 3,595 3,367 3,379
BE Goodwill 8,318 8,390 9,422 9,326 9,250
BT R = Other intangible assets 147 124 384 320 255
?L\ b R Interests in joint ventures and
KENBZ N an associate - - - - 1,381
’Aﬁi MEITEAE  Financial assets at fair value
BT AEMZA  through other comprehensive
WEsRI & BA = income 9 9 9 7 -
PAVAZUMEITERE  Financial assets at fair value
T AL EIRE  through profit or loss
KRR~ - - 3,613
SN E Vi Prepayments 81 240 113 106 175
B TR IUR = Deferred taxation assets 2,261 2,426 2,532 2,858 3,368
BRBRTET Pledged bank deposits - - - - 18
mA R RE Net current liabilities (9,809) (9,920) (10,138) (6,195) (5,273)
Rez A Employment of capital 21,456 20,901 21,735 24,203 29,883
A Share capital 14,090 14,090 14,090 14,090 14,090
&g Reserves 4,331 4,758 5,580 7,127 10,342
AATRRERN SN Equity attributable to
shareholders of the Company 18,421 18,848 19,670 21,217 24,432
R HRRN R Non-controlling interests 64 62 57 57 57
KHERR Long term loans 1,087 9 - - -
MR A f Lease liabilities - - 124 117 60
H < E 6 Other non-current liabilities 1,629 1,583 1,206 2,024 3,379
BRI R Deferred taxation liabilities 255 399 678 788 1,955
Ecfie Capital employed 21,456 20,901 21,735 24,203 29,883
L./

4 E R (A% ) BB A & | China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



HRERITERRITES

Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
%2  Hou Xiaohai

ERUBSERRITES
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director
E5 %] Wei Qiang
(F=E=—F1—HAARZF)
(appointed on 5 November 2021)

ERITES

Non-executive Directors

B4 M Lai Ni Hium, Frank

Richard Raymond Weissend

kFHF  Zhang Kaiyu
(FZE=Z—F+—AHAARZ()
(appointed on 5 November 2021)

FEFE  Tang Liging
(FZE-——F+—HLARZME)
(appointed on 5 November 2021)

MU FERTES

Independent Non-executive Directors
#AT  Houang Tai Ninh

R LiKa Cheung, Eric

MZ=E  Cheng Mo Chi, Moses

FRE 8. Bernard Charnwut Chan
R Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon

BREEAR

Senior Management

=== Li Ji
(F=E=—Ff+=H=+—HKZEE)
(appointed on 21 December 2021)

X)EZ=  Liu Youtai
(F=FE-——Ff-H=-+—HHKZE)
(appointed on 21 December 2021)

@EHF  Zeng Shenping
(F=E=—Ff+=H=+—HKZE)
(appointed on 21 December 2021)

[T AN
CORPORATE INFORMATION

LEBH

Company Secretary

2558  Leung Wai Keung
(FZE=—F+—ARAREHF)
(appointed on 5 November 2021)

73 L
Auditor

BE o XA 21HINTT

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Folb =110
Certified Public Accountants
JF ISR Fl 7 SEARAZ 20T

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

EMDELREE®S
Registered Office and Principal Place of Business
BB HEEE265SHLIEAE231£230182310%
Room 2301 & 2310, 23/F.
China Resources Building
No. 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
(FZEZ—FANATHEERN)
(with effect from 10 September 2021)
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RAEBAH
INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

DHLFENE

Announcement of Annual Results
TE-—HF=F—+/H

24 March 2022

EERBRFRBEEENFIRNZRERY

Last Day of Dealings in Shares with Entitlement
to Final Dividend

—EFRAZ+=H

22 June 2022

EEDERMBFEIZFE

Closure of Register Period
REANHERRAFERA2H TS LEZEZ
REFH

TR FANATRABEZE-=_FA=+—H
(BEEMRBELEN)

To determine the identity of members

who are entitled to attend and vote at the
annual general meeting:

15 June 2022 to 21 June 2022

(both days inclusive)

WERRZERBN Z RARE ZNA :
—ECFRNAZTLEH

To ascertain the members’ entitlement to
the proposed final dividend:

27 June 2022

KRB MRE

Payment of Final Dividend
—E__FN\R+ZBHFE
On or about 12 August 2022

B ip & i kb

Share Registrar
EERERR AR
BABERRNER183S
eIV R

Tricor Standard Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

BERREER

Depositary

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services
P.O. Box 30170

College Station

Tx 77842-3170

BERKS

Stock Codes
BERRER S - 00291
Z1§ : 291 HK

BEIFELE © 0291.HK
ADRFS : CRHKY
CUSIP : 16940R109
Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 00291
Bloomberg: 291 HK
Reuters: 0291.HK
ADR symbol: CRHKY
CUSIP: 16940R109

REEX®R

Investor Relations
EBHS : ir@crb.com.cn
Email: ir@crb.com.cn
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